# **New Concepts for Topical Use of Natural Retinoids**

# **Retinaldehyde in Perspective**

Proceedings of a Satellite Symposium held at the 7th EADV Meeting October 7, 1998, Nice, France

Editors

J.-H. Saurat, Geneva, Switzerland A. Vahlquist, Uppsala, Sweden

26 figures, 8 in color, 19 tables, 1999

KARGER Basel · Freiburg · 1 alls · London · New Delhi · Bangkok · Singapore · Tokyo · Sydney Basel · Freiburg · Paris · London · New York ·

S. Karger Medical and Scientific Publishers Basel • Freiburg • Paris • London New York • New Delhi • Bangkok Singapore • Tokyo • Sydney

# KARGER

Fax+ 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com

#### Drug Dosage

The authors and the publisher have exerted every effort to ensure that drug selection and dosage set forth in this text are in accord with current recommendations and practice at the time of publication. However, in view of ongoing research, changes in government regulations, and the constant flow of information relating to drug therapy and drug reactions, the reader is urged to check the package insert for each drug for any change in indications and dosage and for added warnings and precautions. This is particularly important when the recommended agent is a new and/or infrequently employed drug.

#### All rights reserved.

No part of this publication may be translated into other languages, reproduced or utilized in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, microcopying, or by any information storage and retrieval system, without permission in writing from the publisher or, in the case of photocopying, direct payment of a specified fee to the Copyright Clearance Center (see 'General Information').

© Copyright 1999 by S. Karger AG, P.O. Box, CH-4009 Basel (Switzerland) Printed in Switzerland on acid-free paper by Reinhardt Druck, Basel ISBN 3-8055-6914-9

# Contents

#### Introduction

- 1 **Topical Natural Retinoids.** The 'Proligand-Non-Ligand' Concept Saurat, J.-H.; Sorg, O. (Geneva)
- **3 What Are Natural Retinoids?** Vahlquist, A. (Uppsala)
- **13** Metabolism of Topical Retinaldehyde Sorg, O.; Didierjean, L.; Saurat, J.-H. (Geneva)
- **19** Biological Activities of Topical Retinaldehyde Didierjean, L.; Tran, C.; Sorg, O.; Saurat, J.-H. (Geneva)
- 25 Inhibitory Effects of Retinoids on Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Production by Cultured Human Skin Keratinocytes Lachgar, S.; Charvéron, M.; Gall, Y.; Bonafé, J.L. (Toulouse)
- **29** Antibacterial Activity of Retinaldehyde against *Propionibacterium acnes* Pechère, M.; Pechère, J.-C.; Siegenthaler, G.; Germanier, L.; Saurat, J.-H. (Geneva)
- **33** Comedolytic Effect of Topical Retinaldehyde in the Rhino Mouse Model Fort-Lacoste, L.; Verscheure, Y.; Tisne-Versailles, J.; Navarro, R. (Castres)
- Efficacy of Topical 0.05% Retinaldehyde in Skin Aging by Ultrasound and Rheological Techniques
   Diridollou, S.; Vienne, M.-P.; Alibert, M.; Aquilina, C.; Briant, A.; Dahan, S.; Denis, P.; Launais, B.; Turlier, V.; Dupuy, P. (Toulouse)
- **43** Repair of UVA-Induced Elastic Fiber and Collagen Damage by 0.05% Retinaldehyde Cream in an ex vivo Human Skin Model Boisnic, S.; Branchet-Gumila, M.-C.; Le Charpentier, Y.; Segard, C. (Castres)
- **49** Clinical Use of Topical Retinaldehyde on Photoaged Skin Creidi, P.; Humbert, Ph. (Besançon)
- 53 Retinaldehyde Alleviates Rosacea Vienne, M.-P.; Ochando, N.; Borrel, M.-Th.; Gall, Y.; Lauze, C.; Dupuy, P. (Toulouse)
- 57 Tolerance Profile of Retinol, Retinaldehyde and Retinoic Acid under Maximized and Long-Term Clinical Conditions Fluhr, J.W.; Vienne, M.-P.; Lauze, C.; Dupuy, P.; Gehring, W.; Gloor, M. (Toulouse)
  - Flunr, J. w.; vienne, M.-P.; Lauze, C.; Dupuy, P.; Genring, W.; Gloor, M. (Toulot
- 61 Tolerance of Topical Retinaldehyde in Humans Sachsenberg-Studer, E.M. (Frankfurt)
- 64 Author Index and Subject Index

# KARGER

© 1999 S. Karger AG, Basel

Fax+41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com Access to full text and tables of contents, including tentative ones for forthcoming issues: www.karger.com/journals/der/der\_bk.htm

# Introduction

Dermatology

Dermatology 1999;199(suppl 1):1-2

# **Topical Natural Retinoids**

The 'Proligand-Non-Ligand' Concept

# J.-H. Saurat O. Sorg

Department of Dermatology, University Hospital, and DHURDV, Geneva, Switzerland

Retinoic acid (RA) is widely used for topical therapy of several skin diseases; it also improves the aspect of chronic solar damage. Topical RA induces irritation of the skin, which precludes its use in some skin diseases that respond to systemic retinoids.

Irritation might be explained, in part, by an overload of the RA-dependent pathways with non-physiological amounts of exogenous RA in the skin. The globally attainable concentrations of RA in the different layers from therapeutically efficient formulations have been determined in human skin in vivo. A steep concentration gradient with high concentrations in the epidermis, up to 450 ng/g wet weight ( $1.5 \mu M$ ), and relatively low amounts in the dermis (55 ng/g wet weight, 180 nM) is achieved 100 min following application of RA 0.1% in isopropanol, corresponding to 15% of the applied dose of 100 mg [1].

Retinoid content analysis in human skin treated with 0.1% RA for 4 days under occlusion showed the following values: RA 824 ng/g (2,750 n*M*), 13-*cis*-RA 745 ng/g (2,480 n*M*) and 4-OH-RA 93 ng/g wet weight (310 n*M*) [2].

A recent study on percutaneous absorption of RA showed that about 2% of a single dose of 100 mg in a 0.05% formulation is absorbed; the same result is obtained after 28 days of daily application [3]. Due to the similarity of chemical structure, a similar pharmacokinetic behaviour is expected for topical 13-*cis*-RA [4]. Such high tissue concentrations of RA are in overexcess of the concentrations needed to saturate nuclear receptors [5, 6].

Although major advances have been made in the analysis of the molecular events resulting from topical application of RA [7], it is still not established if all the therapeutic activities of topical RA are mediated by nuclear receptors,

# KARGER

Fax +41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 1999 S. Karger AG, Basel 1018–8665/99/1997–0001\$17.50/0 Accessible online at:

http://BioMedNet.com/karger

and if irritation is necessary for obtaining some of these activities.

One possibility is that significant biological activity may still be achieved with much lower concentrations of topical RA; in this case, RA is delivered at a low rate from a large epidermal reservoir to its intracellular targets. Alternatively, instead of treating the skin with the ligand of nuclear receptors itself, delivery could be distinctly targeted with 'proligands'.

We have explored the possibility of delivering retinoid activity to human skin topically with a natural retinoid that does not bind nuclear receptors. Such a precursor should be handled by enzymes of keratinocytes in the epidermis and transformed into either RA or storage forms such as all*trans*-retinol (ROL) and retinyl esters.

Epidermis is a differentiating, non-homogenous tissue, made of keratinocytes that are not yet committed to terminal differentiation (basal cell layer) and a population of differentiating cells (suprabasal cell layers); the need for, and concentration of, RA may not be identical in all layers and a gradient of RA has been considered to be a key event in the maturation of keratinocytes [8]. This is supported by the fact that the conversion rate of ROL into RA by human keratinocytes depends on the state of keratinocyte differentiation, differentiating keratinocytes being able to oxidise ROL at a higher rate than non-differentiating ones [9]. That enzymes transforming the precursors into RA have distinct activities at different stages of differentiation indicates the possibility of targeting RA to epidermal cells in a differentiation related manner. This would be one approach to reduce side-effects. The use of RA precursors, such as ROL, retinyl esters, all-*trans*-retinaldehyde (RAL) and  $\beta$ -carotene, should therefore be considered in this context.

Prof. Jean-Hilaire Saurat Clinique de Dermatologie, Hôpital Cantonal Universitaire CH–1211 Genève 14 (Switzerland) Tel. +41 22 372 94 22, Fax +41 22 372 94 60 E-Mail saurat@cmu.unige.ch Validation of the concept would imply to demonstrate that: (i) epidermal cells distinctly metabolise the precursor into RA, (ii) topical application of the precursor results in biological effects and (iii) tolerability of the precursor is better than that of RA.

Human keratinocytes transform ROL into RAL and then into RA by two enzymatic steps involving dehydrogenases. The first step is rate limiting and reversible; RAL can be converted enzymatically into either RA or ROL by human keratinocytes, both in vivo [10, 11] and in vitro [9]. Epidermal cells have a weak capacity to transform ROL into RAL [10, 11].  $\beta$ -Carotene is not converted into retinoids by epidermal cells [Siegenthaler G., unpubl. observations]. We therefore hypothesised that RAL should be an interesting precursor for topical use because: (i) it bypasses the first limiting step of ROL oxidation into RA and (ii) only the epidermal cells capable of RAL oxidation at a pertinent stage of differentiation would generate active ligand(s). In this supplement issue of *Dermatology*, current knowledge upon RAL has been gathered; most has been presented during a symposium held during the 7th Congress of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology in Nice.

#### References

- Schaefer H, Zesch A: Penetration of vitamin A acid into human skin. Acta Derm Venereol Suppl 1975;74:50–55.
- 2 Duell EA, Åström A, Griffiths CEM, Chambon P, Voorhees JJ: Human skin levels of retinoic acid and cytochrome P-450-derived 4-hydroxyretinoic acid after topical application of retinoic acid in vivo compared to concentrations required to stimulate retinoic acid receptor-mediated transcription in vitro. J Clin Invest 1992;90:1269–1274.
- 3 Latriano L, Tzimas G, Wong F, Wills RJ: The percutaneous absorption of topically applied tretinoin and its effect on endogenous concentrations of tretinoin and its metabolites after single doses or long-term use. J Am Acad Dermatol 1997;36:S37–S46.
- 4 Schaefer H: Penetration and percutaneous absorption of topical retinoids. Skin Pharmacol 1993;6(suppl 1):17–23.
- 5 Crettaz M, Baron A, Siegenthaler G, Hunziker W: Ligand specificities of recombinant retinoic acid receptors RARα and RARβ. Biochem J 1990;272:391–397.
- 6 Lombardo A, Costa E, Chao WR, Toll L, Hobbs PD, Jong L, Lee MO, Pfahl M, Ely KR, Dawson MI: Recombinant human retinoic acid receptor beta: Binding of synthetic retinoids and transcriptional activation. J Biol Chem 1994;269: 7297–7303.
- 7 Fisher GJ, Wang ZQ, Datta SC, Varani J, Kang S, Voorhees JJ: Pathophysiology of premature skin aging induced by ultraviolet light. N Engl J Med 1997;337:1419–1428.

- 8 Darmon M: Retinoic acid in skin and epithelia. Semin Dev Biol 1991;2:219–228.
- 9 Siegenthaler G, Saurat JH, Ponec M: Retinol and retinal metabolism: Relationship to the state of differentiation of cultured human keratinocytes. Biochem J 1990;268:371–378.
- 10 Siegenthaler G, Gumowski-Sunek D, Saurat JH: Metabolism of natural retinoids in psoriatic epidermis. J Invest Dermatol 1990;95:47S– 48S.
- 11 Siegenthaler G, Saurat JH: Natural retinoids: Metabolism and transport in human epidermal cells; in Saurat JH (ed): Retinoids: 10 Years On. Basel, Karger, 1991, pp 56–68.

# What Are Natural Retinoids?

# A. Vahlquist

Section of Dermatology, Department of Medical Sciences, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden

# **Key Words**

Vitamin A · Natural retinoids · Retinaldehyde

# Abstract

Vitamin A (retinol) is the prototype of all other natural retinoids. It is composed of a nonaromatic ring structure, a polyprenoid side chain and a carbonyl end group. These features make it liable to metabolic interconversion and protein interactions but also cause detergentlike properties and a sensitivity to UV irradiation and oxidation. Natural retinoids are present in all living organisms, either as preformed vitamin A or as carotenoids, and are required for a vast number of biological processes, e.g. vision, cellular growth and differentiation and reproduction. Although retinol is the most omnipotent compound, natural retinoids like all-trans-, 9-cis- and didehydroretinoic acid (RA) are clearly more potent outside the retina and trigger gene expression via binding to nucelar retinoid receptors. Retinaldehyde takes an intermediate position in this respect, with ability to convert to both retinol and RA. Over the years, many natural retinoids have been tried therapeutically against skin disorders with the best effects achieved with retinol, retinaldehyde, 13-cis-RA and all-trans-RA. The latter compound was the prototype when new, synthetic derivatives of vitamin A were sought, hoping for a better therapeutic index and a higher functional specificity. Inevitably, treatment with such drugs will influence the effects of coexisting natural retinoids. An understanding of the basic principles of these interactions may have major impact on patient outcome.

# KARGER

Fax +41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 1999 S. Karger AG, Basel 1018–8665/99/1997–0003\$17.50/0

Accessible online at: http://BioMedNet.com/karger

#### Introduction

Natural retinoids are present in all living organisms, either as preformed vitamin A or as carotenoids, some of which are provitamins A. They are required for a vast number of biological processes, e.g. vision, cellular growth and differentiation and reproduction. Vitamin A (retinol), the prototype of all natural retinoids, is essentially a lipidsoluble compound but has also a hydrophilic end group which gives it detergent-like properties. In vivo, retinol and its congeners are usually reversibly bound to proteins or integrated in fatty structures, but hydrophilic conjugates (mainly glucuronides) exist too [for a review, see 1].

It is not self-evident how to distinguish a natural retinoid from a synthetic one. If a broad definition is used, the list of natural retinoids will be very long and overlapping the list

Table 1. Some examples of natural retinoids

All-*trans*-retinol (vitamin A<sub>1</sub> alcohol) All-*trans*-retinal (retinaldehyde) 11-*cis*-Retinaldehyde Retinyl palmitate (the most prevalent retinyl ester) 3-Dehydroretinol (3,4-didehydroretinol; vitamin A<sub>2</sub>) 4-Hydroxyretinol Anhydroretinol All-*trans*-retinoic acid (vitamin A<sub>1</sub> acid) 13-*cis*-Retinoic acid 9-*cis*-Retinoic acid 3,4-Didehydroretinoic acid (vitamin A<sub>2</sub> acid) 4-Hydroxyretinoic acid/4-oxoretinoic acid Retinoyl glucuronides (retinoic acid glucuronides)

Prof. A. Vahlquist Department of Dermatology, Uppsala University Hospital S–751 85 Uppsala (Sweden) Tel. +46 18 66 26 76, Fax +46 18 66 26 80 E-Mail anders.vahlquist@hud.uu.se



**Fig. 1.** Chemical structures of some natural retinoids and carotenoids.

of compounds that we in daily speaking regard as synthetic retinoids (e.g. isotretinoin). The purpose of this overview is to briefly discuss the chemical nature, metabolism, function and dermatotherapeutic use of natural retinoids, defined here as vitamin-A-related compounds occurring normally in human blood and tissues (table 1). The pivotal role of retinaldehyde in the inter-conversions of natural retinoids and in the biological function of vitamin A is emphasized.

# Chemistry

Retinoids have been defined as a class of compounds consisting of four isoprenoid units  $[H_2C = C(CH_3)-CH = CH_2)$  joined in a head-to-tail manner. The natural retinoid molecule can be divided into three parts: a nonaromatic ring structure, a polyprenoid side chain and a polar carbonoxygen functional end group (fig. 1). Taken together these chemical features explain the multifacetted characteristics of natural retinoids both with regard to their physicochemical reactions and with respect to the many biological effects in which they are involved. Typically, vitamin A readily undergoes many chemical and metabolic modifications, and some metabolites are highly reactive. For example, retinylaldehyde easily forms a Schiff base with opsin, and retinoic acid (RA) can cause retinoylation of many proteins such as keratins [2]. An often unwanted characteristic of many natural retinoids is that they exert detergent-like properties in cellular membranes and are extremely sensitive to destruction by UV irradiation and artificial oxidation.

Although natural retinoids are predominantly in the alltrans configuration, cis-trans isomerizations of the polyprenoid side chain are biologically very important and can occur both as a result of tissue metabolism and following UV irradiation. The metabolic formation of 11-*cis*-retinaldehyde in the eye and its UV-mediated conversion to all*trans*-retinaldehyde are well-known examples. A more recent example of a metabolic isomerization product is 9-*cis*-RA (fig. 1), a natural ligand for the nuclear retinoid X receptor (see below).

# General Metabolism of Natural Retinoids and Carotenoids

Figure 2 presents a general view of the intestinal uptake, the first-passage metabolism of vitamin A and the release of retinol from the liver bound to retinol-binding protein (RBP), which is ultimately degraded in the kidneys [for recent reviews, see 1 and 3]. Vitamin A occurs in food of animal, origin, mainly in the form of preformed vitamin (retinyl esters), and in vegetables and fruits in the form of carotenoids (e.g. *β*-carotene; fig. 1). Approximately 600 carotenoids have been identified thus far in nature. However, less than 10% of them are vitamin A precursors. Carotenoids are found in different organs and tissues including blood where they are bound to lipoproteins [for a review, see 3]. Soon after ingestion, retinyl esters and carotenoids undergo enzymatic hydrolysis. In humans, most of the absorbed  $\beta$ -carotene is converted to retinol in the enterocytes by the action of specific enzymes. When these enzymes are missing, e.g. due to a genetic error, the uptake of unchanged  $\beta$ -carotene increases dramatically and may result in carotenemia [4, 5].

One of the intermediates in the conversion of  $\beta$ -carotene to retinol is retinylaldehyde; this seems to be the case both in enterocytes during absorption and when cleavage of  $\beta$ carotene occurs in peripheral tissues (fig. 3). Independent of whether retinylaldehyde is derived from  $\beta$ -carotene or preformed retinol, it can be further oxidized to RA (see below). However, the major bulk of retinylaldehyde is converted to retinyl esters, which are either stored in the peripheral target cells or, in the case of intestinal uptake, are transported by the chylomicrons to the liver and subsequently stored in the stellate cells [for a review, see 3].

# Vitamin A Uptake in the Skin

The transport of vitamin A to the skin under fasting conditions is mediated by RBP, which is bound to transthyretin [for a review, see 6]. After reaching the interstitial fluid



**Fig. 2.** General overview of the vitamin A metabolism in man. RBP = Serum retinol-binding protein.

of the skin, RBP diffuses freely into the epidermis and delivers retinol against a concentration gradient. It is still debated whether RBP delivers retinol via binding to a cell surface receptor [7–11] or by releasing small amounts of the lipophilic vitamin to the aqueous environment of the cell [12]. Interestingly, Båvik et al. [13] have recently characterized an RBP receptor from retinal pigment epithelium, the isolation of which will hopefully allow a proper elucidation of the receptor mechanism also in the skin.

In vitro experiments on human skin and keratinocytes have shown that the cellular uptake of <sup>3</sup>H-retinol is slower from RBP than from other, less specific carriers, such as albumin [12, 14]. This points to a dual role of the RBP delivery system: (i) to maintain a constant supply of retinol to the target cells that is independent of daily variations in the vitamin A intake and (ii) to avoid excessive delivery of free retinol that might interfere with terminal differentiation of keratinocytes. Although RBP receptors most probably mediate cellular retinol uptake under physiological conditions (see above), retinoids may also enter keratinocytes unspecifically (via the aqueous phase), which is undoubtedly the case in conditions of hypervitaminosis A and during topical treatment with natural retinoids.

The first demonstration of vitamin A in human skin was by Williams in 1943 [15]. Later, Cornblett and Greenberg [16] and Greenberg et al. [17], using fluorescence microscopy, suggested that carotene was converted to vitamin A in sebaceous glands. However, accurate analysis of retinoids

What Are Natural Retinoids?







**Fig. 4.** Retinol metabolism and involvement of cellular retinoid-binding proteins in human keratinocytes. CRBP = Cellular retinol-binding protein; CRABP = cellular RA-binding protein; RAR = RA receptor; RXR = retinoid X (9-*cis*-RA) receptor.

in skin biopsies was not possible until the introduction of high-performance liquid chromatography in the late 1970s [18–20].

### **Epidermal Vitamin A Metabolism**

Figure 4 summarizes the complex metabolic pathways for retinol in human keratinocytes. In contrast to plasma with its predominance of all-*trans*-retinol, human epidermis and cultured keratinocytes contain 4 major vitamin A components, i.e. retinol, 3-dehydroretinol and fatty acyl esters of both these alcohols [19, 21]. 3-Dehydroretinol (3,4-didehydroretinol = vitamin A<sub>2</sub>; fig. 1), which is abundant in certain amphibians, was first detected in human skin by studies of psoriatic epidermis [18]. It is a major metabolite of retinol in human skin [22] but can probably also be generated by direct cleavage of lutein. The biological activity of 3-dehydroretinol in the whole animal is 30–40% that of retinol, but in reconstructed human skin the activities are equal [M. Darmond, pers. commun.]. Blood serum and tissues other than skin usually contain insignificant or very low amounts of 3-dehydroretinol and its esters [23, 24]. Similarly, with the notable exception of chick embryos [25, 26], the skin of most laboratory animals is devoid of this unusual form of vitamin A [24]. However, cultured human epithelial cell lines (e.g. HeLa cells and keratinocytes) as well as melanoma cell lines contain both retinol and 3-dehydroretinol and are able to metabolize tritium-labeled retinol into the latter compound [27, 28].

The concentrations of vitamins A and carotenoids are generally higher in epidermis than in the underlying dermis; this is especially the case for 3-dehydroretinol and its esters [20]. Within the epidermis there is a continuous mass gradient that is characterized by increasing concentrations of neutral retinoids in the differentiating keratinocytes; particularly the fatty acyl esters accumulate in cells from the outermost layers [29].

The extensive esterification of 3-dehydroretinol and retinol in epidermis [23, 29, 30] provides a local store of the vitamin and controls the production of biologically active congeners. The esterifying enzyme acyl CoA retinol acyltransferase (EC 2.3.1.76) has interesting properties in human epidermis [29]; its pH optimum (5.5 instead of 7.4 as in other tissues) seems evolutionary to have adapted to the low pH in stratum corneum. Speculatively, the fall in pH accompanying terminal differentiation of human epidermis could stimulate the acyl CoA retinol acyltransferase activity in stratum corneum and thus explain the high content of retinyl esters near the skin surface. Another possibility is that cells in the upper parts of the epidermis specifically express lecithin retinol acyltransferase, an esterifying enzyme which has not yet been studied in the skin.

# **Biologically Active Metabolites**

The extensive search for active retinol metabolites has so far not resulted in the demonstration of any compound with higher biological activity than all-*trans*- and 9-*cis*-RA, which display a 100- to 1,000-fold higher activity than their precursors retinol and  $\beta$ -carotene [1]. It is generally believed that the formation of RAs is an essential requirement for vitamin A activity in epithelial cells; however, the endogenous concentration of these compounds in keratinizing epithelia is exceedingly low [19]. The formation of RA from retinol has been demonstrated in mouse epidermis topically treated with vitamin A [31, 32], and enzymatic activity that converts retinaldehyde to RA has been demonstrated in epidermal homogenates [33].

Siegenthaler et al. [34] and Siegenthaler and Saurat [35] have provided evidence that cytosol from undifferentiated human keratinocytes cannot convert retinol into retinal and RA, but cytosol prepared from the differentiated keratinocytes is able to convert retinol into RA. This is consistent with the demonstration of RA formation in adult differentiated tracheal epithelial cells [36] but not in undifferentiated embryonal carcinoma cells [37]. Recently, Châtellard-Gruaz

et al. [38] have demonstrated that differentiation of human epidermal keratinocytes is accompanied by increased cellular concentrations of RAs. It is possible that retinol metabolism via 3-dehydroretinol provides an additional source of activated vitamin A [39]. Thus, 3,4-didehydroretinoic acid (ddRA) is a metabolite of retinol in embryonic chick skin [26] and has morphogenetic properties in the limb bud system that are similar to those of RA. It is also equipotent to RA in inhibiting epidermal keratinization in vitro and inhibiting epidermal transglutaminase [40].

The enzymatic basis for the oxidation of retinol to retinaldehyde and RA, as well as the cytochrome-P450-assisted degradation of the latter compound, has been described in detail over the last years [41-51]. However, still many more enzymes await characterization. For example, 9-cis-RA levels in human skin are much lower than all-trans-RA levels and 9-cis-RA applied topically to human skin isomerizes rapidly to all-trans-RA, suggesting the existence of an isomerase that preferentially produces all-trans-RA [1]. Recently, several other metabolites have been identified whose roles in the skin need to be defined, e.g. 4-oxoretinol [52], 13,14-dihydroxyretinol [53], retroretinoids [54, 55], 9,13-di-cis-RA [56] and several other retinol metabolites [57, 58]. Some of these metabolites are biologically active without even binding to the nuclear retinoid receptors, suggesting that they either bind to hitherto unidentified orphan receptors, are further metabolized, or act via nongenomic pathways.

### **Epidermal Vitamin A and UV Irradiation**

Sun-exposed epidermis contains less retinyl esters than adjacent unexposed skin, indicating that UV irradiation may elicit a focal hypovitaminosis A [for a review, see 59]. In fact, a single UV irradiation may lower the vitamin A content of epidermis by as much as 70-90% and perturb the mass gradient of the vitamin to a depth corresponding to the penetration of the radiation in the skin [60-62]. This is not surprising in view of the notorious sensitivity of retinoids to UV radiation in vitro. Thus the action spectrum of experimentally applied UV radiation shows that the retinol lowering effect in epidermis is optimal around 330 nm [60], i.e. close to the absorption maximum of all-trans-retinol. 3-Dehydroretinol (absorption maximum 352 nm) is less affected than retinol when exposed to solar-simulated UV irradiation in the skin [60, 61]. It is an intriguing possibility that the UV-induced depletion of vitamin A in sun-exposed skin is involved in the pathophysiology of extrinsic skin aging and tumor formation. On the other hand, recent animal data suggest that a surplus of vitamin A in the skin can also be detri-

What Are Natural Retinoids?

mental during chronic UV irradiation and may enhance tumorigenesis [63]. One explanation to this may be that primary intermediates and free radicals are produced from retinol during irradiation [64]. Interestingly, all-*trans*-RA is less prone to produce these potentially photosensitizing compounds [64].

In the clinical situation too, phototherapy of psoriasis with UVB (280–320 nm) or psoralens + UVA (320–390 nm) reduces the retinol content of the skin [24].

# Metabolic Interactions with Synthetic Retinoids

When synthetic retinoids are administered, they are likely to interact with the pre-existing natural retinoids in the tissues. For example, oral isotretinoin therapy has a marked effect on the epidermal concentrations of retinol and 3-dehydroretinol in acne patients, whereas oral acitretin given to psoriasis patients only marginally affects the vita-min A levels [24, 65]. Neither isotretinoin nor acitretin affects the plasma retinol concentrations in man. In contrast, several studies in rats [66] and man [67] have shown that all-*trans*-RA therapy reduces the retinol level in plasma, and thus could indirectly affect the cutaneous retinoid concentration.

The effect of various synthetic retinoids on the epidermal metabolism of tritium-labeled retinol has been studied in vitro [68]. The production of 3-dehydroretinol by cultured keratinocytes virtually stops in the presence of RA and its isomers [69, 70]. It is presently unknown whether this interaction is caused by feedback inhibition of the vitamin A metabolism or to direct inhibition of the enzyme(s) involved in the desaturation of retinol.

# **Biological Function in the Skin**

Vitamin A exerts a hormone-like effect on the skin which is believed to be mediated via its conversion to RA and related compounds binding to the nuclear receptor proteins RA receptor (RAR) and retinoid X receptor [for reviews, see 1 and 59]. Until now, no nuclear receptor for retinol – the major naturally occurring retinoid in the skin – has been identified, suggesting that metabolic conversion of retinol to RA is a necessary event in the action of retinoids in vivo. As mentioned above, the skin of some species apparently produces ddRA in addition to RA. Interestingly, RA and ddRA bind to the nuclear receptors (RAR  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$ ) with similar affinity and induce transcriptional activation in cells transfected with RAR and a reporter gene construct [40]. ddRA is an interesting exception to the general rule implying that modification of the cyclohexenyl ring leads to a diminution or loss of binding to RAR. For example, 4-oxo-RA displays only about 5% of the binding demonstrated by RA, and 4-hydroxy-RA (fig. 1) displays no measurable binding whatsoever [71].

The endogenous production of perhaps three or more types of nuclear retinoid receptor ligands (RA, ddRA and 9-*cis*-RA) raises the intriguing possibility that expression of vitamin A activity in the skin depends in part on the relative concentrations of these ligands. How the endogenous ligands orchestrate the RARs in normal and diseased human keratinocytes in the absence or presence of synthetic retinoids remains to be established.

# **Retinoid Signaling in Diseased Skin**

In psoriasis and certain other hyperpoliferative skin disorders there is an accumulation of vitamin  $A_2$  and possibly of other natural retinoids [72, 73]. Hypothetically, this could trigger keratinocyte proliferation. It is also consistent with the fact that several retinoid-regulated genes (e.g. cellular RA-binding protein II and keratin 19) are up-regulated in these disorders, whereas other genes such as keratins 1 and 10 are down-regulated. A more in-depth discussion of these matters is found in a recent overview [59]. To date there are no reports on metabolic errors underlying defective vitamin A signaling in the skin, but follicular hyperkeratosis (phrynoderma) – a classical albeit unspecific sign of hypovitaminosis A – is a common symptom of many skin diseases.

# **Clinical Effects**

The idea to use vitamin A in the treatment of skin diseases came from the observations in the 1930s that dietary hypovitaminosis A is associated with hyperkeratinization of the skin [74]. The association between hypovitaminosis A and follicular hyperkeratosis has since been reported repeatedly in both man and animals [75–79]. In fact, several clinical trials in the 1940s showed that patients with hereditary disorders of keratinization occasionally responded to high-dose vitamin A regimes [80–83]. However, owing to unpredictable results and serious side effects (hypervitaminosis A), retinol therapy was largely abandoned until the late seventies when several synthetic analogs of vitamin A became available. Synthetic retinoids have since revolutionized the treatment of many skin disorders, such as ichthyosis, acne and psoriasis. Over the last years, however, there has also been a renewed interest in the effects of natural retinoids, primarily as topical agents. Thus, vitamin A – either in the form of retinol or retinyl esters – is commonly added to cosmetics (although it is a poor prodrug of RA when applied locally on the skin), and retinaldehyde (which is a much more efficient prodrug) attracts increasing interest as a topical treatment for skin aging and other skin disorders [84]. An advantage of using retinaldehyde instead of RA is its more versatile metabolism – a surplus of the drug will be rapidly reduced to retinol and hence inactivated as retinyl esters. This type of 'back-metabolism' is not possible for RA.

# Conclusions and Speculations for the Future

Natural retinoids play a pivotal role in epidermal differentiation and during dermal regeneration and cutaneous inflammation. Physiologically, retinol is the principal source of vitamin A activity in the skin. The mechanisms controlling the cellular uptake of retinol from plasma, the intracellular generation of RA, 9-*cis*-RA and ddRA from retinol, and the intracellular transport and compartmentalization of these ligands for the nuclear receptors are only beginning to be disclosed. Not knowing the etiology of many skin diseases or the exact mechanism of action of retinoids in the skin, the therapeutic rationale for using these drugs is still mostly based on 'trial and error'. As a result of this, however, many unanticipated findings have also emerged that may shed light on the effects of retinoids in healthy and diseased skin. Although high-dose therapy with natural retinoids probably exerts many pharmacological effects unrelated to their physiological role, this may not be the only explanation of their efficacy as remedies of skin diseases. The fact that most of the clinically effective retinoids are derivatives of naturally occurring RA makes it reasonable to hypothesize that in some diseases this therapy compensates preexisting defects in the vitamin A metabolism or in the expression of RA receptors. Indirect evidence for the involvement of vitamin A in the pathogenesis of certain genetic disorders of keratinization has been presented. Hopefully, elucidation of putative errors of the vitamin A metabolism in human epidermis will add further insight into the role played by individual retinoids in the normal function of the skin.

#### Acknowledgements

The valuable assistance of Dr Hans Törmä in preparing the illustrations is gratefully acknowledged.

#### References

- 1 Roos TC, Jugert FK, Merk HF, Bickers DR: Retinoid metabolism in the skin. Pharmacol Rev 1998;50:315–333.
- 2 Takahashi N, Jetten AM, Breitman TR: Retinoylation of cytokeratins in normal human epidermal keratinocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1991;180:393–400.
- 3 Silveira E, Moreno F: Natural retinoids and β-carotene: From food to their actions on gene expression. J Nutr Biochem 1998:98:446–456.
- 4 Cohen L: Observations on carotenemia. Ann Intern Med 1958;48:219–227.
- 5 Svensson A, Vahlquist A: Metabolic carotenemia and carotenoderma in a child. Acta Derm Venereol 1995;75:70–71.
- 6 Rask L, Anundi H, Böhme J, Eriksson U, Fredriksson A, Nilsson SF, Ronne H, Vahlquist A, Peterson PA: The retinol-binding protein. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 1980;40(suppl 154): 45–61.
- 7 Heller J: Interactions of plasma retinol-binding protein with its receptor. J Biol Chem 1975; 250:3613–3619.
- 8 Rask L, Peterson P: In vitro uptake of vitamin A from the retinol-binding plasma protein to mucosal epithelial cells from the monkey's small intestine. J Biol Chem 1976;251:6360– 6366.

- 9 Rask L, Geijer C, Bill A, Peterson P: Vitamin A supply of the cornea. Exp Eye Res 1980;31: 201–211.
- 10 Törmä H, Vahlquist A: Vitamin A uptake by human skin in vitro. Arch Dermatol Res 1984; 276:390–395.
- 11 Vahlquist A, Törmä H: Retinol uptake by human keratinocytes: Receptor mediated or not? (letter). J Invest Dermatol 1992;99:512– 513.
- 12 Hodam JR, Hilaire PS, Creek KE: Comparison of the rate of uptake and biologic effects of retinol added to human keratinocytes either directly to the culture medium or bound to serum retinol-binding protein. J Invest Dermatol 1991;97:298–304.
- 13 Båvik CO, Eriksson U, Allen RA, Peterson PA: Identification and partial characterization of a retinal pigment epithelial membrane receptor for plasma retinol-binding protein. J Biol Chem 1991;266:14978–14985.
- 14 Törmä H, Vahlquist A: Retinol uptake and metabolism to 3,4-didehydroretinol in human keratinocytes at various stages of differentiation. Skin Pharmacol 1991;4:154–157.

- 15 Williams R: The significance of the vitamin content of tissues; in Harris R, Thimann K (eds): Vitamins Hormones. New York, Academic Press, 1943, pp 229–247.
- 16 Cornblett T, Greenberg R: Conversion of carotene to vitamin A by sebaceous glands. Arch Dermatol 1957;76:431–433.
- 17 Greenberg R, Cornbleet T, Demovsky R: Conversion of carotene to vitamin A by sebaceous glands. Arch Dermatol 1957;76:17–23.
- 18 Vahlquist A: The identification of dehydroretinol (vitamin A<sub>2</sub>) in human skin. Experientia 1980;36:317–318.
- 19 Vahlquist A: Vitamin A in human skin. I. Detection and identification of retinoids in normal epidermis. J Invest Dermatol 1982;79:89–93.
- 20 Vahlquist A, Lee JB, Michaëlsson G, Rollman O: Vitamin A in human skin. II. Concentrations of carotene, retinol and dehydroretinol in various components of normal skin. J Invest Dermatol 1982;79:94–97.
- 21 Randolph R, Simon M: Identification and quantification of retinoid fatty acyl esters in cultured human epidermal keratinocytes (abstract). J Invest Dermatol 1992;98:633.

What Are Natural Retinoids?

- 22 Törmä H, Vahlquist A: Biosynthesis of 3-dehydroretinol (vitamin A<sub>2</sub>) from all-trans-retinol (vitamin A<sub>1</sub>) in human epidermis. J Invest Dermatol 1985;85:498–500.
- 23 Törmä H, Brunnberg L, Vahlquist A: Agerelated variations in acyl-CoA: retinol acyltransferase activity and vitamin A concentration in the liver and epidermis of hairless mice. Biochim Biophys Acta 1987;921:254–258.
- 24 Vahlquist A, Törmä H, Rollman O, Berne B: Distribution of natural and synthetic retinoids in the skin; in Saurat J-H (ed): Retinoids: New Trends in Research and Therapy. Basel, Karger, 1985, pp 159–167.
- 25 Hardy MH, Dhouailly D, Törmä H, Vahlquist A: Either chick embryo dermis or retinoidtreated mouse dermis can initiate glandular morphogenesis from mammalian epidermal tissue. J Exp Zool 1990;256:279–289.
- 26 Thaller C, Eichele G: Isolation of 3,4-didehydroretinoic acid, a novel morphogenetic signal in the chick wing bud. Nature 1990;345:815– 822.
- 27 Andersson E, Björklind C, Törmä H, Vahlquist A: The metabolism of vitamin A to 3,4-didehydroretinol can be demonstrated in human keratinocytes, melanoma cells and HeLa cells, and is correlated to cellular retinoid-binding protein expression. Biochim Biophys Acta 1994;1224: 349–354.
- 28 Rosdahl I, Andersson E, Kagedal B, Torma H: Vitamin A metabolism and mRNA expression of retinoid-binding protein and receptor genes in human epidermal melanocytes and melanoma cells. Melanoma Res 1997;7:267–274.
- 29 Törmä H, Vahlquist A: Vitamin A esterification in human epidermis: A relation to keratinocyte differentiation. J Invest Dermatol 1990;94:132– 138.
- 30 Törmä H, Vahlquist A: Retinol esterification by mouse epidermal microsomes: Evidence for acyl-CoA: retinol acyltransferase activity. J Invest Dermatol 1987;88:398–402.
- 31 Connor MJ, Smit MH: Terminal-group oxidation of retinol by mouse epidermis. Biochem J 1987;244:489–492.
- 32 Connor M, Smit M: The formation of all-transretinoic acid from all-trans-retinol in hairless mouse skin. Biochem Pharmacol 1987;36:919– 924.
- 33 Kishore GS, Boutwell RK: Enzymatic oxidation and reduction of retinal by mouse epidermis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1980;94: 1381–1386.
- 34 Siegenthaler G, Saurat J-H, Ponec M: Retinol and retinal metabolism. Relationship to the state of differentiation of cultured human keratinocytes. Biochem J 1990;268:371–378.
- 35 Siegenthaler G, Saurat J-H: Natural retinoids: Metabolism and transport in human epidermal cells; in Saurat J-H (ed): Retinoids: 10 Years On. Basel, Karger, 1991, pp 56–68.
- 36 Jetten AM, Bhat PV: Metabolism of retinol to retinoic acid by rabbit tracheal epithelial cells in culture. Fed Proc 1986;45:832.
- 37 Gubler ML, Sherman MI: Metabolism of retinoids by embryonal carcinoma cells. J Biol Chem 1985;260:9552–9558.

- 38 Châtellard-Gruaz D, Randolph RK, Hagens G, Saurat JH, Siegenthaler G: Differentiation of human epidermal keratinocytes is accompanied by increased expression of CRABP-II and increased cellular concentration of retinoic acids: Retention of newly synthesized retinoic acids by CRABP-II. J Lipid Res 1998;39: 1421–1429.
- 39 Randolph RK, Simon M: Differential regulation of retinoic and 3,4-didehydroretinoic acid production in cultured keratinocytes. J Invest Dermatol 1993;100:583A.
- 40 Törmä H, Asselineau D, Andersson E, Martin B, Reiniche P, Chambon P, Shroot B, Darmon M, Vahlquist A: Biological activities of retinoic acid and 3,4-didehydroretinoic acid in human keratinocytes are similar and correlate with receptor affinities and transactivation properties. J Invest Dermatol 1992;102:49–54.
- 41 Chai XY, Boerman MHEM, Zhai Y, Napoli JL: Cloning of a cDNA for liver microsomal retinol dehydrogenase – A tissue-specific, short-chain alcohol dehydrogenase. J Biol Chem 1995;270: 3900–3904.
- 42 Zgombicknight M, Ang HL, Foglio MH, Duester G: Cloning of the mouse class IV alcohol dehydrogenase (retinol dehydrogenase) cDNA and tissue-specific expression patterns of the murine ADH gene family. J Biol Chem 1995;270:10868–10877.
- 43 Zhai Y, Higgins D, Napoli JL: Coexpression of the mRNAs encoding retinol dehydrogenase isozymes and cellular retinol-binding protein. J Cell Physiol 1997;173:36–43.
- 44 Kang S, Duell EA, Kim KJ, Voorhees JJ: Liarozole inhibits human epidermal retinoic acid 4hydroxylase activity and differentially augments human skin responses to retinoic acid and retinol in vivo. J Invest Dermatol 1996; 107:183–187.
- 45 Chai XY, Zhai Y, Napoli JL: cDNA cloning and characterization of a cis-retinol/3-alpha-hydroxysterol short-chain dehydrogenase. J Biol Chem 1997;272:33125–33131.
- 46 Chai XY, Zhai Y, Napoli JL: Cloning of a rat cDNA encoding retinol dehydrogenase isozyme type III. Gene 1996;169:219–222.
- 47 Simon A, Lagercrantz J, Bajalica-Lagercrantz S, Eriksson U: Primary structure of human 11cis retinol dehydrogenase and organization and chromosomal localization of the corresponding gene. Genomics 1996;36:424–430.
- 48 Haselbeck RJ, Ang HL, Duester G: Class IV alcohol/retinol dehydrogenase localization in epidermal basal layer: Potential site of retinoic acid synthesis during skin development. Dev Dynam 1997;208:447–453.
- 49 Romert A, Tuvendal P, Simon A, Dencker L, Eriksson U: The identification of a 9-cis retinol dehydrogenase in the mouse embryo reveals a pathway for synthesis of 9-cis retinoic acid. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998;95:4404–4409.
- 50 Imaoka S, Wan J, Chow T, Hiroi T, Eyanagi R, Shigematsu H, Funae Y: Cloning and characterization of the CYP2D1-binding protein, retinol dehydrogenase. Arch Biochem Biophys 1998; 353:331–336.

- 51 Su J, Chai XY, Kahn B, Napoli JL: cDNA cloning, tissue distribution, and substrate characteristics of a *cis*-retinol/3-alpha-hydroxysterol short-chain dehydrogenase isozyme. J Biol Chem 1998;273:17910–17916.
- 52 Achkar CC, Derguini F, Blumberg B, Langston A, Levin AA, Speck J, Evans RM, Bolado J, Nakanishi K, Buck J, Gudas LJ: 4-Oxoretinol, a new natural ligand and transactivator of the retinoic acid receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996;93:4879–4884.
- 53 Derguini F, Nakanishi K, Hammerling U, Chua R, Eppinger T, Levi E, Buck J: 13,14-dihydroxy-retinol, a new bioactive retinol metabolite. J Biol Chem 1995;270:18875–18880.
- 54 Duell EA, Derguini F, Kang S, Elder JT, Voorhees JJ: Extraction of human epidermis treated with retinol yields retro-retinoids in addition to free retinol and retinyl esters. J Invest Dermatol 1996;107:178–182.
- 55 Tzimas G, Collins MD, Nau H: Identification of 14-hydroxy-4,14-retro-retinol as an in vivo metabolite of vitamin A. Biochim Biophys Acta 1996;1301:1–6.
- 56 Tzimas G, Sass JO, Wittfoht W, Elmazar MMA, Ehlers K, Nau H: Identification of 9,13dicis-retinoic acid as a major plasma metabolite of 9-cis-retinoic acid and limited transfer of 9cis-retinoic acid and 9,13-dicis-retinoic acid to the mouse and rat embryos. Drug Metab Dispos 1994;22:928–936.
- 57 Buck J, Grun F, Derguini F, Chen Y, Kimura S, Noy N, Hammerling U: Anhydroretinol – A naturally occurring inhibitor of lymphocyte physiology. J Exp Med 1993;178:675–680.
- 58 Jia XJ, Sicinski RR, Wellik DM, Tadikonda P, Schnoes HK, Deluca HF: Identification of a new all-trans-retinol metabolite produced through a new retinol metabolic pathway. Biochemistry 1998;37:5974–5980.
- 59 Vahlquist A: Role of retinoids in normal and diseased skin; in Blomhoff R (ed): Vitamin A in Health and Disease. New York, Dekker, 1994, pp 365–424.
- 60 Berne B, Nilsson M, Vahlquist A: UV irradiation and cutaneous vitamin A: An experimental study in rabbit and human skin. J Invest Dermatol 1984;83:401–404.
- 61 Berne B, Vahlquist A, Fischer T, Danielsson B, Berne C: UV treatment of uraemic pruritus reduces the vitamin A content of the skin. Eur J Clin Invest 1984;14:203–206.
- 62 Törmä H, Berne B, Vahlquist A: UV irradiation and topical vitamin A modulate retinol esterification in hairless mouse epidermis. Acta Derm Venereol 1988;68:291–299.
- 63 Mikkelsen S, Berne B, Staberg B, Vahlquist A: Potentiating effect of dietary vitamin A on photocarcinogenesis in hairless mice. Carcinogenesis 1998;19:663–666.
- 64 Lo K, Land E, Truscott T: Primary intermediates in the pulsed irradiation of retinoids. Photochem Photobiol 1982;36:139–145.
- 65 Larsen FG, Vahlquist C, Andersson E, Vahlquist A: Oral acitretin in psoriasis: Drug and vitamin A concentrations in plasma, skin and adipose tissue. Acta Derm Venereol 1992; 72:84–88.

- 66 Keilson B, Underwood BA, Loerch JD: Effects of retinoic acid on the mobilization of vitamin A from the liver in rats. J Nutr 1979;79:787– 795.
- 67 Barua AB, Duitsman PK, Kostic D, Barua M, Olson JA: Reduction of serum retinol levels following a single oral dose of all-trans retinoic acid in humans. Int J Vitam Nutr Res 1997;67: 423–426.
- 68 Törmä H, Stenström E, Andersson E, Vahlquist A: Synthetic retinoids affect differently the epidermal synthesis of 3,4-didehydroretinol. Skin Pharmacol 1991;4:246–253.
- 69 Randolph RK, Simon M: All-trans-retinoic acid regulates retinol and 3,4-didehydroretinol metabolism in cultured human epidermal keratinocytes. J Invest Dermatol 1996;106:168– 175.
- 70 Rollman O, Wood EJ, Olsson MJ, Cunliffe WJ: Biosynthesis of 3,4-didehydroretinol from retinol by human skin keratinocytes in culture. Biochem J 1993;293:675–682.
- 71 Apfel C, Crettaz M, Siegenthaler G, Hunziker W: Synthetic retinoids – Differential binding to retinoic acid receptors; in Saurat J-H (ed): Retinoids: 10 Years On. Basel, Karger, 1991, pp 110–120.

- 72 Vahlquist A, Andersson E, Coble BI, Rollman O, Torma H: Increased concentrations of 3,4-didehydroretinol and retinoic acid-binding protein (CRABPII) in human squamous cell carcinoma and keratoacanthoma but not in basal cell carcinoma of the skin. J Invest Dermatol 1996;106:1070–1074.
- 73 Rollman O, Vahlquist A: Psoriasis and vitamin A. Plasma transport and skin content of retinol, dehydroretinol and carotenoids in adult patients versus healthy controls. Arch Dermatol Res 1985;278:17–24.
- 74 Frazier CN, Hu CK: Cutaneous lesions associated with a deficiency in vitamin A in man. Arch Intern Med 1931;48:507–514.
- 75 Sauberlich HE, Hodges RE, Wallace DL, Kolder H, Canham JE, Hood J, Raica N Jr, Lowry LK: Vitamin A metabolism and requirements in the human studied with the use of labeled retinol. Vitam Horm 1974;32:251–275.
- 76 Ihrke P, Goldschmidt M: Vitamin A-responsive dermatosis in the dog. J Am Vet Med Assoc 1983;182:687–690.
- 77 Neill S, Pembroke A, DuVivier A, Salisbury J: Phrynoderma and perforating folliculitis due to vitamin A deficiency in a diabetic. J R Soc Med 1988;81:171–172.

- 78 Klein-Szanto A, Martin D, Pine A: Cutaneous manifestations in rats with advanced vitamin A deficiency. J Cutan Pathol 1980;7:260–270.
- 79 Nakjang Y, Yuttanavivat T: Phrynoderma: A review of 105 cases. J Dermatol 1988;15:531– 534.
- 80 Leitner Z, Moore T: Vitamin A in Darier's disease. Br J Dermatol 1948;60:41–50.
- 81 Peck S, Chargin L, Sobotka H: Keratosis follicularis (Darier's disease): A vitamin A deficiency disease. Arch Dermatol 1941;43:223– 229.
- 82 Peck S, Glick A, Chargin L: Vitamin A studies in cases of ichthyosis. Arch Dermatol 1943;28: 32–34.
- 83 Porter A, Godding E, Brunauer S: Vitamin A in Darier's disease. Arch Dermatol 1941;43:223– 229.
- 84 Saurat J-H, Didierjean L, Masgrau E, Piletta PA, Jaconis S, Châtellard-Gruaz D, Gumowski D, Masouyé I, Salomon D, Siegenthaler G: Topical retinaldehyde on human skin: Biologic effects and tolerance. J Invest Dermatol 1994; 103:770–774.

# **Metabolism of Topical Retinaldehyde**

O. Sorg L. Didierjean J.-H. Saurat

Department of Dermatology, University Hospital, and DHURDV, Geneva, Switzerland

#### **Key Words**

Retinoids · Retinaldehyde · Epidermis · Metabolism

# Abstract

**Objective:** In order to circumvent the tolerance problems encountered with topical application of retinoic acid - a biologically active metabolite of vitamin A - we performed in various models a series of experiments aimed at assessing the bio-availability of topical retinaldehyde and its conversion into either retinoid stores or biologically active metabolites. *Methods:* (i) <sup>3</sup>H-retinaldehyde was used as a precursor of either <sup>3</sup>H-retinol or <sup>3</sup>H-retinoic acid in human skin extracts and human cultured keratinocytes; (ii) the concentration of various retinoids resulting from the metabolism of topical retinaldehyde was determined in mouse skin and in human plasma. Retinoids were quantified by reverse-phase HPLC with UV detection. *Results:* Human keratinocytes were shown to take up retinaldehyde and to convert it into retinoic acid in a differentiation-dependent manner, differentiating cells oxidising retinaldehyde more efficiently. In vivo models allowed us to demonstrate that retinaldehyde is taken up by the skin and is then predominantly converted into retinyl esters - a storage form of vitamin A - while delivering relatively low amounts of retinoic acid from a large reservoir. Conclusion: Topical retinaldehyde can be used as a precursor of endogenous retinoids, since it is converted into both storage and bioactive forms of vitamin A.

#### Introduction

In spite of the clinical benefits gained by the use of topical retinoic acid isomers in several skin diseases, the erythemogenic properties of these vitamin A metabolites often prevent their use in clinics and promoted a great deal of interest for a new class of vitamin A analogues which would be well tolerated, while preserving the therapeutic potential of natural ligands for nuclear retinoic acid and retinoid X receptors. Since irritation is probably not involved in the beneficial action of retinoids [1, 2], all-trans-retinaldehyde (RAL), which was shown to be well tolerated [3], was investigated for its use as an alternative for topical retinoic acid. In particular, we have conducted studies aimed at analysing the two metabolic pathways of RAL, i.e. (i) the oxidation into retinoic acid isomers - the ligands for nuclear receptors - and (ii) the reduction into all-trans-retinol (ROL), followed by esterification with long-chain fatty acids, leading to the storage form of retinoids. We have used ex vivo, in vitro and in vivo approaches.

#### Results

#### Ex vivo: Human Skin Extracts

Cytosolic extracts were prepared from keratomised normal human skin and incubated with 600 nM <sup>3</sup>H-RAL.

The metabolites formed depended on the redox co-factor co-incubated with <sup>3</sup>H-RAL: in the presence of 5 m*M* NADH, <sup>3</sup>H-ROL was formed at a rate of  $1.0 \pm 0.1$  pmol/mg protein/h, whereas in the presence of 2 m*M* NAD, <sup>3</sup>H-all-*trans*-retinoic acid (RA) was formed at a rate of  $1.5 \pm 0.2$  pmol/mg protein/h [4] (table 1).

# KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 1999 S. Karger AG, Basel 1018–8665/99/1997–0013\$17.50/0

Accessible online at: http://BioMedNet.com/karger Prof. Jean-Hilaire Saurat Clinique de Dermatologie, Hôpital Cantonal Universitaire CH–1211 Genève 14 (Switzerland) Tel. +41 22 372 94 60

E-Mail saurat@cmu.unige.ch

<b>Table 1.</b> Ex vivo: cytosolic extracts of human skin slices (180 μm)	Precursor	Analyte	Co-factor	Value pmol/mg protein/h	Reference
	600 n <i>M</i> <sup>3</sup> H-RAL	<sup>3</sup> H-ROL	NADH (5 m <i>M</i> )	$1.0 \pm 0.1$	4
	600 n <i>M</i> <sup>3</sup> H-RAL	<sup>3</sup> H-RA	NAD (2 m <i>M</i> )	$1.5 \pm 0.2$	4

Table 2. In vitro: human cultured keratinocytes

Fraction	Differentiated	Precursor	Co-factor	Analyte	Value	Unit	Reference
Cytosol	yes	600 n <i>M</i> <sup>3</sup> H-ROL	_	<sup>3</sup> H-RA	$4.49 \pm 0.10$	pmol/mg protein/h	4
2	yes	600 nM <sup>3</sup> H-RAL	NAD (2 m <i>M</i> )	<sup>3</sup> H-RA	51.6	pmol/mg protein/h	4
	no	600 nM <sup>3</sup> H-RAL	NAD (2 m <i>M</i> )	<sup>3</sup> H-RA	14.4	pmol/mg protein/h	4
	yes	600 nM <sup>3</sup> H-RAL	NADH (5 mM)	<sup>3</sup> H-ROL	8.2	pmol/mg protein/h	4
	no	600 n <i>M</i> <sup>3</sup> H-RAL	NADH (5 m <i>M</i> )	<sup>3</sup> H-ROL	8.0	pmol/mg protein/h	4
Whole cells	yes	50 nM <sup>3</sup> H-ROL	-	<sup>3</sup> H-dRA	6.1 ± 2.2	pmol/mg DNA	5
	no	50 nM <sup>3</sup> H-ROL	_	<sup>3</sup> H-dRA	$1.9 \pm 0.5$	pmol/mg DNA	5
	yes	50 n <i>M</i> <sup>3</sup> H-ROL	_	<sup>3</sup> H-RA	$8.1 \pm 3.3$	pmol/mg DNA	5
	no	50 nM <sup>3</sup> H-ROL	_	<sup>3</sup> H-RA	$7.6 \pm 4.3$	pmol/mg DNA	5
	yes	50 nM <sup>3</sup> H-ROL	_	<sup>3</sup> H-dROL	$0.7 \pm 0.2$	pmol/mg DNA	5
	no	50 n <i>M</i> <sup>3</sup> H-ROL	_	<sup>3</sup> H-dROL	$0.8 \pm 0.1$	pmol/mg DNA	5
	yes	50 nM <sup>3</sup> H-ROL	_	<sup>3</sup> H-ROL	$17.2 \pm 3.8$	pmol/mg DNA	5
	no	50 n <i>M</i> <sup>3</sup> H-ROL	_	<sup>3</sup> H-ROL	$24.4\pm7.6$	pmol/mg DNA	5
	yes	50 n <i>M</i> <sup>3</sup> H-ROL	_	<sup>3</sup> H-RE	$1,617 \pm 695$	pmol/mg DNA	5
	no	50 n <i>M</i> <sup>3</sup> H-ROL	-	<sup>3</sup> H-RE	$380\pm132$	pmol/mg DNA	5
Whole cells	yes	50 n <i>M</i> <sup>3</sup> H-RAL	_	<sup>3</sup> H-dRA	$27.6\pm7.7$	pmol/mg DNA	5
	no	50 n <i>M</i> <sup>3</sup> H-RAL	-	<sup>3</sup> H-dRA	$8.3 \pm 2.2$	pmol/mg DNA	5
	yes	50 n <i>M</i> <sup>3</sup> H-RAL	-	<sup>3</sup> H-RA	$59.5 \pm 15.4$	pmol/mg DNA	5
	no	50 n <i>M</i> <sup>3</sup> H-RAL	_	<sup>3</sup> H-RA	$16.9\pm5.0$	pmol/mg DNA	5
	yes	50 n <i>M</i> <sup>3</sup> H-RAL	-	<sup>3</sup> H-dROL	$0.8 \pm 0.7$	pmol/mg DNA	5
	no	50 n <i>M</i> <sup>3</sup> H-RAL	_	<sup>3</sup> H-dROL	$0.2 \pm 0.1$	pmol/mg DNA	5
	yes	50 n <i>M</i> <sup>3</sup> H-RAL	_	<sup>3</sup> H-ROL	$11.5 \pm 3.2$	pmol/mg DNA	5
	no	50 n <i>M</i> <sup>3</sup> H-RAL	-	<sup>3</sup> H-ROL	$5.3 \pm 1.3$	pmol/mg DNA	5
	yes	50 n <i>M</i> <sup>3</sup> H-RAL	_	<sup>3</sup> H-RAL	$2.8\pm0.9$	pmol/mg DNA	5
	no	$50 \text{ n}M^3\text{H-RAL}$	-	<sup>3</sup> H-RAL	$2.9 \pm 1.1$	pmol/mg DNA	5
	yes	$50 \text{ n}M^3\text{H-RAL}$	-	<sup>3</sup> H-RE	$914\pm237$	pmol/mg DNA	5
	no	$50 \text{ n}M^{3}\text{H-RAL}$		<sup>3</sup> H-RE	$288\pm75$	pmol/mg DNA	5

dRA = Dehydro-RA; dROL = dehydro-ROL.

#### In vitro: Human Cultured Keratinocytes

*Cytosolic Extracts.* Human keratinocytes were cultured in low or normal calcium concentrations in order to distinguish between non-differentiating (low calcium) and differentiating (normal calcium) keratinocytes.

In the presence of 5 m*M* NADH, 600 n*M* <sup>3</sup>H-RAL were reduced into <sup>3</sup>H-ROL at about 8 pmol/mg protein/h in both culture types; conversely, the oxidation into <sup>3</sup>H-RA, in the presence of 2 m*M* NAD, was more rapid in dif-

ferentiating cultures (51.6 pmol/mg protein/h) than in non-differentiating ones (14.4 pmol/mg protein/h) [4] (table 2).

Whole Cells. Since some enzymes are found in microsomes rather than in the cytosol, we performed a new series of experiments with whole-cell extracts of differentiating and non-differentiating cultured human keratinocytes. In this study, cultures were incubated with 50 nM <sup>3</sup>H-RAL without addition of exogenous redox co-factor.

Application	Washing	Analyte	Value pmol/g wet weight	Reference
Vehicle	no	ROL	$244 \pm 42$	7
	yes	ROL	$206 \pm 20$	6
	no	RE	$282 \pm 55$	unpublished results
	yes	RE	$417 \pm 36$	unpublished results
	no	RA	<15	7
	yes	RA	<15	6
RAL	no	ROL	$2,619 \pm 118^{a}$	7
	yes	ROL	$1,556 \pm 81^{a, b}$	6
	no	RE	$8,600 \pm 2,053^{a}$	unpublished results
	xes	RE	$4,101 \pm 218^{a}$	unpublished results
	no	RA	$43 \pm 9$	7
	yes	RA	$25 \pm 3$	6
9-cis-RAL	no	ROL	916 ± 32 <sup>a</sup>	unpublished results
	yes	ROL	$958 \pm 22^{a}$	6
	no	RE	$1,269 \pm 243$	unpublished results
	yes	RE	$1,507 \pm 147^{a}$	unpublished results
	no	RA	$29 \pm 1$	unpublished results
	yes	RA	$30 \pm 1$	6

**Table 3.** In vivo: topical application ofRAL or 9-cis-RAL (14 days) on C5BL/6mouse tail skin, washed or unwashed(analysis of whole skin)

<sup>a</sup> p < 0.001: different from vehicle group.

<sup>b</sup> p < 0.001: different from unwashed samples.

Differentiating cultures did metabolise <sup>3</sup>H-RAL into RA, dehydro-RA, ROL, dehydro-ROL and retinyl ester (RE) at a higher rate than non-differentiating cultures, although RAL uptake was the same in both culture types. When using <sup>3</sup>H-ROL as retinoid precursor, differentiating cultures were shown to produce more RA and RE than non-differentiating ones, whilst the other metabolites were produced at the same rate in both culture types. Moreover, except for RE in differentiating cultures, the metabolism of <sup>3</sup>H-RAL was higher than that of <sup>3</sup>H-ROL [5] (table 2).

These in vitro studies allowed us to demonstrate that RAL can be metabolised into RA, ROL and RE by human cultured keratinocytes; this process is dependent on the differentiation stage of keratinocytes since it is higher in differentiating than in non-differentiating cells. We next studied if this occurs in vivo in a mouse model.

# In vivo: Metabolism of Topical Retinoids by Mouse Tail Skin

Topical Retinal Isomers in Washed and Unwashed Mouse Tail. The tail of C57BL/6 mice was treated for 14 days with either excipient, RAL 0.05% or 9-cis-RAL 0.05%, a potential precursor of 9-cis-RA which was shown to have biological activities in this mouse model [6]. In half of the samples, the skin was washed with a solution of 0.1% Triton X-100; the whole skin of all samples was analysed for retinoid determination.

In unwashed tail skin, topical RAL promoted a 10-fold increase in ROL and a 30-fold increase in RE as compared to vehicle; this increase was more moderate in 9-*cis*-RAL-treated skin. The RA concentration was under the detection limit of 15 pmol/g wet weight in vehicle-treated skin but was measurable following a topical treatment with either RAL or 9-*cis*-RAL. The washing of the skin removed about one half of the retinoid content in RAL-treated skin (ROL, RE and RA), whilst this operation had no effect on the retinoid content of vehicle- and 9-*cis*-RAL-treated skin (table 3).

*Topical RAL on Hairless Mice.* The back of hairless mice was treated for 7 days with vehicle or RAL 0.05%, then the skin was harvested and the epidermis was separated from the dermis by heat. The retinoid content was determined in the epidermis. Topical RAL promoted a 6-fold increase in ROL and a 13-fold increase in RE, as well as a higher concentration of RA in the epidermis (226 pmol/g wet weight) than that of whole tail skin of C57BL/6 mice (43 pmol/g wet weight) (table 4).

Retinaldehyde Metabolism

**Table 4.** In vivo: topical application (7 days) on hairless mouse back skin (unwashed): analysis of epidermis

Application	Analyte	Value (pmol/g ww)	Reference
Vehicle	ROL	$152 \pm 20 \\ 1,102 \pm 85 \\ <15 \\ 947 \pm 79^{***} \\ 13,761 \pm 2,336^{***} \\ 226 \pm 26^{***} \\ \end{cases}$	unpublished results
Vehicle	RE		unpublished results
Vehicle	RA		unpublished results
RAL	ROL		unpublished results
RAL	RE		unpublished results
RAL	RA		unpublished results

\*\*\* Different from vehicle group (p < 0.001).

# Systemic Effects of the Skin Metabolism of Topical RAL in Humans

To see if topical application of a large quantity of RAL on human skin is associated with detectable alteration of constitutive levels of plasma retinoids resulting from metabolism of RAL in the skin, plasma retinoids [ROL, RE (all-*trans*-retinyl oleate + palmitate), RAL, RA, 13-*cis*-RA, 4-oxo-13-*cis*-RA] were analysed by HPLC in 10 healthy male volunteers kept under a poor vitamin A diet before, during and after daily topical application for 14 days of 7 mg (25 µmol) of RAL to 40% of the body surface.

The introduction of a 1-week restricted vitamin A diet before RAL application resulted in a decrease in plasma levels of ROL, RA and RE. Topical RAL did not induce an alteration of the retinoid metabolite plasma levels. No RAL was detectable in any of the plasma samples.

These results indicated that the skin metabolism of topically applied RAL does not result in detectable alteration of constitutive levels of plasma retinoids in humans. Since there was no increase in plasma RE during topical RAL treatment (despite a previous reduction in plasma RE due to the diet), it is likely that the RE produced from the daily applied 7 mg of RAL remained stored in the epidermis. The proportion of RAL transformed into ROL is not likely to be delivered systemically since epidermal enzymes would metabolise it to RE. At any rate, the constitutive levels of plasma ROL (about 2  $\mu$ *M*) were not altered by the small amount that may originate from skin. In addition to providing important safety data pertinent to the potential use of RAL as a topical agent in humans, these results supported the concept of targeting vitamin A metabolites in the skin upon topical treatment with RAL.

#### Discussion

These observations indicate that RAL would fulfil one criterion in the concept that is to target multipotential vitamin A activity into distinct compartments of the epidermis. Indeed, topically applied RAL would (i) be a precursor of either ROL, RE or RA, (ii) bypass the first, rate-limiting step of ROL oxidation into RA and (iii) be handled only by the epidermal cells having enzymatic activities at a pertinent stage of differentiation resulting in a controlled delivery of vitamin A metabolites into the cells. RAL does not bind to retinoid nuclear receptors [8, 9]. Therefore its biological activity should result from its enzymatic transformation into RA by epidermal keratinocytes and should be qualitatively similar to that of RA. In order to exert a quantitatively comparable activity to that resulting from direct application of RA, topical RAL should generate enough amounts of RA to saturate nuclear retinoic acid receptors. As shown above, this is achieved in mouse skin where RAL concentrations reach 4–20 nM, a range of concentrations high enough to saturate nuclear receptors [8, 10], but much less than those (1-10 µM) reached after topical RA [7, 11]. Finally, the modulation of retinoid metabolism induced by a topical RAL application would be restricted to the skin, since a 14day topical treatment with RAL has no effect on the concentration of plasma retinoids.

#### References

 Bhawan J, Olsen E, Lufrano L, Thorne EG, Schwab B, Gilchrest BA: Histologic evaluation of the long-term effects of tretinoin on photodamaged skin. J Dermatol Sci 1996;11:177– 182.

2 Thorne EG, Lufrano L, Boateng F, Sampson AR: Effect of tretinoin emollient cream on photodamaged skin: Relationship between clinical improvement and skin irritation. Br J Dermatol 1996;135:655–656.

- 3 Saurat JH, Didierjean L, Masgrau E, Piletta PA, Jaconi S, Chatellard-Gruaz D, Gumowski D, Masouyé I, Salomon I, Siegenthaler G: Topical retinaldehyde on human skin: Biological effects and tolerance. J Invest Dermatol 1994; 103:770–774.
- 4 Siegenthaler G, Gumowski-Sunek D, Saurat JH: Metabolism of natural retinoids in psoriatic epidermis. J Invest Dermatol 1990;95:47S–48S.
- 5 Châtellard-Gruaz D, Randolph RK, Hagens G, Saurat JH, Siegenthaler G: Differentiation of human epidermal keratinocytes is accompanied by increased expression of CRABP-II and increased cellular concentration of retinoic acids: Retention of newly synthesized retinoic acids by CRABP-II. J Lipid Res 1998;39: 1421–1429.

- 6 Didierjean L, Sass JO, Carraux P, Grand D, Sorg O, Plum C, Nau H, Saurat JH: Topical 9cis-retinaldehyde for delivery of 9-cis-retinoic acid in mouse skin. Exp Dermatol, in press.
- 7 Didierjean L, Carraux P, Grand D, Sass JO, Nau H, Saurat JH: Topical retinaldehyde increases skin content of retinoic acid and exerts biological activity in mouse skin. J Invest Dermatol 1996;107:714–719.
- 8 Crettaz M, Baron A, Siegenthaler G, Hunziker W: Ligand specificities of recombinant retinoic acid receptors RARa and RARb. Biochem J 1990;272:391–397.
- 9 Repa JJ, Hanson KK, Clagett-Dame M: Alltrans-retinol is a ligand for the retinoic acid receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1993;90: 7293–7297.
- 10 Lombardo A, Costa E, Chao WR, Toll L, Hobbs PD, Jong L, Lee MO, Pfahl M, Ely KR, Dawson MI: Recombinant human retinoic acid receptor beta: Binding of synthetic retinoids and transcriptional activation. J Biol Chem 1994;269: 7297–7303.
- 11 Duell EA, Åström A, Griffiths CEM, Chambon P, Voorhees JJ: Human skin levels of retinoic acid and cytochrome P-450-derived 4-hydroxyretinoic acid after topical application of retinoic acid in vivo compared to concentrations required to stimulate retinoic acid receptor-mediated transcription in vitro. J Clin Invest 1992;90:1269–1274.

# **Biological Activities of Topical Retinaldehyde**

L. Didierjean C. Tran O. Sorg J.-H. Saurat

Department of Dermatology, University Hospital, and DHURDV, Geneva, Switzerland

# **Key Words**

Biological activities • Citral • Mouse tail model • Myeloperoxidase • Retinaldehyde, topical • Retinaldehyde, 9-*cis* • Retinoid irritation

# Abstract

Background: We had hypothesised that retinaldehyde (RAL) should be an interesting precursor for topical use. Aim: We review our observations about its biological activities. Methods: We performed pilot studies to explore its biological effects and tolerability in human skin and compared the effects of topical RAL to that of all-trans-retinoic acid (RA) in the mouse tail test. Results: The biological activities of RAL were found to be qualitatively identical to that of RA: (i) induction of cellular RA-binding protein type 2 mRNA and protein, (ii) increase in epidermal proliferation (increase in DNA synthesis, epidermal thickness, induction of 50-kD keratin mRNA and reduction in 70-kD keratin mRNA), and (iii) metaplastic effects (induction of orthokeratosis, reduction of 65-kD keratin mRNA, increase in filaggrin and loricrin mRNAs). When associated with RAL, citral (known for its capacity to inhibit the oxidation of retinol to RA in epidermis) counteracted the effects induced by RAL indicating that RAL exerts biological activities through transformation to RA. Hypothesising that keratinocytes would metabolize 9-cis-RAL to 9-cis-RA, we compared the biological effects induced by topical 9-cis-RAL and found that hyperplastic and metaplastic responses were lower than those induced by all-trans-RAL or all-trans-RA at similar concentrations. This suggests that 9-cis-RAL has

# KARGER

Fax +41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 1999 S. Karger AG, Basel 1018–8665/99/1997–0019\$17.50/0 Accessible online at:

http://BioMedNet.com/karger

no advantage over all-*trans*-RAL for specific delivery of natural retinoids into the skin. As in clinical studies conducted in human skin, we also found topical RAL less irritant than RA. *Conclusion:* These studies indicate that topical RAL has biological activity and is well tolerated.

# Introduction

We have explored the possibility of delivering retinoid activity to human skin topically with retinaldehyde (RAL) that does not bind nuclear receptors. Validation of the concept implies demonstration that the topical application of RAL results in biological effects. We summarise here the results of studies conducted both in humans and animals.

# **Biological Effects of RAL in Human Skin**

One parameter of retinoid activity is the induction of CRABP-2 mRNA and protein [1–3]; we have shown that topical RAL induces CRABP-2 mRNA by 10-fold and CRABP-2 protein by 3-fold; the rank order for the CRABP-2 increase was RA > RAL > 9-*cis*-RA > retinol >  $\beta$ -carotene [4]. This suggested that the CRABP-2 induction by topical RAL is a result of transformation by epidermal enzymes into active ligand(s).

In volunteers treated 1–3 months by 0.5, 0.1 and 0.05% RAL (table 1), there was a significant dose-dependent increase in epidermal thickness, keratin 14 immunoreactivity and Ki-67-positive cells. The area of distribution of involu-

Prof. Jean-Hilaire Saurat Clinique de Dermatologie, Hôpital Cantonal Universitaire CH-1211 Genève 14 (Switzerland) Tel. +41 22 372 94 22, Fax +41 22 372 94 60 E-Mail saurat@cmu.unige.ch **Table 1.** Biological effects of RALin human skin

Duration of treatment	Parameters	Vehicle	0.05% RAL
4 days	CRABP-2 mRNA, pixels CRABP-2 protein, pixels	$391 \pm 72 \\ 1,769 \pm 200$	$4,410 \pm 432$ $4,593 \pm 834$
1 month	Ki-67, cells/mm epidermal thickness, μm keratin 4 involucrin, μm thickness filaggrin, μm thickness transglutaminase, μm thickness	$\begin{array}{c} 36 \pm 11 \\ 44 \pm 29 \\ \text{absent} \\ 15 \pm 1 \\ 23 \pm 1 \\ 13 \pm 0.5 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 66 \pm 62 \\ 59 \pm 37 \\ \text{induced (focal)} \\ 27 \pm 11 \\ 32 \pm 13 \\ 19 \pm 6 \end{array}$
3 months	Ki-67, cells/mm epidermal thickness, µm keratin 4 involucrin, µm thickness filaggrin, µm thickness transglutaminase, µm thickness	$44 \pm 29 \\ 65 \pm 17 \\ absent \\ 12 \pm 3 \\ 38 \pm 4 \\ 11 \pm 2$	$59 \pm 37 \\ 83 \pm 27 \\ \text{induced (focal)} \\ 13 \pm 2 \\ 38 \pm 4 \\ 11 \pm 2 \\ \end{cases}$

crin, transglutaminase and filaggrin immunoreactivities was also increased in a dose-dependent manner, and keratin 4 immunoreactivity was induced in the upper epidermis. Interestingly the induction of filaggrin, involucrin and transglutaminase was no longer seen after 3 months of treatment, indicating an adaptive process. These findings indicate that RAL exerts biological activity when used as a topical agent on human skin.

#### **Biological Effects of RAL in Mouse Tail Skin**

# The Mouse Tail Skin Model

The mouse tail has been shown to be a normal in vivo model for antipsoriatic drug screening [5]. The adult mouse tail skin possesses a granular layer and exhibits orthokeratosis only in perifollicular areas of the epidermis while epidermal areas between the follicles (scales) do not show a granular layer. It has been observed that repetitive topical application of RA on tail skin induces (i) a granular layer and orthokeratosis in the scale regions accompanied by the suppression of two postnatally acquired 70-kD and 65-kD keratin proteins [6] and (ii) strong epidermal hyperplasia with induction of the murine hyperproliferation-associated 50-kD keratin [7]. We have compared the effects of topical RAL to that of all-*trans*-RA in the mouse tail model [6, 8].

### Hyperplastic Responses

Table 2 shows the dose and time course experiments; RAL was found to exert similar effects to RA, and at low concentrations such as 0.005%, it was even more active for most of the parameters studied. This may be related to a better availability of ligand to the receptors when delivered through RAL.

#### Metaplastic Responses

All-*trans*-RA and all-*trans*-RAL induced a time- and dose-dependent reduction of the parakeratotic scale regions; the effect was similar for both retinoids at 0.05%, whereas at lower concentrations RAL showed a better metaplastic activity (table 3). Both compounds induced a similar reduction in 65-kD keratin mRNA; loricrin mRNA was significantly more induced by all-*trans*-RA (table 3).

# Effects of Citral on Biological Activities of All-trans-RAL

The monoterpene aldehyde citral (3,7-dimethyl-2,6-octanedial) is a simple partially saturated analogue of RAL. Connor [9] had shown that citral inhibits the oxidation of retinol to RA in epidermis; it was postulated that it can act as a competitive substrate for both the alcohol and aldehyde dehydrogenases involved in this process. Thus, citral provides a tool to study the biological activity of retinoids in vivo. Thus, Connor [9] has shown that citral inhibited the ability of topical retinol but not of RA to induce hyperplasia as well as to inhibit the induction of ornithine decarboxylase activity in hairless mouse epidermis. This was considered as a proof that oxidation to RA accounts for the biological activities of topical retinol.

We have used citral 0.2% (2.6  $\mu$ mol), half of the minimal dose used in Connor's study [9]. Citral counteracted the induction by RAL of a granular layer in the interfollicular

**Table 2.** Biological effects of RALin mouse tail skin: hyperplastic responses

Doses, %	Time, days	Parameters	All- <i>trans</i> -RA, % of vehicle	All- <i>trans</i> -RAL, % of vehicle
0.005	7	K50 mRNA induction	+77 ± 7	$+129 \pm 12$
		K70 mRNA suppression	$-98 \pm 1$	$-88 \pm 2$
		epidermal thickness	$+9 \pm 1$	$+38 \pm 1$
	9	DNA synthesis (BrdU)	$+374 \pm 49$	$+664 \pm 170$
		epidermal thickness	$+21 \pm 0.04$	$+41 \pm 1$
	12	DNA synthesis (BrdU)	$-9 \pm 3$	$+24 \pm 4$
		epidermal thickness	$+28 \pm 3$	$+40 \pm 16$
	14	epidermal thicknesss	$+18\pm4$	$+12 \pm 1$
0.010	7	K50 mRNA induction	$+283 \pm 163$	$+226 \pm 21$
		K70 mRNA suppression	$-91 \pm 2$	$-85 \pm 1$
	14	epidermal thickness	$+30\pm7$	$+24\pm8$
0.025	14	epidermal thickness	$+43 \pm 15$	$+45 \pm 15$
0.050	7	K50 mRNA induction	$+327 \pm 27$	$+333 \pm 62$
		K70 mRNA suppression	$-85 \pm 5$	$-94 \pm 3$
	9	DNA synthesis (BrdU)	$+456 \pm 23$	$+1,246 \pm 108$
		epidermal thickness	$+40 \pm 5$	$+37 \pm 1$
	12	epidermal thickness	$+94 \pm 3$	$+64 \pm 4$
	14	epidermal thickness	$+72 \pm 20$	$+108 \pm 15$

K50 = 50-kD keratin; K70 = 70-kD keratin; BrdU = bromodeoxyuridine.

Doses, %	Time, days	Parameters	All-trans-RA	All-trans-RAL
0.005	7	K65 mRNA reduction, % of vehicle	$-72 \pm 8$	$-38 \pm 8$
	7	loricrin mRNA increase, % of vehicle	$+168 \pm 13$	$+86 \pm 15$
	14	orthokeratosis induction/IFZ, µm	$69\pm1$	$156\pm37$
0.010	7	K65 mRNA reduction, % of vehicle	$-72 \pm 13$	-88 ± 13
	7	loricrin mRNA increase, % of vehicle	$+94 \pm 15$	$+8 \pm 5$
	14	orthokeratosis induction/IFZ, µm	$147\pm2$	$183 \pm 5$
0.025	14	orthokeratosis induction/IFZ, µm	$173 \pm 2$	$291\pm4$
0.050	7	K65 mRNA reduction, % of vehicle	$-97 \pm 1$	$-95 \pm 1$
	7	loricrin mRNA increase, % of vehicle	$+92 \pm 25$	$+38\pm13$
	9	orthokeratosis induction/IFZ, µm	$268 \pm 3$	$271 \pm 7$
	12	orthokeratosis induction/IFZ, µm	$326 \pm 4$	$322 \pm 7$
	14	orthokeratosis induction/IFZ, µm	$335 \pm 7$	$329\pm 6$
$\overline{K65} = 65-$	kD keratin; I	FZ = interfollicular zone.		

**Table 3.** Biological effects of RALin mouse tail skin: metaplastic responses

zones of the mouse tail (fig. 1); accordingly, the molecular marker of this induction of orthokeratosis, that is the suppression of keratin 65 mRNA, was also counteracted by citral (fig. 2). After 14 days of treatment, citral also inhibited the RAL-induced epidermal hyperplasia ( $70 \pm 4$  vs. 63  $\pm$  5 µm, p < 0.0001) and the molecular marker associated with this effect, that is the inhibition of keratin 70 mRNA [6] (fig. 2). Taken together these observations indicate that

RAL exerts the biological activities studied in these experiments through transformation to RA.

#### Effects of 9-cis-RAL versus All-trans-RAL

9-*cis*-RA is the endogenous ligand of retinoid X nuclear receptors (RXRs) and also binds to RA receptors (RARs). Although the epidermis contains five times more RXRs than RARs in humans [11], little is known on the activity of top-

Biological Activities of Topical Retinaldehyde



**Fig. 1.** Histology of interfollicular areas of mouse tail skin after 14 days of topical treatments with 0.025% RAL without (**a**) or with 0.2% citral (**b**). Note that citral inhibited both epidermal hyperplasia and induction of granular cell layers. ×250.



**Fig. 2.** Northern analysis of 65-kD keratin (K65) and 70-kD keratin (K70) mRNAs in mouse tail skin (n = 3 mice) untreated or treated with either 0.2% citral, 0.025% RAL without or with 0.2% citral. The Northern blots were hybridised as described in Didierjean et al. [10]. Ethidium bromide staining of the 28s RNA indicates the loading of each lane. The autoradiograms were scanned using a PhosphoImager (Molecular Dynamics, Kemsing, UK). The mean values (pixels)  $\pm$  SD of the samples are shown in the graphs.

Doses, %	Time, days	Parameters	All- <i>trans-</i> RAL	9- <i>cis</i> - RAL
0.005	14	epidermal thickness induction, µm	4 ± 1	0
		orthokeratosis induction/IFZ, μm	$156\pm37$	192 ± 17
0.010	14	epidermal thickness	8 ± 3	0
		orthokeratosis induction/IFZ, µm	$183\pm5$	205 ± 19
0.025	14	epidermal thickness	$15\pm 6$	1 ± 3
		orthokeratosis induction/IFZ, µm	$291\pm4$	157 ± 43
0.050	9	epidermal thickness induction, µm	12 ± 1	$10 \pm 3$
		orthokeratosis induction/IFZ, μm	271 ± 7	111 ± 28
	12	epidermal thickness	$21 \pm 1$	$15 \pm 3$
		orthokeratosis induction/IFZ, µm	$322 \pm 7$	$170 \pm 20$
	14	epidermal thickness	$36 \pm 7$	$13 \pm 1$
		orthokeratosis induction/IFZ, µm	$329 \pm 6$	106 ± 16
IFZ = In	terfollicu	lar zone.		

**Table 4.** Biological effects of RAL in mouse tail skin: effects of citral on biological activities of all-*trans*-RAL

ical 9-*cis*-RA. In order to circumvent surface isomerisation of topically applied 9-*cis*-RA into all-*trans*-RA, we thought that topical 9-*cis*-RAL might be used as a potential precursor of 9-*cis*-RA, hypothesising that keratinocytes would metabolise 9-*cis*-RAL into 9-*cis*-RA. We investigated if 9-*cis*-RAL generates significant amounts of 9-*cis*-RA in the skin [12, 13] and found that biological activities (hyperplastic and metaplastic responses) were lower than those induced by all-*trans*-RAL or all *trans*-RA at similar concentrations (table 4) and concluded that 9-*cis*-RAL has no advantage over all-*trans*-RAL for specific delivery of natural retinoids into the skin.

### Skin Irritation

It has been suggested that efficacy and irritation of synthetic retinoids in animal models correlate with RAR $\gamma$ mediated transcription activation [14]. Topical application of all-*trans*-RA on human skin induces skin irritation as

Biological Activities of Topical Retinaldehyde



**Fig. 3.** Myeloperoxidase content (mOD/min, mean  $\pm$  SD) in mouse ears untreated or treated for 1, 4, 5 or 7 days with either 0.005% all-*trans*-RA ( $\Box$ ) or all-*trans*-RAL ( $\blacksquare$ ).

well [15] in spite of similar affinity for the three types of RARs. As RAL does not bind RARs and selectively delivers low concentrations of all-*trans*-RA, we postulated that skin irritation should be reduced. Studies in humans, reviewed in another section of this supplement [16], have clearly confirmed this. We conducted time course experiments on ears of mice where accumulation of neutrophils after topical treatments with either 0.005% all-*trans*-RA or 0.005% all-*trans*-RAL was measured by neutrophil myeloperoxidase content by the assay described by Bradley et al. [17]. The maximal myeloperoxidase activity was found after 4 days of treatment (fig. 3) and was less pronounced upon RAL treatment, showing, in this model, that topical RAL is less irritant than RA.

#### Discussion

From these observations we concluded that topical RAL exerts significant biological activity, similar to that of alltrans-RA. Experiments with citral indicate that the effects of RAL result from its transformation into RA. Interestingly, the RA tissue levels in RAL-treated skin are much

Dermatology 1999;199(suppl 1):19-24

lower than those in RA-treated skin [12], whereas the biological effects were identical. Several explanations for that have been considered:

a low cell loading of all-*trans*-RA may be sufficient for full activity on the parameters studied in this model; thus, only a small percentage of the RA recovered from RAtreated skin for HPLC analysis may correspond to intracellular, biologically significant all-*trans*-RA;

the uptake of RAL by murine epidermal cells might be more effective than that of RA; in vitro, the uptake of  $[^{3}H]RAL$  by cultured human keratinocytes reached 30% at 8 h [18];

finally a possible explanation of our observations might be that metabolites other than all-*trans*-RA are responsible for some biological effects of RAL, which might not be mediated by RARs. Since the major metabolites produced from RAL, both in vitro and in vivo, are retinol and several retinyl esters, the respective role of these metabolites as well as that of RAL itself, in inducing selective topical activities, remain to be analysed. However, the inhibition by citral of some effects of RAL argues against this.

#### Acknowledgements

The skilful technical assistance of P. Carraux, M.-J. Cartier, D. Gallezot, D. Grand and K. Tamm in these studies is gratefully acknowledged.

#### References

- Siegenthaler G, Saurat J-H: Therapy with synthetic retinoid (Ro 101670) etretin increases the cellular retinoic acid-binding protein in nonlesional psoriatic skin. J Invest Dermatol 1986; 87:122–124.
- 2 Hirschel Scholz S, Siegenthaler G, Saurat J-H: ligand-specific and non-specific in vivo modulation of human epidermal cellular retinoic acid binding protein (CRABP). Eur J Clin Invest 1989;19:220–227.
- 3 Elder JT, Aström A, Tavakkol A, Griffiths CEM, Krust A, Kastner P, Chambon P, Vorhees JJ: Differential regulation of retinoic acid receptors and binding proteins in human skin. J Invest Dermatol 1992;98:673–679.
- 4 Saurat J-H, Didierjean L, Masgrau E, Piletta PA, Jaconi S, Châtellard-Gruaz D, Gumowski-Sunek D, Masouyé I, Salomon D, Siegenthaler G: Topical retinaldehyde on human skin: Biologic effects and tolerance. J Invest Dermatol 1994;103:770–774.
- 5 Wrench R: Assessing drugs for psoriasiform diseases and their antiparakeratotic mechanisms using the mouse-tail test; in Maibach HI, Lowe NJ (eds): Models in Dermatology. Basel, Karger, 1985, vol 2, pp 76–91.
- 6 Schweizer J, Fürstenberger G, Winter H: Selective suppression of two postnatally acquired 70-kD and 65-kD keratin proteins during continuous treatment of adult mouse tail epidermis with vitamin A. J Invest Dermatol 1987;89: 125–137.

- 7 Schweizer J: Vitamin A mediated keratin expression in mouse tail epidermis; in Reichert U, Shroot B (eds): Pharmacology of Retinoids in the Skin. Pharmacol Skin. Basel, Karger, 1989, vol 3, pp 132–135.
- 8 Didierjean L, Wrench R, Saurat J-H: Expression of cytoplasmic antigens linked to orthokeratosis during the development of parakeratosis in newborn mouse tail epidermis. Differentiation 1983;23:250–255.
- 9 Connor MJ: Oxidation of retinol to retinoic acid as a requirement for biological activity in mouse epidermis. Cancer Res 1981;48:7038– 7040.
- 10 Didierjean L, Carraux P, Grand D, Sass JO, Nau H, Saurat JH: Topical retinaldehyde increases skin content of retinoic acid and exerts biologic activity in mouse skin. J Invest Dermatol 1996; 107:714–719.
- 11 Fischer GJ, Talwar HS, Xiao JH, Datta SC, Reddy AP, Gaub MP, Rochetteegly C, Chambon P, Vorrhees JJ: Immunological identification and functional quantitation of retinoic acid and retinoid X receptor proteins in human skin. J Biol Chem 1994;269:20629–20635.
- 12 Sorg O, Didierjean L, Saurat J-H: Metabolism of topical retinaldehyde. Dermatology 1999; 199(suppl 1):13–17.
- 13 Didierjean L, Sass JO, Carraux P, Grand D, Sorg O, Plum C, Nau H, Saurat J-H: Topical 9-cis-retinaldehyde for delivery of 9-cis-retinoic acid in mouse skin. Exp Dermatol, in press.

- 14 Chen S, Ostrowski J, Whiting G, Roalsvig T, Hammer L, Currier SJ, Honeyman J, Knasniewski B, Yu KL, Sterzycki R, Kim CU, Starret J, Mansuri M, Reczeck PR: Retinoic acid receptor gamma mediates topical retinoid efficacy and irritation in animal models. J Invest Dermatol 1995;104:779–783.
- 15 Fisher GJ, Esmann J, Griffiths CEM, Talwar HS, Duell EA, Hammerberg C, Elder JT, Karabin GD, Nickoloff BJ, Cooper KD, Voorhees JJ: Cellular, immunologic and biochemical characterization of topical retinoic acid-treated human skin. J Invest Dermatol 1991;96:699– 707.
- 16 Sachsenberg-Studer EM: Tolerance of topical retinaldehyde in humans. Dermatology 1999; 199(suppl 1):61–63.
- 17 Bradley PP, Priebat DA, Christensen RD, Rothstein G: Measurement of cutaneous inflammation: Estimation of neutrophil content with an enzyme marker. J Invest Dermatol 1982;78: 206–209.
- 18 Châtellard-Gruaz D, Randolph RK, Hagens G, Saurat J-H, Siegenthaler G: Differentiation of human keratinocytes is accompanied by increased expression of CRABP-II and increased cellular concentration of retinoic acids: Retention of newly synthesized retinoic acids by CRABP-II. J Lipid Res 1998;39:1421–1429.

# Inhibitory Effects of Retinoids on Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Production by Cultured Human Skin Keratinocytes

S. Lachgar<sup>a</sup> M. Charvéron<sup>a</sup> Y. Gall<sup>a</sup> J.L. Bonafé<sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Laboratoire de Biologie Cellulaire Cutanée, Institut de Recherche Pierre-Fabre, Faculté de Médecine Rangueil, and <sup>b</sup>Service de Dermatologie, CHU Rangueil, Toulouse, France

# **Key Words**

Vascular endothelial growth factor · Retinaldehyde

# Abstract

Background: Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), a potent angiogenic factor and vasodilator, is strongly expressed by epidermal keratinocytes in many angiogenesis-dependent skin disorders. Retinoids may modulate VEGF in skin and this may be related to an effect on rosacea. Aim: To investigate the effect of retinaldehyde on VEGF production by human keratinocytes. Methods: The effects of different concentrations of retinoids (all-trans-retinal and all-trans-retinoic acid) on VEGF production by cultured human skin keratinocytes in both cell extracts and supernatants were determined. Expression of VEGF was analyzed by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) and RT-PCR. Results: The amount of cell-associated and secreted VEGF strongly decreased with retinoid concentration (e.g. 48, 69% inhibition at 0.1 µM all-trans-retinal and -retinoic acid, respectively, in the supernatants). In parallel, approximately 25% inhibition of VEGF mRNA expression was obtained in the presence of 0.01  $\mu M$  all-*trans*-retinal. Conclusion: The decrease in VEGF expression by keratinocytes on contact with retinoids may prevent skin neoangiogenesis in certain skin diseases.

# KARGER

Fax +41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 1999 S. Karger AG, Basel 1018–8665/99/1997–0025\$17.50/0

Accessible online at: http://BioMedNet.com/karger

# Introduction

Keratinocytes are the most abundant cells in the epidermis. They synthesize various active biological mediators in response to different extracellular signals present in their environment, especially angiogenic growth factors which play an important role in stimulating and maintaining skin vascularization. They therefore constitute a good cellular model to determine the in vitro ability of different molecules to modulate angiogenic factor production. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is regarded as the most important positive regulator of angiogenesis and vascular permeability [for reviews, see 1–3].

Previous studies showed that cultured normal human keratinocytes synthesize this cytokine [4]. VEGF is strongly expressed in many disorders of the skin [5–7] and seems to be an interesting candidate to determine the effects of retinoids on skin vascularization. Various studies showed that retinoids inhibit angiogenesis in several experimental systems. Retinoids inhibit vessel ingrowth into the chorioallantoic membrane of the chick [8, 9]. Retinoids also abrogate tumor-associated angiogenesis in vivo [10]. In the present study, we used ELISA and RT-PCR techniques to assess VEGF protein synthesis and gene expression in normal human keratinocytes cultured with retinaldehyde or retinoic acid.

S. Lachgar Pierre Fabre Research Institute Faculté de Médecine Rangueil F–31065 Toulouse (France) Tel. +33 5 62 88 98 50, Fax +33 5 62 88 98 54

#### **Materials and Methods**

#### Immunoassay

Early-passage (P2) normal human skin keratinocytes were seeded into 6-well plates at a density of  $1 \times 10^6$  cells/ml DMEM/well. The amount of VEGF in centrifuged supernatants and in the cell extracts was evaluated using ELISA kits (R & D systems). This type of assay was used to evaluate the effect of retinoids (Sigma) on VEGF secretion; keratinocytes were incubated for 24 h with various concentrations of retinaldehyde or retinoic acid (0.1, 1, 3  $\mu$ M) in serum-free medium (Gibco). Simultaneous control incubations of keratinocytes without retinoids were performed. This assay was done using three keratinocyte lines. All assays were carried out in triplicate for each agent.

All-*trans*-retinoic acid and all-*trans*-retinal stock solutions were prepared in dimethylsulfoxide (1 pM) and stored protected from light at -20 °C. Working dilutions were prepared with serum-free medium (Gibco-BRL).

An aliquot of the suspension was set aside to measure the protein concentration. Cell proteins were measured according to a Biorad protein assay (Biorad) protocol using bovine serum albumin (Sigma) as a standard. Final results are expressed as the amount of VEGF related to total protein.

#### **RT-PCR** Analysis

Total RNA (1  $\mu$ g) from cultured skin keratinocytes was reverse transcribed at 37 °C for 60 min into cDNA using the Access RT-PCR System (Promega) in a 50- $\mu$ l volume.

Polymerase reactions were performed using oligonucleotides complementary to the 5' and 3' ends of the coding sequence of VEGF (CTGCTCTCTTGGGTGCACTGC and CACCGCCTTGGCTTGT-CACAT). Amplification was performed for 30 cycles (94 °C for 40 s; 57 °C for 1 min; 72 °C for 1.5 min) in a DNA thermal cycler heat block (Perkin-Elmer, Gene Amp PCR system 2400). The amplified PCR products were separated by 3% agarose electrophoresis.

#### Results

# Expression of VEGF Protein Is Inhibited in Keratinocytes after Exposure to Retinaldehyde and Retinoic Acid

The total content in VEGF was inhibited in a dosedependent manner by retinaldehyde as well as retinoic acid which induced a higher inhibition (table 1). In cell extracts, as compared with untreated cells, retinaldehyde induced a decrease in VEGF protein content only at the higher concentration of 3  $\mu$ *M* (table 1); retinoic acid induced a significant decrease at 1  $\mu$ *M*. Decreases in the levels of VEGF protein were similarly observed in cell supernatants where the inhibition upon retinaldehyde treatment was higher at the lowest concentrations; a similar effect was observed upon retinoic acid treatment, although the inhibition was higher than that induced by retinaldehyde.

![](_page_26_Figure_11.jpeg)

**Fig. 1.** RT-PCR detection of VEGF mRNA in normal human skin keratinocytes. Keratinocytes were treated or not with retinaldehyde or retinoic acid at 0.01  $\mu$ *M*. Reverse transcription and amplification were performed as described in the Material and Methods section. Lane 1: PCR marker; lane 2: control; lane 3: retinal, 0.01  $\mu$ *M*; lane 4: retinoic acid, 0.01  $\mu$ *M*.

**Table 1.** Effects of retinoids on VEGF protein production in cell

 extracts and supernatants of cultured normal human keratinocytes

	Supernatants		Cell extra	cts	Total
	pg/µg proteins ×100	SD	pg/µg proteins ×100	SD	
Control					
0 μ <i>M</i>	17.86	2.98	53.73	7.04	71.59
Retinal					
0.1 μ <i>M</i>	9.32*	2.02	64.31	10.26	73.63
$1 \mu M$	11.23*	1.56	55.02	10.85	66.25
3 μ <i>M</i>	11.31*	1.6	36.32*	7.73	47.63
Retinoic acid					
0.1 μ <i>M</i>	5.57*	0.99	50.79	3.66	56.36
$1 \mu M$	10.6*	2.89	39.87*	2.04	50.47
3 μ <i>M</i>	10.18*	1.21	13.39*	1.42	23.57

VEGF concentrations in the supernatants were determined by ELISA. Keratinocytes were incubated for 24 h in the presence of different concentrations of retinaldehyde or retinoic acid. VEGF production by keratinocytes related to the total cell protein content is expressed as picograms per microgram protein. Values are the mean of 3 assays  $\pm$  SEM.

p < 0.05: significant difference compared to the control using the Dunnett test.

VEGF mRNA Expression Is Decreased in Keratinocytes after Exposure to Retinaldehyde and Retinoic Acid

VEGF mRNA was detected in cultured keratinocytes by RT-PCR (fig. 1). A 25% inhibition of VEGF mRNA was observed after treatment of cells with retinaldehyde 0.01  $\mu M$ ; no significant modification of the VEGF mRNA was observed after treatment with retinoic acid at 0.01  $\mu M$ .

#### Discussion

In this study we confirm and extend our observations upon the inhibition of VEGF expression [11] by all-*trans*- retinaldehyde and all-*trans*-retinoic acid in primary cultured human normal keratinocytes. Such an inhibition was subsequently confirmed by Weninger et al. [12] who observed that all-*trans*- and 13-*cis*-retinoic acid as well as all-*trans*retinol inhibited VEGF in normal human keratinocyte supernatants.

Low concentrations of retinaldehyde induced a greater decrease in VEGF in the supernatant than high concentrations, whereas the reverse was seen for the cell-associated VEGF. A similar effect was seen with retinoic acid. This indicates a dose-dependent effect of the two retinoids on the distribution/secretion of VEGF in cultured keratinocytes. As a whole the VEGF protein was inhibited by 33% by 3  $\mu$ M retinaldehyde, and up to 67% by similar dose of retinoic acid.

The low concentration 0.01  $\mu$ *M* of retinaldehyde inhibited VEGF gene expression by 25% after 24 h of incubation which is consistent with the decrease in secreted protein. No inhibition of VEGF mRNA was observed with 0.01  $\mu$ *M* retinoic acid at 24 h incubation; this is probably due to a difference in the time course regulation of VEGF between retinoic acid, and retinaldehyde; the latter, comparatively to retinoic acid would act in a delayed manner.

The inhibition of VEGF production by the retinoids tested in the present study points to an effect of retinaldehyde in skin vascularization. The level of VEGF is an important parameter in maintaining balanced skin angiogenesis.

The decrease in VEGF production by keratinocyte cells may prevent skin neoangiogenesis and inflammation developing in rosacea or other angiogenesis-dependent diseases of the skin in which a dense network of microcapillaries is produced and inflammatory cells are present.

The inhibition of VEGF, which is a potent chemotactic agent for inflammatory cells and endothelial cells [13, 14], provides direct evidence that retinaldehyde may contribute to the reduction of inflammation sites by regulating inflammatory mediator synthesis in these diseases. This molecule should play a role in the prevention of uncontrolled microvascularization in skin diseases, but its potential clinical use in such a context needs further investigation in vivo.

#### References

- Neufeld G, Tessler S, Gitay-Goren H, Cohen T, Levi BZ: Vascular endothelial growth factor and its receptors. Prog Growth Fact Res 1994;5:89–97.
- 2 Plate KH, Breier G, Risau W: Molecular mechanisms of developmental and tumor angiogenesis (review). Brain Pathol 1994;4:207–218.
- 3 Folkman J: Angiogenesis in cancer, vascular, rheumatoid and other disease. Nat Med 1995;1:27–31.
- 4 Ballaun C, Weninger W, Uthman A, Weich H, Tschachler E: Human keratinocytes express the three major forms of vascular endothelial growth factor. J Invest Dermatol 1995;104: 7–10.
- 5 Brown LF, Yeo KT, Berse B, Yeo TK, Senger DR, Dvorak HF, van de Water L: Expression of vascular permeability factor (vascular endothelial growth factor) by epidermal keratinocytes during wound healing. J Exp Med 1992;176: 1375–1379.

- 6 Detmar M, Brown LF, Claffey KP, Yeo KT, Kocher O, Jackman RW, Berse B, Dvorak HF: Overexpression of vascular permeability factor (vascular endothelial growth factor) in psoriasis. J Exp Med 1994;180:1141–1146.
- 7 Brown LF, Harrist TJ, Yeo KT, Stahle-Backdahl M, Jackman RW, Berse B, Tognazzi K, Dvorak HF, Detmar M: Increased expression of vascular permeability factor (vascular endothelial growth factor) in bullous pemphigoid, dermatitis herpetiformis, and erythema multiforme. J Invest Dermatol 1995;104:744–749.
- 8 Oikawa T, Hirotani K, Nakamura O, Shudo K, Hiragun A, Iwaguchi T: A highly potent antiangiogenic activity of retinoids. Cancer Lett 1989;48:157–162.
- 9 Oikawa T, Okayasu I, Ashino H, Morita I, Murota S, Shudo K: Three novel synthetic retinoids, Re 80, Am 580 and Am 80, all exhibit anti-angiogenic activity in vivo. Eur J Pharmacol 1993;249:113–116.

- 10 Majewski S, Szmurlo A, Marczak M, Jablonska S, Bollag W: Synergistic effect of retinoids and interferon α on tumor-induced angiogenesis: Anti-angiogenic effect on HPV-harboring tumor cell lines. Int J Cancer 1994;57:81–85.
- 11 Lachgar S, Charvéron M, Aries MF, Gall Y, Bonafé JL: Inhibitory effects of retinoids on VEGF production by cultured human skin keratinocytes (abstract). J Invest Dermatol 1997; 109:455.
- 12 Weninger W, Rendl M, Mildner M, Tschachler E: Retinoids downregulate vascular endothelial growth factor/vascular permeability factor production by normal human keratinocytes. J Invest Dermatol 1998;111:907–911.
- 13 Clauss M, Gerlach M, Gerlach H, Brett J, Wang F, Familletti PC, Pan YC, Olander JV, Connolly DT, Stern D: Vascular permeability factor: A tumor-derived polypeptide that induces endothelial cell and monocyte procoagulant activity, and promotes monocyte migration. J Exp Med 1990;172:1535–1545.
- 14 Gruber BL, Marchese MJ, Kew RI: Angiogenic factors stimulate mast-cell migration. Blood 1994;86:2488–2493.

# Antibacterial Activity of Retinaldehyde against *Propionibacterium acnes*

M. Pechère<sup>a</sup> J.-C. Pechère<sup>b</sup> G. Siegenthaler<sup>a</sup> L. Germanier<sup>a</sup>, J.-H. Saurat<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Department of Dermatology and DHURDV, Geneva University Hospital, and <sup>b</sup>Department of Genetics and Microbiology, University of Geneva School of Medicine, Geneva, Switzerland

#### **Key Words**

Topical retinaldehyde · Propionibacterium acnes

# Abstract

Background: Retinaldehyde has been shown to exert antibacterial activity in vitro. Aim: This study evaluates the effect of retinaldehyde on Propionibacterium acnes both in vivo and in vitro. Methods: Microbial minimal inhibitory concentrations (MICs) of retinaldehyde and retinoic acid were determined on reference strains of P. acnes. In vivo activity of daily topical application of 0.05% retinaldehyde on the *P. acnes* density was evaluated after application in a single-blind randomised study. **Results:** MICs of retinaldehyde were 4 mg/l for *P. acnes* No. CIP179 and CIP53119 and 8 mg/l for P. acnes No. CIP53117. In contrast, the MICs of retinoic acid were superior to 128 mg/l for these three strains. In vivo, retinaldehyde-treated areas displayed a significant decrease in counts of viable P. acnes as compared with the untreated areas with a median decrease of  $10^2 \log P$ . acnes/cm<sup>2</sup> after 2 weeks of daily application. Vehicle alone had no effect. Conclusion: The MIC of retinaldehyde against P. acnes suggests a direct antibacterial activity. Daily topical application of 0.05% retinaldehyde is associated with a clear reduction of the P. acnes density.

### **KARGER** Fax + 41 61 306 12 34

www.karger.com

E-Mail karger@karger.ch

© 1999 S. Karger AG, Basel 1018–8665/99/1997–0029\$17.50/0

Accessible online at: http://BioMedNet.com/karger

### Introduction

Historically, vitamin A or retinol has been considered as an anti-infectious agent [1]. Retinol induces non-specific resistance to infection [2-5], but the mechanisms of these anti-infectious activities remain mostly hypothetical and are probably related to its pleiotropic effects on the immune function [6]. Retinaldehyde is a natural metabolite of retinol, and previous pilot studies have suggested that it has antibacterial activity [7]. Since retinaldehyde is used as a cosmetic ingredient on the face, a zone where Propionibacterium acnes is very abundant [8], we wondered if retinaldehyde has a direct action against P. acnes. To evaluate this possible antibacterial effect, in vitro and in vivo assays were performed. Minimal inhibitory concentrations (MICs) of retinaldehyde and retinoic acid were determined on reference strains and compared with each other. The in vivo impact of retinaldehyde on P. acnes populations was evaluated on the face of volunteers in a single-blind randomised study.

#### **Material and Methods**

Reagents

All-*trans*-retinal (Sigma, St. Louis, Mo., USA) was dissolved in a solution of a synthetic triglyceride, silicone and butylhydroxytoluene 0.001% and kept under argon atmosphere at 4 °C for the in vivo study. This preparation does not contain any conservative compound which can interact with the *P. acnes* culture. the final retinaldehyde concentration was 0.05%.

Marc Pechère Department of Dermatology, Geneva University Hospital 24, rue Micheli-du-Crest CH–1211 Geneva 14 (Switzerland) Tel. +41 22 372 94 55, Fax +41 22 372 94 70

**Table 1.** MICs (mg/l) of retinaldehyde and retinoic acid against reference strains

Strains	No.	Retinal- dehyde	Retinoic acid
Propionibacterium acnes	CIP 179	4	>128
Propionibacterium acnes	CIP 53119	4	>128
Propionibacterium acnes	CIP 53117	8	>128
Escherichia coli	NCTC 10418	>128	>128
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	ATCC 9027	>128	>128

For the in vitro study, retinaldehyde or retinoic acid (Hoffmann-La Roche, Basel, Switzerland) was dissolved in a solution of 50% polyethylene glycol 400 (Sigma) and ethanol (Merck).

#### Strains

Reference strains were obtained from the American Type Culture Collections (ATCC), Rockville, USA, from the National Collection of Type Culture (NCTC), Calindale, London, UK, and the Collection Institut Pasteur (CIP), Paris, France. These strains were frozen at  $-20^{\circ}$ C in peptone water (BioMérieux, Lyon, France) with 10% glycerol (Sigma). Clinical strains were identified according to conventional identification methods.

#### In vitro Testing

Microbial MICs were determined by a microdilution method [9] using an inoculum of  $10^5$ – $10^6$  CFU/ml, 'medium 20' as growth medium and an incubation time of 3 days in anaerobiosis (Generbag CO<sub>2</sub> system, BioMérieux). The MIC was defined as the lowest concentration yielding no growth visible to the naked eye.

#### In vivo Protocol

After randomisation of 22 volunteers, approximately 4  $\mu$ g of either retinaldehyde with vehicle or vehicle alone were applied daily on a 4-cm<sup>2</sup> lateral area of the forehead with a small sterile cotton. The other side of the forehead was left untreated. On day 15, skin flora was sampled on both sides and counts of viable bacteria were performed. Skin bacteria were collected by the cylinder scrub method described by Williamsom and Kligman [10]. Paired results from treated (retinaldehyde or vehicle) and untreated areas were analysed using the Wilcoxon rank sum test. The study has been approved by the institutional ethical committee.

# Results

MIC assays were made on *P. acnes* reference strains (table 1). MICs of retinaldehyde were 4 mg/l for *P. acnes* No. CIP179 and CIP53119 and 8 mg/l for *P. acnes* No. CIP53117. In contrast, the MICs were superior to 128 mg/l with retinoic acid for these three strains. No activity was found with retinaldehyde and retinoic acid against gram-negative *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* ATCC 8027 and *Escherichia coli* NCTC 10418.

![](_page_29_Figure_11.jpeg)

**Fig. 1.** *P. acnes* density after daily topical application of retinaldehyde (RAL) 0.05% during 2 weeks. Horizontal bars indicate the median values.

The daily application of 0.05% retinaldehyde in the experimental vehicle was well tolerated. Twenty-one of the 22 volunteers were evaluated, 1 volunteer was excluded because of lack of compliance. In each volunteer, counts of viable bacteria from treated areas (retinaldehyde in vehicle or vehicle alone) and untreated areas were compared.

In the group treated with retinaldehyde, the treated areas displayed a significant decrease in the counts for viable *P. acnes* as compared to the untreated areas (fig. 1). Of the 10 volunteers of this group, the *P. acnes* density was reduced in 8, stable in 1 and slightly increased in 1. The median decrease in *P. acnes* density was  $10^2 \log$ .

Treatment with the vehicle without retinaldehyde was evaluated in 11 volunteers; the *P. acnes* density did not change. The median density in the area treated with vehicle and the untreated area were  $10^7 P. acnes/cm^2$  on both sides. This result means that no vehicle effect was found. The difference of *P. acnes* density between the vehicle and the retinaldehyde treatment was statistically significant (p = 0.048).

#### Discussion

In the past, clinical investigations have demonstrated the efficacy of synthetic retinoids in dermatoses in the pathogenesis of which bacterial agents are implicated such as acne [11] and gram-negative folliculitis [12]. In patients treated with oral 13-cis-retinoic acid profound alterations of the skin flora are observed: reduced recovery of *P. acnes* and gram-negative bacteria, increased nasal colonisation by *Staphylococcus aureus* and high incidence of staphylococcal cutaneous infections [13]. However, in vitro experiments with 13-cis-retinoic acid [14–16] and acitretin [16] failed to reveal any direct antibacterial activities against either gram-positive (*S. aureus, Staphylococcus epidermidis* and *P. acnes*) or gram-negative bacteria. Since retinoic acid does not inhibit bacterial growth by itself [16, this study], changes in skin bacteria likely result from indirect mechanisms, such as reduction of the skin lipid or drying effects. The density of *P. acnes* on the skin depends, among other factors, mainly on the amount of sebum [17]. The reduction of skin lipids induced by oral 13-*cis*-retinoic acid is probably the main cause for the modification of the *P. acnes* population.

The results obtained with retinaldehyde were different. The decrease of *P. acnes* densities observed in vivo can be partially explained by the retinoid activity of retinaldehyde, but in vitro results suggest a second phenomenon. MICs against *P. acnes* were between 4 and 8 mg/l for retinaldehyde and more than 128 mg/l for retinoic acid. The in vitro contact of retinaldehyde with *P. acnes* inhibited its proliferation, whereas this was not observed with retinoic acid. The mechanisms remain to be determined, but these results suggest a direct antibacterial activity of retinaldehyde against *P. acnes*.

#### References

- Green HN, Mellanby E: Vitamin A as an antiinfective agent. Br Med J 1928;ii:691–696.
- 2 Cohen BE, Elin RJ: Vitamin A induced nonspecific resistance to infection. J Infect Dis 1974; 129:597–600.
- 3 Krishnan S, Krishnan AD, Mustapha AS, Talwar GP, Ramalingaswami V: Effect of vitamin A and undernutrition on the susceptibility of rodents to a malarial parasite, *plasmodium berghei*. J Nutr 1976;106:784–791.
- 4 Bang FB, Bang BG, Foard M: Acute Newcastle disease virus infection of the upper respiratory tract of the chicken. The effect of diets deficient in vitamin A on the pathogenesis of the infection. Am J Pathol 1975;79:417–424.
- 5 Nauss KM, Anderson CA, Connors MW, Newberne PM: Ocular infection with herpes simplex virus (HSV-1) infection. J Nutr 1985;115: 1300–1315.
- 6 Ross AC, Hämmerling UG: Retinoids and the immune system; in Sporn MB, Roberts AB, Goodman DS (eds): The retinoids: Biology, Chemistry and Medecine, ed 2. New York, Raven Press, 1994, pp 597–630.

- 7 Pechère M, Siegenthaler G, Pechère JL, Saurat J-H: Antibacterial effect of retinaldehyde and derivatives (abstract). J Invest Dermatol 1996; 106:912.
- 8 Leyden JJ, McGinley KJ, Nordstrom KM, Webster GF: Skin microflora. J Invest Dermatol 1987;88:S65–S71.
- 9 National Comittee for Clinical Laboratory Standards: Methods for dilution antimicrobial susceptibility tests for bacteria that grow aerobically, ed 2, approved standard. Villanova, NCCLS, 1990, vol 8.
- Williamson P, Kligman AM: A new method for the quantitative investigation of cutaneous bacteria. J Invest Dermatol 1965;45:498–530.
- 11 Peck GL, Olsen TG, Yoder FW, Strauss JS, Downing DT, Pandya M, Butkus D, Arnaud-Batendier J: Prolonged remission of cystic and conglomata acne with 13-cis-retinoic acid. N Engl J Med 1979;300:329–333.
- 12 Plewig G, Nikolowski J, Wolff HH: Action of isotretinoin in acne rosacea and gram-negative folliculitis. J Am Acad Dermatol 1983;6:766– 785.

- 13 Leyden JJ, McGinley KJ, Foglia AN: Qualitative and quantitative changes in cutaneous bacteria associated with systemic isotretinoin therapy for acne conglobata. J Invest Dermatol 1986;86:390–393.
- 14 Weissmann A, Wagner A, Plewig G: Reduction of bacterial skin flora during oral treatment of severe acne with 13-cis-retinoic acid. Arch Dermatol Res 1981;270:179–183.
- 15 Simjee S, Sahm DF, Soltani K, Morello JA: Organisms associated with gram-negative folliculitis: In vitro growth in the presence of isotretinoin. Arch Dermatol Res 1986;278:314– 316.
- 16 Flemetakis AC, Tsambaos DG: Effects of synthetic retinoids on the growth of bacteria and their susceptibility to antibiotics. J Chemother 1989;1:374–376.
- 17 McGinley KJ, Webster GF, Leyden JJ: Regional variations of cutaneous propionibacteria. Appl Environ Microbiol 1974;35:62–65.

# **Comedolytic Effect of Topical Retinaldehyde in the Rhino Mouse Model**

L. Fort-Lacoste Y. Verscheure J. Tisne-Versailles R. Navarro

Centre Expérimental et Pharmacocinétique de Campans, Castres, France

# **Key Words**

Rhino mouse • Retinaldehyde • Topical preparation • Acne

# Abstract

**Background:** Retinaldehyde is a key molecule in the metabolism of vitamin A by keratinocytes. In order to evaluate its range of topical activity in acne, its comedolytic effect was compared to that of retinoic acid in the same vehicle, in the rhino mouse model. *Methods:* The animals were treated on the back daily for 5 consecutive days per week for 3 weeks. At the end of this period, histological slides were analyzed in order to quantify the features of comedones and epidermal thickness. *Results:* Topical treatment with a retinaldehyde (0.05% w/w) and a retinoic acid formulation (0.025% w/w) induced comedolysis and increased the epidermal thickness with the same intensity. *Conclusion:* These data indicate that retinaldehyde exerts a significant comedolytic activity.

# Introduction

Topical retinoids are a classic in the treatment of acne; since irritation is a frequent side effect of retinoic acid, new synthetic retinoids have been developed in order to improve the local tolerance [1]. Retinaldehyde, a key intermediate

# KARGER

Fax +41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 1999 S. Karger AG, Basel 1018–8665/99/1997–0033\$17.50/0

Accessible online at: http://BioMedNet.com/karger molecule in the metabolism of natural vitamin A by keratinocytes, has been shown to be well tolerated by human skin [2]. The range of its biological activities has been analyzed.

The aim of this study was thus to compare its comedolytic efficacy with retinoic acid in the rhino mouse model, which is acknowledged as an effective model to evaluate anti-acneic products [3, 4].

#### **Materials and Methods**

#### Preparations

All-*trans*-retinoic acid (RA) was obtained from Aldrich and all*trans*-retinaldehyde (RAL) from BASF. Three O/W emulsions containing paraffin oil, caprylic/capric triglyceride and safflower oil as major emollients, propylene glycol as humectant and phenoxyethanol/ parabens as preservative were compounded: RAL preparation (0.05% w/w), RA preparation (0.025% w/w), control preparation.

#### Animals

Rhino mice, aged 4–6 weeks at the start of the experiments, were obtained from the Centre de Production Animale (Olivet, France). Food and water were available ad libitum. The diet used (AO4) was supplied by the UAR (Villemoisson-sur-Orge, France). Four groups of 10 mice were constituted: one group treated by RAL 0.05%, by RA 0.025%, by vehicle and an untreated group. After 4 days of acclimatization, the animals were placed in individual cages in a conditioned room (temperature  $22 \pm 2$  °C).

#### Treatment

 $50 \mu l$  of preparation were applied, with a gloved finger, on the dorsal skin of the animal, once daily for 5 consecutive days per week (excluding Saturday and Sunday) during 3 weeks.

L. Fort-Lacoste Centre Expérimental et Pharmacocinétique de Campans Bel Air de Campans F–81106 Castres Cedex (France)

![](_page_32_Figure_0.jpeg)

**Fig. 1.** Number of comedones and repartition of the maximal diameter (D) of these comedones. <sup>a</sup>p < 0.05: comparison treated groups versus vehicle; <sup>b</sup>p < 0.05: comparison treated groups versus untreated group. Values are means  $\pm$  SD.

![](_page_32_Figure_2.jpeg)

**Fig. 2 a–c.** Comedo profiles (r = d/D). See text for details; dp = Depth.

**Table 1.** Image analysis of epidermalparameters in the rhino mouse skin

Treatment	n	Comedones (by cm)	Comedo profile $(r = d/D)$	Epidermal thickness μm
Untreated Vehicle RA 0.025% RAL 0.05%	10 10 10 10	$\begin{array}{l} 61.12 \pm 5.40 \\ 64.14 \pm 5.92 \\ 26.61 \pm 5.99^{a,b} \\ 28.09 \pm 2.76^{a,b} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.55 \pm 0.08 \\ 0.73 \pm 0.14 \\ 1.16 \pm 0.07^{a,b} \\ 1.32 \pm 0.13^{a,b} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 25.33 \pm 3.85 \\ 29.18 \pm 3.12 \\ 54.15 \pm 4.62^{a,b} \\ 51.64 \pm 4.62^{a,b} \end{array}$

 $^ap$  < 0.05: comparison treated groups versus vehicle;  $^bp$  < 0.05: comparison treated groups versus untreated group. Values are means  $\pm$  SD.

#### Skin Biopsies

At the end of the treatment, the mice were sacrificed by cervical dislocation and the dorsal skin was removed. Skin biopsies (6 mm) were taken from the treated area, fixed in 10% formalin and embedded in paraffin. Three 3- $\mu$ m-thick slices were prepared from each biopsy at 150- $\mu$ m intervals. Slices were stained with the Lillie-Pasternak met hod (buffer medium: pH = 4).

#### Image Analysis

An axiomat Zeiss microscope, with a micrometric equipment, was used to determine the following parameters: the number of epidermal comedones reported by centimeters of skin; D = maximal diameter of epidermal comedones or the diameter taken at half depth; r = comedoprofile = d/D where d was the diameter of the surface orifice. A semiautomatic image analysis system, Morphomat 10 Zeiss, coupled to the microscope was used for the determination, in the intercomedo areas, of the surface (S) of the epidermis and the length (L) of the corresponding basal layer. The epidermal thickness was evaluated by the ratio S/L.

Statistical analyses between groups were performed using an analysis of variance followed, when useful, by a Bonferroni test (Sigmastat<sup>®</sup>, Jandel GmbH, Erkrath, Germany).

#### Results

The data of the parameters number, r and the epidermal thickness ratio S/L are shown in table 1. The maximal diameter of the comedones is represented in figure 1.

#### Number of Comedones

The two preparations, RAL 0.05% and RA 0.025%, induced a statistically significant reduction of the number of comedones compared to the vehicle and untreated groups. No statistical difference was found between the two active preparations.

#### Maximal Diameter of Comedones

As shown in figure 1, the repartition of the diameter of the comedones was the same for RAL- and RA-treated

#### References

- Shalita A, Weiss JS, Chalker DK, Ellis CN, Greenspan A, Katz HI, Kantor I, Millikan LE, Swinehart T, Swinyer L, Whitmore C, Baker M, Czernilewski J: Comparison of the efficacy and safety of adapalene gel 0.1% and tretinoin gel 0.025% in the treatment of acne vulgaris: A multicenter trial. J Am Acad Dermatol 1996; 34:482–485.
- 2 Saurat JH, Didierjean L, Masgrau E, Piletta PA, Jaconi S, Châtellard-Gruaz D, Gumowski D, Masonyé I, Salomon D, Siegenthaler G: Topical retinaldehyde on human skin: Biological effects and tolerance. J Invest Dermatol 1994; 103:770–774.
- Mezick JA, Bhatia MC, Shea LM: Anti-acne activity of retinoids in the rhino mouse; in Maibach HI, Lowe NJ (eds): Models in Dermatology. Basel, Karger, 1985, vol 2, pp 59–63.
   Bouclier M, Chatelus A, Ferracin L Delain C.
- Bouclier M, Chatelus A, Ferracin J, Delain C, Shroot B, Hensby NC: Quantification of epidermal histological changes induced by topical retinoids and CD 271 in the rhino mouse model using a standardized image analysis technique. Skin Pharmacol 1991;4:65–73.

groups: 95% of comedones at 35–55  $\mu$ m, 5% of comedones at 110–150  $\mu$ m. Vehicle and untreated groups showed the following profile: 95% of comedones at 150–190  $\mu$ m, 5% of comedones at 75–90  $\mu$ m.

#### Comedo Profile

The r parameter is related to the comedolytic effect of the preparation [3, 4]: if r is equal or superior to 1, the compound is considered as comedolytic (fig. 2). This parameter was statistically modified by the two compounds: RAL and RA induced the transformation of closed comedones into open comedones with an r value equal or superior to 1, demonstrating a comedolytic effect. There was no statistical difference in the intensities of action of the two compounds.

#### Epidermal Thickness

This parameter is increased by the two active preparations with the same intensity and was not affected by the vehicle (table 1).

# Discussion

In this study, RAL 0.05% applied topically exerted the same activity profile than RA 0.025%, namely a comedolytic and an epidermal thickening effect. On all the parameters studied, RAL had the same activity as RA; further studies on dose-dependent activity would be interesting to perform. These effects are those of retinoids, due to an induction of epidermal cell proliferation which is specific to retinoid treatment and well known in the rhino mouse model [5].

These results support the topical use of RAL in the treatment of acne. Actually, RAL is better tolerated than RA and has also, in addition to its retinoid action, an antibacterial profile especially against *Propionibacterium acnes* [6].

- 5 Ashton R, Connor M, Lowe NJ: Histologic changes in the skin of the rhino mouse (hr<sup>rh</sup> hr<sup>rh</sup>) induced by retinoids. J Invest Dermatol 1984; 82:632–635.
- 6 Pechère M, Sigenthaler G, Pechère JC, Saurat JH: Antibacterial effect of retinaldehyde and derivatives (abstract). J Invest Dermatol 1996; 106:912.

# Efficacy of Topical 0.05% Retinaldehyde in Skin Aging by Ultrasound and Rheological Techniques

S. Diridollou<sup>a</sup> M.-P. Vienne<sup>b</sup> M. Alibert<sup>c</sup> C. Aquilina<sup>c</sup> A. Briant<sup>c</sup> S. Dahan<sup>c</sup> P. Denis<sup>c</sup> B. Launais<sup>c</sup> V. Turlier<sup>a</sup> P. Dupuy<sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Jean-Louis Alibert Center and <sup>b</sup>Department of Clinical Research, Pierre Fabre Research Institute, and <sup>c</sup>Private practice, Toulouse, France

# **Key Words**

Retinaldehyde • Photoaging • Echography • Elasticity • Stiffness • Skin thickness

# Abstract

Background: The natural precursor of retinoic acid, i.e. retinaldehyde, has been proven to exert retinoid activities. Aim and Methods: The aim of this prospective instrument study was to determine the effect of topical retinaldehyde 0.05% on the physical properties of aging skin. This was performed using two devices, namely a high-resolution (70-80 µm) ultrasound scanner, which visualizes the thickness of both the epidermis and the dermis, and an echorheometer, which assesses the stiffness and elasticity of the skin by suction. In a 1-year study, 21 patients applied retinaldehyde cream 0.05% on the face, while another group of 19 volunteers were only treated with an emollient (control group). Epidermal and dermal thicknesses were measured on the forehead and temple, and stiffness and elasticity were measured on the forehead only. All the instrumental parameters were assessed at baseline and at the end of treatment. **Results:** Compared to the control group, retinaldehyde treatment induced a significant increase in epidermal thickness of the temple, as well as in cutaneous elasticity (p < 0.01). Similarly, retinaldehyde treatment tended to increase dermal thickness and reduce cutaneous stiff-

# KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com 1018-8665/99/1997-0037\$17.50/0 Accessible online at:

http://BioMedNet.com/karger

© 1999 S. Karger AG, Basel

ness, but no statistical difference could be observed between the two groups. *Conclusion:* Taken together, the results further suggest that retinaldehyde has counteracting effects on skin aging.

# Introduction

Chronological skin aging and chronic exposure to sunlight induce skin changes that are probably interrelated [1]. These include skin atrophy [2], reduction of elasticity [3] and an increase in cutaneous stiffness [4, 5]. These alterations result in clinical modifications of the skin, including wrinkling, color changes (yellowing, uneven pigmentation) and laxity of the skin.

Topical retinoic acid was the first substance which associates clinical improvement of skin appearance with histological changes [1, 6]. In a recent clinical trial, the natural precursor of retinoic acid, retinaldehyde, has also been proven to be effective in the reduction of facial wrinkles [7]. The aim of this prospective instrumental study was to evaluate the effects of topical retinaldehyde on skin aging and photoaging, using noninvasive techniques such as cutaneous echography and echorheometry.

Patrick Dupuy, MD Pierre Fabre Research Institute, Allée Camille-Soula, BP 74, Vigoulet Auzil F–31322 Castanet Tolosan Cedex (France) Tel. +33 5 61 75 52 85, Fax +33 5 61 75 52 52 E-Mail patrick.dupuy@pierre-fabre.com

![](_page_35_Figure_0.jpeg)

**Fig. 1.** A typical example of the modulation of retinaldehyde 0.05% before (**A**) and after (**B**) the 1-year treatment on the temple, using a 20-MHz ultrasound technique. Three echobands were observed: a = the gel-stratum corneum interface, b = the epidermis-dermis interface and c = the dermis-hypodermis interface.**A**Epidermis = 110 µm; dermis = 1.42 mm.**B**Epidermis = 130 µm; dermis = 1.58 mm.

**Table 1.** Demographic data and baseline values of the physical parameters in the study population (n = 40)

	Retinaldehyde	Control
Patients, n	21	19
Age, years	$47.4 \pm 4.93$	$47.1 \pm 5.47$
Weight, kg	$53.9 \pm 4.2$	$56.5\pm6.0$
Height, cm	$160.3 \pm 3.1$	$160 \pm 4.5$
Type of skin, n		
Dry	9	6
Normal/mixed	12	11
Greasy	0	2
Instrumental values		
Forehead epidermis thickness, µm	$96 \pm 4$	$98 \pm 5$
Temple epidermis thickness, µm	$106 \pm 3$	$97 \pm 4$
Forehead dermis thickness, mm	$1.4 \pm 0.05$	$1.58\pm0.05$
Temple dermis thickness, mm	$1.24 \pm 0.05$	$1.41\pm0.05$
Elasticity index, arbitrary units	$0.35 \pm 0.01$	$0.32\pm0.01$
Stiffness, kPa	$218\pm20$	$220 \pm 19$
Results are expressed as means ± SEM	1.	

#### Methods

The study population comprised women over 35 years of age, with moderate to severe photodamage. Patients applied either retinaldehyde 0.05% on their faces once daily for 1 year, or were left untreated (emollient only, control group). None of the patients had applied topical retinoids on the treatment areas for more than 4 weeks during the 6month period before the initiation of the study treatment. None had used chemical peels, exfoliants or any abrasive substance on the face within 45 days before entry into the study. Pregnant and nursing women and patients who planned to use PUVA for tanning were excluded, as well as those with suspected skin cancer or any other con-

38

dition that could interfere with their evaluation. This study was performed from January 1996 to January 1997. Patients were seen every 3 months for tolerance assessment and product supply.

Instrumental evaluation was performed at baseline and at the end of treatment (1 year). For evaluation visits, patients were asked not to apply any topical product on the face the night before. The test sites (forehead and temple) were precisely located using a transparent plastic film that was positioned according to skin features (moles, hair line and eyebrows). Thicknesses of the dermis and epidermis on the temple and the forehead were measured using a high-resolution B mode 20-MHz ultrasonic device (DermCup 2020<sup>®</sup>, 2MT, Toulouse, France) [8, 9]. The resolution of the apparatus (axial 70-80 µm, lateral 200-300 µm) allowed observance of the two echos from the gel-stratum corneum and epidermis-dermis interfaces, as shown in figure 1. Thus, the assessment of the epidermal and the dermal thicknesses was made possible by the measurements of the length  $(\mu m)$  between the echos. Stiffness and elasticity of the skin on the forehead were evaluated using an echorheometer, i.e. combining the ultrasound technique (20 MHz) and a deformation system under standard suction conditions. The echorheometer allowed measurement of the kinetics of vertical displacement of the skin under suction. From this kinetics profile, two independent parameters were determined: (i) the stiffness which is Young's modulus, as a reflectance of the resistance of the skin to the suction; (ii) the elasticity index, calculated by an algorithm which reflects the skin recovery of its initial state after suction. These two parameters, which describe the intrinsic mechanical properties of the skin, are independent of its thickness. Full details of the technique and of the mechanical parameters are described elsewhere [9-11]. For each measurement, the relative humidity (mean  $\pm$  SD: 39  $\pm$  7%) and temperature  $(23 \pm 2 \degree C)$  of the room were standardized. All measurements were made by the same investigator.

Results of the study parameters were expressed as means  $\pm$  SEM. Changes from baseline were analyzed using Student's test and the Wilcoxon test, according to the normal and nonnormal distribution of the values, respectively. Differences between the retinaldehyde and the control group were analyzed using the Bonferroni test.

#### Results

A total of 44 women were enrolled in the study. Among the enrolled population, 4 patients were excluded from the study, because they applied nonpermitted products ( $\alpha$ hydroxy acids or retinoic acid). No patient was withdrawn from the study because of adverse events. Accordingly, 40 patients, with 21 patients in the retinaldehyde group and 19 in the control group, constituted the standard analysis population. At baseline, the two study groups were found to be comparable in their demographics and instrumental values (table 1).

Changes from baseline of the instrumental parameters after 1 year (end of treatment) are illustrated in figures 2–5. Globally, epidermal thickness on the forehead was increased in the retinaldehyde group by about 10% (p = 0.005) and in the control group by about 4% (nonsignificant, fig. 2).

![](_page_36_Figure_7.jpeg)

**Fig. 2.** Mean changes from baseline of epidermal thickness ( $\pm$  SEM) on the forehead and the temple, in the retinaldehyde group and the control group. For the intragroup analysis, p values are represented in the graph. For the intergroup analysis, only a statistically significant difference in favor of retinaldehyde was observed on the temple (p < 0.01).

![](_page_36_Figure_9.jpeg)

**Fig. 3.** Mean changes from baseline of dermal thickness ( $\pm$  SEM) on the forehead and the temple, in the retinaldehyde group and the control group. For the intragroup analysis, p values are represented in the graph. For the intergroup analysis, no statistically significant difference was observed at both sites.

![](_page_37_Figure_0.jpeg)

**Fig. 4.** Mean changes from baseline of stiffness ( $\pm$  SEM) on the forehead, in the retinaldehyde group and the control group. For the intragroup analysis (comparison to baseline), p values are represented in the graph. For the intergroup analysis, no statistically significant difference was observed.

**Fig. 5.** Mean changes from baseline of elasticity ( $\pm$  SEM) on the forehead, in the retinaldehyde group and the control group. For the intragroup analysis (comparison to baseline), p values are represented in the graph. For the intergroup analysis, a significant difference in favor of retinaldehyde was observed (p < 0.01).

On the temple, epidermal thickness was not significantly changed in each group (fig. 2). By contrast, in the intergroup analysis epidermal thickness on the temple was found to be significantly greater with retinaldehyde compared to the control (p < 0.01), but not on the forehead. Similarly, retinaldehyde treatment tended to increase dermal thickness on the forehead and the temple by around 3 and 4%, respectively (nonsignificant, fig. 3). On the contrary, the control group showed a reduction of dermal thickness on both test sites (2% decrease on the forehead, nonsignificant; 4.3% decrease on the temple, nonsignificant). No statistical difference between the groups was observed for this parameter.

Compared to baseline, skin stiffness of the forehead was significantly reduced with retinaldehyde by about 24% (p < 0.005, fig. 4). No change was demonstrated in the control group. There was no significant difference between the groups. Similarly, skin elasticity was enhanced with retinaldehyde by about 4% (p < 0.01, fig. 5), whereas it tended to be decreased in the control group (3% decrease, non-significant). A statistically significant difference between the groups was here achieved (p < 0.01).

Local tolerance was shown to be good in all patients. Indeed, only transitory scaling and/or erythema of mild severity were reported in 2 patients of the retinaldehyde group, within the first 3 months of treatment, and no patient of the control group. Consequently, no interference between the instrumental values and the tolerance results could be considered.

### Discussion

Our results indicate that retinaldehyde is able to reverse some physical alterations involved in skin aging and photoaging. Its effects were more pronounced on epidermal thickness and cutaneous elasticity than on dermal thickness and skin stiffness, all four of these being the hallmarks of the skin aging process.

Instrumental investigation of the physical properties of the skin allows the study of its physiological and pathological characteristics [12, 13]. For instance, B mode highresolution ultrasound was demonstrated to be a rapid and sensitive tool for measuring skin thickness. Its validation and reproducibility were confirmed by parallel measurements of this latter using the histological technique [14, 15]. Similarly, the echorheometer technique was validated inhouse on elastic membrane models, the mechanical properties of which had previously been calibrated [9]. Its accuracy and reproducibility were found to be satisfactory [10]. Accordingly, these two techniques appeared to be valuable systems for measuring mechanical properties of the skin. According to the literature, epidermal and dermal thicknesses [2, 16, 17] as well as elasticity of the skin decrease progressively during the long-term aging process [3], whereas skin stiffness increases [4, 18]. Globally, our data further confirm the literature, as shown in our control group. By contrast, retinaldehyde 0.05% appears to counteract the physical characteristics observed in skin aging and photoaging. In this study, because the mechanical parameters stiffness and elasticity were shown to be independent of the cutaneous thickness, it is likely that the beneficial effects of retinaldehyde are due to some recovery in the quality or density of the structures that are involved in skin suppleness and elasticity (e.g. collagen and elastic fiber network) rather than to its effect on skin thickness only. Taken together, the results confirm that retinaldehyde has restorative effects on skin aging and photoaging.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors wish to thank C. Lauze for his work in statistics and C. Masella for his help in the organization of the manuscript.

#### References

- Kligman LH, Kligman AM: The nature of photoaging: Its prevention and repair. Photodermatology 1986;3:215–227.
- 2 De Rigal J, Escoffier C, Querleux B, Faivre B, Agache P, Leveque JL: Assessment of aging of the human skin on in vivo ultrasonic imaging. J Invest Dermatol 1989;5:621–625.
- 3 Escoffier C: Age related mechanical properties of human skin: An in vivo study. J Invest Dermatol 1989;93:353–357.
- 4 Grahame R, Holt PJL: The influence of aging on the in vivo elasticity of human skin. Gerontologia 1969;15:121–139.
- 5 Alexander H, Cook TH: Variations with age in the mechanical properties of human skin in vivo; in Kennedi RM, Cowden JM, Scales JT (eds): Bed Sore. Biomechanics. New York, McMillan Press Bath, 1976, pp 109–118.
- 6 Tong PHS, Horowitz MS, Wheller LA: Transretinoic acid enhances the growth responses of epidermal keratinocytes to epidermal growth factor and transforming growth factor beta. J Invest Dermatol 1990;87:663–667.
- 7 Creidi P, Vienne MP, Ochonisky S, Lauze C, Turlier V, Lagarde JM, Dupuy P: Profilometric evaluation of photodamage after retinaldehyde and retinoic acid topical treatments. J Am Acad Dermatol 1998;39:960–965.

- 8 Berson M, Vaillant V, Patat F, Pourcelot L: High-resolution real time ultrasonic scanner. Ultrasound Med Biol 1992;18:471–478.
- 9 Diridollou S: Etude du comportement mécanique cutané par technique ultrasonore haute résolution; thesis, François Rabelais University, Tours, 1994.
- 10 Diridollou S, Berson M, Vabre V, Black D, Karlsson B, Auriol F, Grégoire JM, Yvon C, Vaillant L, Gall Y, Patat F: An in vivo method for measuring the mechanical properties of the skin using ultrasound. Ultrasound Med Biol 1998;24:215–224.
- 11 Diridollou S, Patat F, Gens F, Black D, Lagarde JM, Gall Y, Berson M: In vivo model of the mechanical properties of the skin under suction. Submitted.
- 12 Callens A, Vaillant L. Lecomte P, Berson M, Gall Y, Lorette G: Does hormonal skin aging exist? A study of the influence of different hormone therapy regimens on the skin of postmenopausal women using non-invasive measurement techniques. Dermatology 1996;193: 289–294.

- 13 Serup J, Northeved A: Skin elasticity in localized scleroderma morphoea: Introduction of a biaxial in vivo method for measurement of tensile distensibility, hysteresis and resilient distention of diseased and normal skin. J Dermatol 1985;12:52–62.
- 14 Tan CY, Statham B, Marks R, Payne PA: Skin thickness measurement by pulsed ultrasound: Its reproducibility, validation and variability. Br J Dermatol 1982;106:657–667.
- 15 Rippon MG, Springett K, Walmsley R, Patrick K, Millson S: Ultrasound assessment of skin and wound tissue: Comparison with histology. Skin Res Technol 1998;4:147–154.
- 16 Marks R: Measurement of biological aging in human epidermis. Br J Dermatol 1981;104: 627–633.
- 17 Richard S, De Rigal J, De Lacharrière O, Berardesca E, Lévêque JJ: Noninvasive measurement of the effect of lifetime exposure to the sun on the aged skin. Photodermatol Photoimmunol Photomed 1994;10:164–169.
- 18 Agache P, Monneur C, Lévêque JL, De Rigal J: Mechanical properties and Young's modulus of human skin in vivo. Arch Dermatol Res 1980; 69:221–232.

# Repair of UVA-Induced Elastic Fiber and Collagen Damage by 0.05% Retinaldehyde Cream in an ex vivo Human Skin Model

S. Boisnic<sup>a,b</sup> M.-C. Branchet-Gumila<sup>a,b</sup> Y. Le Charpentier<sup>a</sup> C. Segard<sup>c</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Department of Pathology, Hôpital Pitié-Salpêtrière, and <sup>b</sup>Groupe de Recherche en Dermatologie et Cosmétologie, Paris, and <sup>c</sup>Laboratoires Dermatologiques Avène, Castres, France

# **Key Words**

Retinaldehyde • Normal human skin • Ex vivo model • Organ culture • Collagen • Elastic fibers • Ultraviolet light • Photoaging

# Abstract

Background: Cellular effects of UV exposure are implicated in cutaneous aging. UV radiations induce structural and cellular changes in all the compartments of skin. Aim: To study the antiaging efficacy of a cream containing 0.05% retinaldehyde with an ex vivo technique using human skin in order to approximate in vivo metabolic conditions. Methods: Human skin explants were maintained alive in organ culture for 18 days and subjected to UVA exposure, thus simulating skin photoaging. Retinaldehyde cream was then applied to the surface of the epidermis for 2 weeks and the results were compared with those of nontreated skin explants. Dermal repair was analyzed histologically with quantification of collagen and elastic fibers, and biochemically by the measure of newly synthesized collagen as shown by adding tritiated proline to the culture medium. Results: UVA exposure induced significant alterations of collagen and elastic fibers as shown by morphometric analysis. In all UVA-exposed and then retinaldehyde-treated skin

# KARGER

Fax +41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 1999 S. Karger AG, Basel 1018–8665/99/1997–0043\$17.50/0 Accessible online at:

http://BioMedNet.com/karger

specimens, collagen and elastic fibers were restored to the level of nonexposed skin. UVA exposure induced a decrease in collagen synthesis, whereas in retinaldehyde-treated UVA-exposed skin the synthesis was similar to that of unexposed skin. **Conclusion:** It has been shown that retinaldehyde has many of the properties of tretinoin in its biological and beneficial effects on photoaging. We have verified some of these previous observations, especially on dermal connective tissue, by obtaining significant repair of elastic fibers and collagen alteration induced by UVA exposure.

#### Introduction

The effectiveness of topical tretinoin (all-*trans*-retinoic acid) in treating the consequences of photoaging in human skin is now well known, demonstrated by animal, clinical as well as by in vitro studies [1, 2]. Indeed, histological epidermal changes have been described in tretinoin-treated human subjects, i.e. increased epidermal thickness, increased granular layer thickness, decreased melanin content and stratum corneum compaction [3]. At the dermal level, improvement of connective tissue was observed in tretinoin-treated photodamaged skin [4] as well as increased glycosaminoglycans

S. Boisnic Service d'Anatomopathologie, Hôpital Pitié-Salpêtrière 47, bd de l'Hôpital F-75651 Paris Cedex 13 (France) Tel. +33 01 42 17 77 75, Fax +33 01 42 17 79 28 [5], new collagen formation (types I and III) [6, 7] and improvement of elastic fibers [4].

Retinaldehyde, an intermediate between retinol and retinoic acid, is known to have biological activity close to that of retinoic acid in mouse [8] and human skin [9]. Retinaldehyde has also been shown in vivo to improve photoaged skin [10] and to achieve this improvement on a par with retinoic acid in a double-blind study but with a better patient tolerance [11].

To analyze some biochemical events that can explain these findings, we have tested a 0.05% retinaldehyde cream in an ex vivo model, thereby avoiding the need for animal testing and reducing the need for further in vivo testing. This model consisted of full-thickness normal human skin fragments obtained from plastic surgery and maintained in long-term organ culture for 21 days and exposed to UVA, thus simulating skin photoaging [12]. With this method, we have induced alterations of elastic fibers and collagen [12] similar to that observed during the acute phase of UVinduced alterations [13].

#### **Materials and Methods**

#### Organ Culture of Human Skin Specimens

Our original culture method is based on previous studies [14, 15]. We adapted these methods to obtain full-thickness skin surviving for 18 days in cultures with both epidermal and dermal structures resembling normal in vivo skin [16]. Eight normal human skin fragments were obtained from plastic surgery in women 35–45 years of age. Skin fragments were cut into 1-cm<sup>2</sup> full-thickness pieces and washed three times with antibiotics. Subcutaneous fat and lower dermis were mechanically removed under a stereomicroscope using a surgical scalpel.

Skin explants were placed with the epithelium uppermost, at an air/liquid interface, on culture inserts (filter pore size 12  $\mu$ m; Costar, Poly-Labo Paul Block, France). These inserts were set on 12-well plates (Costar) for 18 days at 37 °C in a humidified incubator with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Cohesion between skin and insert was obtained with a polysiloxane vinyl seal in such a way that no skin retraction or lateral passage of the cream towards the dermis was possible.

Medium was added to the wells so that the surface of the medium was level with the filter. Organ cultures were performed with Dulbecco's minimal essential medium (Gibco BRL) containing antibotics (100 U/ml penicillin and 100  $\mu$ g/ml streptomycin; Gibco BRL, USA), 200  $\mu$ g/ml *L*-glutamine (Gibco BRL), bovine pituitary extract, growth factors and fetal calf serum (DAP, France) [14–18]. All supplements were freshly made at each medium change every 2 days.

#### UVA Radiation

To obtain premature aging of the skin with dermal alterations, we used UVA radiation, known to induce changes in the middle and deep dermis [12]. The source of UV radiation was a Vilbert Lourmat stimulator (France) fitted out with a UVA irradiation source (365 nm) composed of Vilbert Lourmat tubes T-20, L-365 (no UVB and no UVC emission) mercury vapor tubes, low pressure, hot cathodes with a Vilbert Lourmat RMX-365/312 radiometer. The radiometer was associ-

ated with a microprocessor programmable in energy (mJ/cm<sup>2</sup>), with time basis enabling 6 irradiation measurements per second for controlling the energy received by the skin fragment. For skins receiving UVA from day 0 to day 4, 2 irradiations were administered at 12 J/cm<sup>2</sup> so that they received in totality 24 J/cm<sup>2</sup>. This UV radiation is sufficient to induce reproducible alterations in the dermis, as previously described [12].

#### Application of 0.05% Retinaldehyde Cream

From day 4 to day 18 following UVA irradiations, a formulation containing 0.05% retinaldehyde (Ystheal<sup>®</sup> cream, Pierre Fabre) was applied to the epidermis 5 days a week at the dose of 2 mg/cm<sup>2</sup>, followed by a slight massage.

#### Analysis of Dermal Repair

After 18 days, skin fragments were removed from the culture inserts and the effects of retinaldehyde cream were studied both histologically and biochemically.

Histological Study of Elastic Fibers and Collagen Bundles. Skin fragments were fixed in Bouin's solution and embedded in paraffin. Serial sections of 4  $\mu$ m thickness were obtained and stained for the elastic fiber and collagen study. Five sections were compared for each skin fragment. The elastic fiber network was revealed with (+)-cate-chin staining [19]. Collagen was stained with a picric acid solution containing 0.1% sirius red [20].

For a quantitative analysis, a computerized image analysis was made. The stained slides were examined by a microscope (Leitz; magnification  $\times$  160) connected with a camera unit (XC-75 CE type) and with a microprocessor (Q520). Approximately, 15–25 fields were analyzed for each skin section. For elastic fiber analysis, two regions were studied: the superficial dermis, reaching to the dermoepidermal basement membrane, containing mainly oxytalan and elaunin fibers, and the middle dermis containing small horizontal reticular elastic fibers, as defined by Cotta-Pereira et al. [21].

The surfaces of elastic fibers and collagen bundles were measured per square micrometer. Then, the relative elastic fiber or collagen content of the dermis was expressed as percentage of surface: area of elastic fibers or collagen per unit area of analyzed dermis [22, 23].

Collagen Synthesis. Fibroblastic activity for collagen synthesis was analyzed after 18 days survival of ex vivo cultures. Skin biopsies were removed from inserts, put directly in the wells and 20  $\mu$ Ci/ml of *L*-proline-/2, 3-<sup>3</sup>H) (Amersham, France, 1 mCi/ml, specific activity 43 Ci/mmol) with 100  $\mu$ g/ml ascorbic acid and 50  $\mu$ g/ml  $\beta$ -aminopropionitrile were added in the culture medium for 24 h. Extracellular <sup>3</sup>H-proline-labeled collagen was extracted by the addition of 1 mg/ml pepsin in 0.5 *M* acetic acid on the biopsies over 48 h at 4 °C. Then, the <sup>3</sup>H-proline-labeled collagen was purified by Webster's method consisting of successive salt precipitations at acid and neutral pH [24]. Radioactivity in each precipitate was measured in a liquid scintillation counter and expressed in disintegrations per minute (dpm). Total protein concentration was measured by spectrophotometric determination with the Pierce BCA protein Assay Reagent kit and finally results were expressed in dpm per milligram protein.

#### Statistical Analysis

Mean values and standard deviations were calculated for each parameter. The statistical significance of changes recorded in the parameters were determined with paired Student's t test (p < 0.05).

Three groups were compared: a normal group (untreated skin), a control group (UVA-exposed skin) and a treated group (UVA-exposed

**Table 1.** Morphometric analysis of elastic fibers

	Superficial dermis		Mid dermis	
	surface, µm <sup>2</sup>	%	surface, µm <sup>2</sup>	%
Nonexposed nontreated skin	4,385 ± 1,315	4	5,316 ± 1,087	4.9
Skin exposed to UVA	$3,065 \pm 441$	2.8	$4,488 \pm 945$	4.1
Skin exposed to UVA and treated by retinaldehyde	4,233 ± 1,291*	3.88	5,518 ± 772*	5

\*p < 0.005: difference statistically significant in comparison with UVA-exposed skin (paired Student's t test). Surface ( $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup>) and percentage of surface occupied by elastic fibers per square micrometer of dermis ± SD.

skin, then treated with 0.05% retinaldehyde). Comparison was made between normal and control groups to verify the validity of the method. For evaluation of the retinaldehyde cream efficacy, comparison was made between control and treated groups.

#### Results

# Computerized Image Analysis of Elastic Fiber Network and Collagen Bundles

*Elastic Fibers.* As shown in table 1, UVA exposure induced alterations of connective tissue, particularly on elastic fibers. There was a decrease in the elastic fiber network, with fragmentation of elastic fibers (fig. 1). This observation was confirmed by morphometric analysis: after UVA radiation only 2.8% of the dermal area was occupied by elastic fibers, in contrast to 4.0% in nonexposed skin.

In all UVA-exposed and then retinaldehyde-treated skin specimens, elastic fibers stained intensely positive for catechin and tended to be longer and thicker (fig. 2) as compared with UVA-exposed, nontreated specimens. These results were confirmed by morphometric analysis: the surface occupied by elastic fibers in UVA-exposed and retinaldehyde-treated skins was significantly higher (3.88%) than in altered, nontreated skin in the superficial dermis (2.8%; p <0.05). We obtained similar results in the middle dermis, where the elastic fiber network was significantly increased and better organized.

*Collagen Bundles.* As shown in table 2 UVA exposure induced important alterations of collagen bundles (fig. 3). Histologically, they became thinner and disorganized in the dermis. The surface occuppied by collagen decreased after UVA exposure (52.25%) in comparison with normal skin (66.75%; p <0.05). The surface occupied by collagen in UVA-altered and retinaldehyde-treated skins is significantly higher (71.15%) than in UVA-altered skin (p <0.05; fig. 4).

Table 2. Morphometric analysis of collagen

	Surface µm <sup>2</sup>	Surface occupied by collagen, %
Nonexposed nontreated skin	$72,750 \pm 20,521$	66.75
Skin exposed to UVA	$56,962 \pm 14,493^{a}$	52.25
Skin exposed to UVA and	$77,542 \pm 11,810^{b}$	71.15
treated by retinaldehyde		

 $^ap < 0.05$ : difference statistically significant in comparison with nonexposed skin (paired Student's t test);  $^bp < 0.05$ : difference statistically significant in comparison with UVA-exposed skin (paired Student's t test). Surface ( $\mu m^2$ ) and percentage of surface occupied by collagen per square micrometer of dermis  $\pm$  SD.

#### Table 3. Collagen synthesis (dpm/mg protein)

Nonexposed nontreated skin	37,128 ± 11,157
Skin exposed to UVA	$25,105 \pm 10,866^{a}$
Skin exposed to UVA and treated by retinaldehyde	$38,014 \pm 10,182^{b}$

 $^{a}p < 0.05$ : difference statistically significant in comparison with normal skin (paired Student's t test);  $^{b}p < 0.05$ : difference statistically significant in comparison with UVA-altered skin (paired Student's t test).

#### Collagen Synthesis

The results of collagen synthesis are given in table 3. Extracellular <sup>3</sup>H-proline-labeled collagen measured by the Webster method was significantly decreased after UVA radiation in comparison with normal skin. In UVA-exosed and retinaldehyde-treated skin, collagen synthesis reached a higher level than in UVA-exposed, nontreated skin.

Dermatology 1999;199(suppl 1):43-48

![](_page_42_Picture_0.jpeg)

Dermatology 1999;199(suppl 1):43-48

Boisnic/Branchet-Gumila/Le Charpentier/ Segard

# Discussion

The ex vivo method of long-term skin culture used in this work offers several advantages. Since this technique is close to the in vivo environment, human biopsies might be avoided and animals spared. Topical formulations can be applied directly on the epidermis, reproducing conditions of application of topical products on human skin in vivo [16].

The most striking UV alterations relate to the fibrous components of the dermis: elastic fibers and collagen degeneration were found to be hallmark events. In our ex vivo human skin model, we have simulated early UVA alterations, obtaining fragmentation and disappearance of collagen and elastic fibers in the superficial and middle dermis, in comparison with unexposed skin [12]. This premature skin aging observed after two UVA exposures could be explained by the increased expression of matrix metalloproteinases. Indeed, these proteinases were reported to be rapidly stimulated (92-kD gelatinase and stromelysin) in the human connective tissue and the outer epidermal layers only 24 h after a single UV exposure [16]. In consequence, a degradation of endogenous type I collagen fibrils was increased by 58% in the irradiated skin, as compared with nonirradiated skin, and which remained elevated for at least 72 h [16].

Moreover, fibroblast metabolism was also modified in skin submitted to UVA irradiations in our model, with a decrease of about 32.4% in tritiated hydroxyproline incorporation in newly synthesized collagen. Our data confirm the immunohistochemical results obtained in a previous clinical study, where collagen type I formation was 56% less in the papillary dermis of photodamaged skin [7].

Although photodamaged skin was believed to be irreversibly altered, studies have found that tretinoin (all-*trans*retinoic acid) is capable of enhancing the repair of UV-damaged connective tissue in the hairless mouse [4]. Clinical studies have also shown that topically applied tretinoin [25] or isotretinoin [26] are effective treatments of photodamage in humans. Histological changes have confirmed the biological activity of topically applied tretinoin in photodamaged

**Fig. 1.** Skin altered by UVA (control group): elastic fibers stained by (+)-catechin. × 160.

**Fig. 2.** Skin altered by UVA, then treated by a 0.05% retinaldehyde cream (treated group): elastic fibers stained by (+)-catechin. × 160.

**Fig. 3.** Skin altered by UVA (control group): collagen stained by sirius red. ×160.

**Fig. 4.** Skin altered by UVA and treated by a 0.05% retinaldehyde cream (treated group): collagen stained by sirius red.  $\times 160$ .

Antiphotoaging Activity of Retinaldehyde Evaluated in an ex vivo Model skin [25]. Indeed, animal studies have revealed deposition of new papillary dermal collagen and elastin [4]. A human clinical study using immunohistochemical analysis has shown that 0.1% tretinoin cream topically applied not only restored collagen synthesis but also promoted clinical improvement by repairing dermal collagen [7].

It has been shown that retinaldehyde has many of the properties of tretinoin in its biological and beneficial effects on photoaging [8–11]. We have verified some of these previous observations especially on dermal connective tissue, by obtaining significant repair of elastic fibers and collagen alteration induced by UVA exposure. Moreover, synthesis of collagen was increased as demonstrated by a higher incorporation of tritiated proline by dermal fibroblasts.

This study confirms the reparative efficacy of 0.05% retinaldehyde cream topically applied in a surviving skin model where dermal alterations were induced by UVA radiation. An additional study should be useful for evaluating the efficacy of 0.05% retinaldehyde cream on epidermal damage following UVB irradiation in the same ex vivo skin model, since epidermal damage has previously been shown to improve with tretinoin treatment [3].

#### Acknowledgments

We wish to thank Mrs. A. Lesot, M. Quignon and N. Vignot for their technical assistance in immunochemistry.

#### References

- 1 Weiss JS, Ellis CN, Goldfarb MT, Voorhees JJ: Tretinoin treatment of photodamaged skin. Dermatol Clin 1991;9:123–129.
- 2 Bhawan J: Short- and long-term histologic effects of topical tretinoin on photodamaged skin. Int J Dermatol 1998;37:286–292.
- 3 Bhawan J, Gonzalez-Serva A, Nehal K, Labadie R, Lufrano L, Thorne G, Gilchrest B: Effects of tretinoin on photodamaged skin. Arch Dermatol 1991;127:666–672.
- 4 Kligman LH, Chen HD, Kligman AM: Topical retinoic acid enhances the repair of ultraviolet damaged dermal connective tissue. Connect Tissue 1984;12:139–150.
- 5 Weiss JS, Ellis CN, Headington JT, Tincoff T, Hamilton TA, Voorhees JJ: Topical tretinoin improves photoaged skin: A double-blind vehicle-controlled study. JAMA 1988;259:527– 532.
- 6 Kligman AM, Grove GL, Hirose R, Leyden JJ: Topical tretinoin for photoaged skin. J Am Acad Dermatol 1986:15:836–859.
- 7 Griffiths CEM, Russman AN, Majmudar G, Singer RS, Hamilton TA, Voorhees JJ: Restoration of collagen formation in photodamaged human skin by tretinoin (retinoic acid). N Engl J Med 1993;329:530–535.
- 8 Didierjean L, Carraux P, Grand D, Jorn OS, Saurat J-H: Topical retinaldehyde increases skin content of retinoic acid and exerts biologic activity in mouse skin. J Invest Dermatol 1996; 10:714–719.
- 9 Saurat J-H, Didierjean L, Masgrau E, Piletta PA, Jaconi S, Châtellard-Gruaz D, Gumowski D, Masouyé I, Salomon D, Siegenthaler G: Topical retinaldehyde on human skin: Biological effects and tolerance. J Invest Dermatol 1994;103:770–774.

- 10 Ochando N, LaGarde JM, Couval E, Black D, Ane MP, Gall Y: Evaluation clinique et paraclinique des effets du rétinaldéhyde topique dans le photovieillissement cutané. Nouv Dermatol 1994;13:525–535.
- 11 Creidi P, Vienne MP, Ochonisky S, Lauze C, Turlier V, LaGarde JM, Dupuy P: Profilometric evaluation of photodamaged skin after topical retinaldehyde and retinoic acid treatment. J Am Acad Dermatol 1998;39:960–965.
- 12 Boisnic S, Branchet-Gumila MC, Béranger JY, Ben Slama L: Evaluation histologique et biochimique de l'effet des UV A et UV B sur peau humaine maintenue en survie. Nouv Dermatol 1997;16(suppl REMI):21.
- 13 Fisher GJ, Wang ZQ, Datta SC, Varani J, Kang S, Voorhees JJ: Pathophysiology of premature skin aging induced by ultraviolet light. N Engl J Med 1997;337:1419–1428.
- 14 Chapman SJ, Walsh A, Beckett E, Vickers CFH: A fully differentiating epidermal model with extended viability: Development and partial characterization. J Invest Dermatol 1989; 93:762–768.
- 15 Kondo S, Hozumi Y, Aso K: Long-term organ culture of rabbit skin: Effect of EGF on epidermal structure in vitro. J Invest Dermatol 1990; 95:397–402.
- 16 Boisnic S, Branchet-Gumila MC, Ben Slama L, Le Charpentier Y: Long term culture of normal skin to test the efficacy of a hydroxy-acid containing cream. Eur J Dermatol 1997;7:271– 273.
- 17 Tammi R, Jansen CT, Santti R: Histometric analysis of human skin in organ culture. J Invest Dermatol 1979;73:138–140.

- 18 Rosdy M, Clauss LC: Terminal epidermal differentiation of human keratinocytes grown in chemically defined medium on inert filter substrates at the air-liquid interface. J Invest Dermatol 1990;95:409–414.
- 19 Godeau G: Selective staining technique for identification of human skin elastic fibers. Pathol Biol 1984;32:215–216.
- 20 Lopez de Leon A, Rojkind M: A simple micromethod for collagen and total protein determination in formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded sections. J Histochem Cytochem 1985; 33:737–743.
- 21 Cotta-Pereira G, Guerra Rodrigo E, David-Pereira JF: Oxytalan elaunin and elastic fibers in the human skin. J Invest Dermatol 1976; 66:143–148.
- 22 Frances C, Branchet MC, Boisnic S, Lesty C, Robert L: Elastic fibers in normal human skin. Variations with age: Morphometric analysis. Arch Gerontol Geriatr 1990;10:57–67.
- 23 Branchet MC, Boisnic S, Frances C, Lesty C, Robert L: Morphometric analysis of dermal collagen fibers in normal human skin as a function of age. Arch Gerontol Geriatr 1991;13: 1–14.
- 24 Webster DF, Harvey W: A quantitative assay for collagen synthesis in microwell fibroblast cultures. Anal Biochem 1979;96:220–224.
- 25 Weinstein GD, Nigra TP, Pochi PE, Savin RC, Allan A, Benik K, Jeffes E, Lufrano L, Thorne EG: Topical tretinoin for treatment of photodamaged skin. Arch Dermatol 1991;127:659– 665.
- 26 Sendagorta E, Lesiewicz J, Armstrong RB: Topical isotretinoin for photodamaged skin. J Am Acad Dermatol 1992;27:s15–s18.

# **Clinical Use of Topical Retinaldehyde on Photoaged Skin**

# P. Creidi Ph. Humbert

Department of Dermatology, Hôpital Saint-Jacques, Besançon, France

### **Key Words**

Retinaldehyde · Retinoid · Photoaging

# Abstract

**Background:** Retinaldehyde, the natural precursor of retinoic acid, should exert similar effects on photoaged skin. **Objective:** To establish the efficacy and safety of topical retinaldehyde on photoaged skin. **Methods:** Open and controlled clinical studies using image analysis of silicone skin replicas. **Results:** Retinaldehyde proved efficient and safe. **Conclusion:** Retinaldehyde is efficient and well tolerated for the improvement of the signs of photoaging.

### Introduction

Kligman et al. [1] first suggested that the application of a retinoid, all-*trans*-retinoic acid (tretinoin), could be effective for the improvement of the clinical consequences of photoaging. Subsequently, Weiss et al. [2] demonstrated in a double-blind, vehicle-controlled study that the use of a cream containing 0.1% tretinoin significantly improves photoaging, including wrinkling and roughness. Unfortunately, in clinical practice few patients are able to benefit from this treatment, due to the high incidence of topical adverse reactions: in the study by Weiss et al., 92% of the patients experienced some degree of dermatitis, with erythema, swelling, xerosis, scaling as well as sensations of burning, tingling

# KARGER

Fax +41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 1999 S. Karger AG, Basel 1018–8665/99/1997–0049\$17.50/0

Accessible online at: http://BioMedNet.com/karger and pruritus. Although other tretinoin formulations appear to be better tolerated [3], it is most frequent in daily practice that dermatitis prevents patients from prolonged use and benefit of topical tretinoin.

Retinaldehyde is the natural precursor of tretinoin and its metabolism in the skin has been extensively studied [4]. Saurat et al. [5] showed that the application of retinaldehyde on human skin exerts a biological retinoid effect. In addition, their study suggested that retinaldehyde is well tolerated in a clinical setting.

Thus, it may be hypothesized that the use of topical retinaldehyde may be beneficial to individuals complaining about clinical signs of photoaging. Preliminary open studies have been performed which confirm this hypothesis. Recently, a double-blind vehicle-controlled study has been performed, showing that the microprofile of photoaged skin is improved by retinaldehyde in a way superior to its vehicle [6]. The purpose of this paper is to review these available studies.

# **Patients and Methods**

Open Clinical and Instrumental Evaluation of the Effects of a 0.05% Retinaldehyde Cream

An open trial has been performed to study the effects of a 4-month use of a cream containing 0.05% retinaldehyde on photodamaged skin. Clinical assessments and noninvasive physiological measurements were used for evaluation. The extensive report of this study has already been published [7].

Pierre Creidi, MD Hôpital Saint-Jacques 2, place Saint-Jacques F-25030 Besançon (France) Tel. +33 3 81 21 80 99, Fax +33 3 81 21 81 63

#### Patients

Thirty-two healthy female volunteers, aged 37–65 years (mean 47 years), have been selected. They presented with one or more of the signs of facial photoaging: elastosis, solar lentigines, wrinkling.

Subjects with facial dermatoses, known allergy to any of the ingredients of the cream or those having used retinoids (topical or systemic) or steroids, as well as those having been submitted to intense sun exposure during the last 12 months were excluded from the study. 0.05% retinaldehyde cream (Ysthéal<sup>®</sup>; Laboratoires Avène, Boulogne, France) was applied on the face once daily in the evening during a 6month period. A standardized cosmetic and toilet regimen including the daily morning use of a sun protection factor (SPF) 15 sunscreen was prescribed.

#### Methods

*Clinical Assessment.* Volunteer Self-Assessment. Volunteers were asked to score from 0 (unsatisfactory) to 3 (very satisfactory) each of the following parameters: smoothing of the wrinkles, skin brightness and skin comfort.

Investigator Assessment. A clinical assessment by the investigator was performed at baseline and after 1, 3 and 6 months of treatments for the following parameters: coarse and fine wrinkling, scored according to the intensity and deepness of the wrinkles from 0 (no wrinkle) to 3 (severe wrinkling) and to the number of areas presenting with wrinkles (eyes, forehead, peribuccal area); degree of redness and telangiectasias from 0 (none) to 3 (severe); brightness (dull or radiant) and uniformity of skin color.

Instrumental Measurements. They were performed at baseline and after 1, 3 and 6 months of treatment. The precise area of assessment was strictly defined at each mesurement by means of a flexible plastic strip. These measurements include:

(1) skin surface profilometry with silicone rubber replicas which were evaluated by means of a computerized image analysis system according to the technique described by Grove et al. [8] and Corcuff et al. [9]; skin surfaces were molded using a silicone material; adhesive rings were used to delineate sampling sites and keep track of specimen orientation; the specimens were then analyzed in a randomized fashion by optical profilometry based on digital image processing; the following parameters proportional to the degree of wrinkling or roughness were calculated on these profiles: Rz, which divides the profile into five sections, records the peak-to-valley amplitude within each section and calculates the average of these values to reflect the 'deepness' of the fine wrinkles; Ra, defined as the area above and below the profile mean line mentioned above and reflecting the 'mean roughness'; Rs, which is the developed length of the curve of the generated profile considered as both a wrinkle and roughness parameter;

(2) skin color measured spectrophotometrically with a chromameter for both lesional and normal skin;

(3) hydration measured by means of a corneometer;

(4) lipid indices measured by means of a sebometer.

# Double-Blind Profilometric Evaluation of Photodamage after 0.05% Retinaldehyde and Vehicle Treatments

A randomized double-blind, vehicle-controlled multicenter study was conducted in patients with photodamaged skin of the face, comparing the activity and tolerance profile of a 0.05% retinaldehyde cream with the retinaldehyde vehicle. Profilometry was chosen as the main evaluation method, because it allows objective measurements and comparisons of the skin profile, including wrinkle characteristics. Profilometric evaluation was performed in a blind fashion. The extensive report of this study has already been published [6].

#### Patients

Ninety healthy volunteers were included at the end of wintertime (March).

Volunteers were aged 35–70 years and presented with wrinkles on the face of moderate to severe intensity as defined by means of a photograder technique [10].

None of the patients had applied topical retinoids on the treatment areas for at least 1 month during the 6 months before the study. None had used chemical peelings, exfoliants or any abrasive substance on the face within the 45 days before entry into the study. Pregnant and nursing women and patients who planned to use tan or phototherapy were excluded, as well as those with suspected skin cancer or with any other condition that could interfere with the evaluation of the study parameters.

Patients were randomly assigned to one of the two treatment groups: 0.05% retinaldehyde cream (Ysthéal<sup>®</sup>; Avène Laboratories), the vehicle of retinaldehyde.

The products were supplied in 40-gram tubes which were identical in appearance; both investigators and patients were unaware of the group to which the patients had been assigned.

#### Methods

Patients applied 0.5–0.75 g of cream on the entire surface of the face, daily in the evening for 44 weeks. In the morning, patients were asked to apply an emollient cream (Skin Recovery Cream<sup>®</sup>; Avène Laboratories) and were also instructed to apply an SPF 20 sunscreen (20B-7A<sup>®</sup>; Avène Laboratories) on the test area before outdoor activities.

At baseline (wintertime), week 18 (summertime) and week 44 (wintertime), silicone skin replicas of the left crow's feet were studied according to the technique described above. At weeks 4, 10, 18, 32 and 44, signs of local intolerance (erythema, scaling, pruritus and burning) on the test areas were scored by the investigators on a 4-point scale. Patients who experienced significant irritation were allowed to reduce the frequency of the application. This frequency was recorded by the investigators, and an assessment of the maximum intensity of the irritation was performed.

Changes from baseline of wrinkle and roughness parameters (Rz, Ra and Rs) were evaluated by a paired Wilcoxon test. To compare treatment groups, a repeated analysis of variance was used. Local tolerance was evaluated between treatment groups using Fisher's exact test.

#### Results

# Open Clinical and Instrumental Evaluation of the Effects of the 0.05% Retinaldehyde Cream Volunteer Assessment

At the end of the evaluation period, the volunteers expressed a high degree of satisfaction regarding brightness (37% very satisfied), smoothing (53% very satisfied) and skin comfort (55% very satisfied).

#### Investigator's Clinical Assessment

*Coarse and Fine Wrinkling.* During treatment, the intensity of these wrinkles fell, as a mean, from moderate to slight. The extent (number of areas involved) remained unchanged.

*Facial Redness and Telangiectasias.* The number of areas affected as well as the intensity of redness and telangiectasias improved. The number of subjects without areas of redness increased from 9.5 to 42% after treatment. The number of areas affected fell as well. As far as telangiectasias are concerned, 61% of the patients had no telangiectasias after 6 months as compared to 44% initially.

*Skin Colour.* All subjects were deemed to have a shinier, radiant skin after 6 months. Similarly, the skin had become less blotchy after 6 months of treatment.

### Instrumental Assessment

*Skin Surface Profiles.* Reductions in surface roughness were seen on left and right crow's feet areas with regard to average roughness of the skin surface relief, flattening of the surface profile and reduction in mean peak-to-valley height of the surface profile.

*Skin Color.* Homogenization of the skin color was observed after 1 month and demonstrated by the statistically significant differences in the luminance and redness values for normal and lesional skin.

*Hydration*. Hydration indices grew significantly from month 0 to months 1, 3 and 6.

*Lipid Indices.* The lipid indices fell significantly to lower values at months 1 and 3. The values became normal at month 6.

#### Tolerance

Twenty-nine percent of the volunteers experienced some sensations of stinging and some slight desquamation lasting for 1 or 2 days, mainly during the first month of treatment. These effects became less frequent with the continuation of the treatment and no side effects were reported at month 6 of the treatment.

One subject discontinued the treatment for reasons which were not related with the cream.

# Double-Blind Profilometric Evaluation of Photodamage after Retinaldehyde 0.05% and Vehicle Treatments

Out of the 90 patients included in the study, 5 were excluded from the profilometric analysis because their skin replicas were technically unusable. So the efficacy analysis population comprised 85 patients (40 patients in the reti**Table 1.** Mean changes ( $\pm$  SEM) of profilometric parameters from baseline to week 18 and week 44, in the efficacy analysis population (n = 85)

	Week 18		Week 44			
	mean	SD	mean	SD		
Ra: change from baseli	ne, arbitrary u	nits				
Retinaldehyde	-4.08	1.45	-2.91	1.3		
Vehicle	-1.71	1.25	-1.11	1.33		
Rs: change from baseli	ne, arbitrary u	nits				
Retinaldehyde	-118.04	39.26	-77.98	35.61		
Vehicle	-31.15	29.48	-8.39	33.33		
Rz: change from baseline, arbitrary units						
Retinaldehyde	-17.85	5.66	-12.79	5.24		
Vehicle	-5.52	5.12	-3.59	5.27		

naldehyde group and 45 patients in the vehicle group). The 90 patients included in the study constituted the safety population.

The profilometric changes from baseline to week 18 and week 44 (end of treatment) of the wrinkle and roughness parameters were assessed (table 1). Patients were found to be more responsive at week 18 than week 44, irrespective of their treatment group: at week 18, retinaldehyde induced a statistically significant reduction of all parameters (p < 0.01, paired Wilcoxon test). At week 44, a statistically significant improvement of the 2 parameters Rz and Rs could be maintained with retinaldehyde (p < 0.05, paired Wilcoxon test), although to a lesser extent. In contrast, no statistically significant reduction could be showed in the vehicle group. However, comparison of the changes between treatment groups at any assessment time did not show any statistically significant difference. It is likely that this is due to the insufficient sample size of the treatment groups, as reflected by the low power value of the tests (50%). Signs of local irritation were rare in both the retinaldehyde and placebo groups (table 2).

# Discussion

Preliminary open studies allowed to record numerous observations of positive appreciations by patients and investigators on the effects of topical retinaldehyde on the clinical consequences of cutaneous photoaging. In addition to the studies reported here, a large-scale multicenter open study, involving 1,017 patients in dermatological private practice, showed that 77% of patients experienced an improvement in wrinkling and 79% an improvement of their

Topical Retinaldehyde on Photoaged Skin

Dermatology 1999;199(suppl 1):49-52

<b>Table 2.</b> Patient distribution accordingto maximal irritation (erythema, scaling,	Study group	Absent	Mild	Moderate	Severe
pruritus or burning) on the face, in the safety analysis population $(n = 90)$	Retinaldehyde $(n = 44)$	34 (77.3%)	6 (13.6%)	4 (9.1%)	0 (0%)
	Vehicle $(n = 46)$	44 (95.7%)	2 (4.3%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)

liver spots, and that the topical safety was excellent, with only 2% reporting irritation dermatitis (Avène Dermatological Laboratories, data on file). It was felt however that an objective measurement of the skin profile was necessary to ascertain the beneficial effect of retinaldehyde and also to compare it under double-blind conditions with its vehicle. The reliability and reproducibility of computerized image analysis of skin replicas has previously been established [11]. So we chose to use this method in order to objectivate the changes in cutaneous profile brought about by retinaldehyde use. Using this method we were able to demonstrate significant positive changes. By contrast, no significant change was evident after vehicle cream applications.

## Conclusion

Retinaldehyde, the immediate precursor of retinoic acid, has been shown to exert a retinoid biological activity in the skin. Clinical open and controlled studies demonstrated that the regular use of retinaldehyde improves the cutaneous consequences of photoaging, as evidenced by the profilometric study of skin replicas. Retinaldehyde is well tolerated and irritation dermatitis is infrequent.

#### References

- Kligman AM, Grove GL, Hirose R, Leyden JJ: Topical tretinoin for photoaged skin. J Am Acad Dermatol 1986;15:836–859.
- 2 Weiss JS, Ellis CN, Headington JT, Tincoff T, Hamilton TA, Voorhees JJ: Topical tretinoin improves photoaged skin: A double-blind vehicle-controlled study. JAMA 1988;259:527– 532.
- 3 Olsen EA, Katz HI, Levine N, Shupack J, Billys MM, Prawer S, Gold J, Stiller M, Lufrano L, Thorne EG: Tretinoin emollient cream: A new therapy for photodamaged skin. J Am Acad Dermatol 1992;26:215–224.
- 4 Siegenthaler G, Saurat JH, Ponec M: Retinol and retinal metabolism. Relationship to the state of differentiation of cultured human keratinocytes. Biochem J 1990;268:371–378.
- 5 Saurat JH, Didierjean L, Masgrau E, Piletta PA, Jaconi S, Châtellard-Gruaz D, Gumowski D, Masouyé I, Salomon D, Siegenthaler G: Topical retinaldehyde on human skin: Biologic effects and tolerance. J Invest Dermatol 1994; 103:770–774.
- 6 Creidi P, Vienne MP, Ochonisky S, Lauze C, Turlier V, Lagarde JM, Dupuy P: Profilometric evaluation of photodamage after topical retinaldehyde and retinoic acid treatment. J Am Acad Dermatol 1998;39:960–965.
- 7 Ochando N, LaGarde JM, Couval E, Black D, Ane MP, Gall Y: Evaluation clinique et paraclinique des effets du rétinaldéhyde topique dans le photovieillissement cutané. Nouv Dermatol 1994;13:525–535.
- 8 Grove GL, Grove MJ, Leyden JJ, Lufrano L, Schwab B, Perry BH, Thorne EG: Skin replica analysis of photodamaged skin after therapy with tretinoin emollient cream. J Am Acad Dermatol 1991;25:231–237.
- 9 Corcuff P, François AM, Lévêque JL, Porte G: Microrelief changes in chronically sun-exposed human skin. Photodermatology 1988;5:92– 95.
- 10 Griffiths CE, Wang TS, Hamilton TA, Voorhees JJ, Ellis CN: A photonumeric scale for the assessment of cutaneous photodamage. Arch Dermatol 1992;128:347–351.
- 11 Olsen EA, Katz HI, Levine N, Nigra TP, Pochi PE, Savin RC, Shupack J, Weinstein GD, Lufrano L, Perry BH: Tretinoin emollient cream for photodamaged skin: Results of 48-week, multicenter, double-blind studies. J Am Acad Dermatol 1997;37:217–226.

Dermatology 1999;199(suppl 1):53-56

# **Retinaldehyde Alleviates Rosacea**

Marie-Pierre Vienne<sup>a</sup> Nicole Ochando<sup>b</sup> Marie-Thérèse Borrel<sup>b</sup> Yvon Gall<sup>b</sup> Christophe Lauze<sup>a</sup> Patrick Dupuy<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Department of Clinical Research and <sup>b</sup>Jean-Louis Alibert Center, Pierre Fabre Research Institute, Toulouse, France

#### **Key Words**

Rosacea · Topical retinoids · Retinaldehyde

# Abstract

Background: Anecdotal observations suggest that retinoic acid may be effective in mild rosacea. Aim: Our aim was to investigate, by an exploratory clinical and instrumental study, the effects of a topical formulation with the retinoic acid precursor retinaldehyde, in patients with vascular signs of facial rosacea. *Methods:* Female patients were treated with a 0.05% retinaldehyde cream that was applied once daily for 6 months. Clinical assessments of persistent erythema and telangiectasia were performed every month, using a 4-point severity score (absent to severe). The clinical response for each parameter was defined as a decrease of at least 1 grade in the severity score. In addition, erythema was further evaluated by measurement of the a\* parameter, using a spectrophotometer on lesional and nonlesional areas. Results: A total of 23 women comprised the study population. At baseline, 10 patients had diffuse erythema, 3 patients had isolated telangiectasia and 10 patients had both. During retinaldehyde treatment, a clinical response was revealed in about 75% of the patients with erythema, after 5 months (p < 0.05). Similarly, isolated telangiectasia responded to retinaldehyde, although to a lesser extent and after a longer period of treatment (46% responders after 6 months, nonsignificant). Using the spectrophotometer, the a\* parameter diminished in patients with erythema by about 15%, after 2 months of

**KARGER** Fax +41 61 306 12 34

www.karger.com

E-Mail karger@karger.ch

© 1999 S. Karger AG, Basel 1018–8665/99/1997–0053\$17.50/0

Accessible online at: http://BioMedNet.com/karger treatment (p = 0.001). **Conclusion:** This study indicates that retinaldehyde has beneficial effects on the vascular component of rosacea.

# Introduction

Retinoic acid has shown beneficial effects on the vascular component of rosacea [1]. However, the therapeutic response has been found to be delayed, and side effects observed early on in treatment (skin dryness, erythema, burning and stinging) resulted in temporary aggravation of lesions as well as noncompliance.

Retinaldehyde, an intermediate between retinol and retinoic acid in the natural metabolism of retinoids, is known to have a therapeutic activity close to that of retinoic acid and to be well tolerated by the skin [2]. The goal of this pilot study was to investigate the effectiveness of a 0.05% retinaldehyde formulation in the treatment of mild rosacea (erythema and/or telangiectasia).

# Methods

This was a monocentric, open-labeled study, performed in a population of women presenting with facial signs of rosacea, i.e. persistent erythema and/or telangiectasia. Test treatment consisted of daily topical applications of a 0.05% retinaldehyde cream (Ysthéal<sup>®</sup>; Avène Laboratories, Boulogne, France). Treatment began in March– April for a period of 6 months. No oral antibiotic or corticosteroid and no topical treatment except the use of an emollient cream (Skin Recovery Cream<sup>®</sup>; Avène Laboratories) and a sunscreen (Total

Patrick Dupuy, MD Pierre Fabre Research Institute, Allée Camille-Soula, BP 74, Vigoulet Auzil F–31322 Castanet Tolosan Cedex (France) Tel. +33 5 61 75 52 85, Fax +33 5 61 75 52 52 E-Mail patrick.dupuy@pierre-fabre.com

![](_page_50_Picture_0.jpeg)

**Fig. 1.** Two examples of clinical response to retinaldehyde 0.05% topical treatment at the end of treatment. **a**, **b** Patient with persistent erythema and telangiectasia. **c**, **d** Patient with isolated telangiectasia. Month 0 = Baseline; month 6 = end of treatment.

**Table 1.** Distribution of the number ofresponders/nonresponders with erythemaand telangiectasia in the study population,at each assessment point

	Baseline	1 month	2 months	3 months	5 months	6 months
Erythema ( $n = 20$ )	0/20	4/16	12/8	10/10	15/5*	14/6*
Telangiectasia (n = 13)	0/13	1/12	2/11	5/8	8/5	6/7

Responders were defined as patients with a reduction of at least 1 grade in the 4-point severity scale (absent to severe). \*p < 0.05.

Sun Block Cream<sup>®</sup>; Avène Laboratories) were permitted during the study.

The evaluation parameters were clinical and instrumental. Clinical evaluation was performed by the investigator at baseline, then each month for 6 months, except the fourth (July–August) month. This consisted of an assessment of erythema and telangiectasia, using a 4-point

severity scale (absent, slight, moderate and severe). The clinical response was defined as a decrease of at least 1 point in the severity scale during treatment. The instrumental assessment was also performed at each visit by use of a spectrophotometer (Chromameter CR 200; Minolta, Japan) to measure the a\* parameter, as the expression of redness. Measurement of skin redness was assessed at 2 sites of the

face: a lesional zone presenting persistent erythema and an adjacent healthy zone. The sites of the measurement were precisely localized at each visit with specially prepared marker masks.

Statistical analysis included verification of data normality, followed by an analysis of variance. Multiple comparisons of significant results were realized using Dunnett's test.

### Results

The study population comprised 23 women (mean age: 47 years, range: 37–55), 10 with erythema alone, 3 with telangiectasia alone and 10 with both clinical signs. Clinical intensity of the 2 signs at baseline was slight to moderate for all patients. No patient was withdrawn because of an adverse event during the study. Accordingly, all patients completed the study period (6 months).

Table 1 represents the number of patients responding to the retinaldehyde 0.05% treatment at each evaluation for erythema and telangiectasia. Globally, around 75% of patients responded to treatment of their erythema after 5 months of treatment (p < 0.05). For telangiectasia, they responded at a lower degree and required a longer time of treatment, i.e. 46% responding by 6 months (nonsignificant). Typical examples of responders are given in figure 1.

Figure 2 illustrates values of the a\* parameter for redness on the involved and the normal adjacent zones, at each visit. The a\* parameter significantly decreased by about 10% in the lesional zone from the first month of treatment onwards (p < 0.001, fig. 2a), followed by a further reduction of 14% after 2 months (spring time), then a slightly reduced response around the fifth month (11%, midsummer). Measurements on the nonlesional zones showed a similar pattern through winter to summer, reflecting the treatment-free seasonal variability of the disease (p < 0.05, fig. 2b).

In the vast majority of patients, retinaldehyde 0.05% was well tolerated, with no clinical sign of irritation. Only 1 patient reported transitory scaling of mild severity after 3 weeks of treatment, and no patient described exacerbation of rosacea.

### Discussion

Rosacea is a frequent disorder, most often affecting Caucasians from the age of 30 years, and tends to be chronic [for a review, see 3]. It is an unsightly disorder, affecting the nose, cheeks, chin and forehead with persistent erythema, telangiectasia (mild stage), papules and pustules (severer stage). Flushing of the face (episodic erythema) is common at the beginning of the disease. The condition tends to be

![](_page_51_Figure_9.jpeg)

**Fig. 2.** Quantitative measurements of the a\* chromametric values in the study population, at each assessment point. The a\* values express the reflectance of the severity of redness in involved areas (persistent erythema, **a**) and in noninvolved areas (healthy area, **b**).

seasonal with a worsening in the winter (cold, wind) and summer (sun). Tissue overgrowth may occur and, when affecting the nose, is called rhinophyma. Cutaneous lesions may also be associated with ocular signs (ocular rosacea). The cause of rosacea is unknown, but speculations abound. Many etiological factors have been considered, i.e. disorder of vascular regulation, infestation with the *Demodex* mite, bacterial infection (*Helicobacter pylori*) or abnormal cutaneous immune mechanisms.

Treatment of rosacea includes multifaceted management [4]. For instance in mild rosacea, patients are instructed to avoid the sun, to apply sun-protective creams and to avoid facial irritants. They are often told to exclude alcoholic beverages, stimulants such as tea, coffee, hot drinks and spicy foods. At a later stage, drug therapy is often necessary. This includes systemic antibiotics such as tetracyclines, topical antibiotics such as metronidazole, azelaic acid and topical and systemic retinoid therapy [5]. Treatment with topical

Retinaldehyde Alleviates Rosacea

retinoic acid has been proven to be successful, but patients tended towards noncompliance due to skin irritation [1, 5]. It is shown here that topical retinaldehyde alleviates the redness of rosacea, with fewer side effects and no exacerbation of the lesions, and is more acceptable to the patients.

Suggested mechanisms of action of topical retinaldehyde may be their known beneficial action in photodamaged skin, which often accompanies rosacea [6]. Also, it is well known that in acne, retinoids exert a prime action through their comedolytic activity resulting in the extrusion of comedones. Comedones are not part of rosacea, but perhaps beneficial effects of retinaldehyde in this disease result in the extrusion of the *Demodex* mite known to lodge in the pilosebaceous apparatus of the face, although the etiological role of *Demodex* in rosacea remains to be determined. Another speculation may be that retinaldehyde acts by masking the dermal vasculature, due to the thickening of the overlying epidermal layer induced by the topical retinoid. Retinaldehyde has already been demonstrated to display a significant retinoid-type activity [2]. As such, these putative mechanisms associated with its good tolerance profile may account for its efficacy in rosacea. Furthermore, retinaldehyde might also exert a more specific action on the vascular tissue, since it inhibits the vascular endothelial growth factor in vitro [7]. Nevertheless, the implication of vascular endothelial growth factor in the pathogenesis of rosacea remains also to be clarified. In conclusion, retinaldehyde should be considered as part of the therapeutic arsenal to alleviate the vascular component of rosacea.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors wish to thank C. Masella for his help in the organization of the manuscript.

#### References

- Kligman AM: Topical tretinoin for rosacea: A preliminary report. J Dermatol Treat 1993;4: 71–73.
- 2 Saurat JH, Didierjean L, Masgrau E, Piletta PA, Jaconi S, Châtellard-Gruaz D, Masouyé I, Salomon D, Sigenthaler G: Topical retinaldehyde on human skin: Biologic effects and tolerance. J Invest Dermatol 1994;103:770–774.
- Katz AM: Rosacea: Epidemiology and pathogenesis. J Cutan Med Surg 1998;2(suppl 4): 5–10.
- 4 Singer MI: Drug therapy of rosacea: A problem-directed approach, J Cutan Med Surg 1998;2(suppl 4):20–23.
- 5 Gregory AE, Levine N, Kligman AM: A Comparison of the efficacy of topical tretinoin and low-dose oral isotretinoin in rosacea. Arch Dermatol 1994;130:319–324.
- 6 Creidi P, Vienne MP, Ochonisky S, Lauze C, Turlier V, Lagardde JM, Dupuy P: Profilometric evaluation of photodamage after topical retinaldehyde and retinoic acid treatment. J Am Acad Dermatol 1998;39:960–965.
- 7 Lachgar S, Charveron M, Aries MF, Gall Y, Bonafé JL: Inhibitory effects of retinoids on VEGF production by cultured human skin keratinocytes (abstract). J Invest Dermatol 1997; 109:455.

# **Tolerance Profile of Retinol, Retinaldehyde and Retinoic Acid under Maximized and Long-Term Clinical Conditions**

J.W. Fluhr<sup>a</sup> M.-P. Vienne<sup>b</sup> C. Lauze<sup>b</sup> P. Dupuy<sup>b</sup> W. Gehring<sup>a</sup> M. Gloor<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Department of Dermatology, Klinikum Karlsruhe, Germany; <sup>b</sup>Pierre Fabre Research Institute, Toulouse, France

# **Key Words**

Patch-testing · Local tolerance · Irritation · Retinol · Retinaldehyde · Retinoic acid

# Abstract

**Background:** Topical retinoic acid (RA) causes irritation of the skin. To prevent this side effect, natural precursors of RA have been proposed. The aim of the present study was to compare the local tolerance profiles of retinol (ROL), retinaldehyde (RAL) and RA. Methods: ROL, RAL and RA were studied using repeated insult patch tests for 14 days (n = 6). Similarly, RAL and RA were assessed in long-term clinical use for 44 weeks (n = 355). Clinical scoring on irritation, measurement of transepidermal water loss (barrier function) and laser Doppler blood flow perfusion units (irritation) were performed. Results: Under maximized conditions, an equally low irritation potential for ROL and RAL and a more pronounced irritant effect with RA could be demonstrated clinically (p < p0.05 in the intergroup analysis). Furthermore, RAL and RA induced more scaling than ROL (p < 0.05), and ROL and RA tended to induce more burning/pruritus than RAL (nonsignificant). The TEWL values were low with ROL and high with RAL and RA (nonsignificant, intergroup analysis). The laser Doppler measurements confirmed pro-irritating effects of RA and the nonirritating effects of ROL and RAL (p = 0.001, intergroup analysis). The longterm clinical study showed that the study population developed a high frequency of erythema (44% of the

**KARGER** Fax +41 61 306 12 34

www.karger.com

E-Mail karger@karger.ch

© 1999 S. Karger AG, Basel 1018–8665/99/1997–0057\$17.50/0

Accessible online at: http://BioMedNet.com/karger population), scaling (35%) and burning/pruritus (29%) with RA in the first 4 weeks of treatment, whereas these 3 parameters were significantly less frequent with RAL (p < 0.0001 in the intergroup analysis). *Conclusion:* The natural retinoids ROL and RAL do have a good tolerance profile, in contrast with the irritating potential of RA.

# Introduction

The irritative potential of retinoic acid (RA) and synthetic retinoids is well known [1]. Irritation may partly be explained by an overload of nonphysiological amounts of exogenous RA in the skin. It has been speculated that natural RA precursors such as retinol (ROL) and retinaldehyde (RAL) may be less irritant in clinical and experimental use [2, 3]. Here, we report the results of 2 studies comparing the tolerance profile of ROL, RAL and RA, either under repeated insult patch testing or under normal long-term conditions.

# Methods

Subjects

For the maximization test, 6 male volunteers (mean age  $\pm$  SEM:  $32 \pm 1.1$  years; range: 29–36) were recruited. The volunteers had no history of allergy against ingredients of the test products and no course of systemic or topical anti-inflammatory treatment. In the clinical study, 355 patients with photodamage of mild to severe intensity (mean

Joachim Fluhr, MD

D-76133 Karlsruhe (Germany)

Tel. +49 721 974 0, Fax +49 721 974 2609, E-Mail JFluhr@compuserve.com

Department of Dermatology, Städtisches Klinikum Moltkestrasse 120 D. 761/22 Korlamba (Cormony)

age  $\pm$  SEM, 47.72  $\pm$  7.04 years; range: 35–70) were enrolled. None of the patients had applied topical products (e.g. retinoids, chemical peels or abrasive substances) able to interfere with the evaluation parameters before entry into the study. For all subjects, written informed consent was obtained.

#### Products

The 3 following marketed products were tested: 0.07% ROL, 0.05% RAL and 0.05% RA. In the long-term clinical study, RAL, RA and the vehicle of RAL were used.

#### Maximization Test

A hundred milligrams of the test products ROL, RAL and RA were daily applied during 14 days under occlusive conditions (11-mm Finn Chambers; Hermal, Reinbeck, Germany) on the ventral forearms of the volunteers. Test sites were chosen according to randomization schedule. One additional site was left untreated (control site). All test sites were free of nevi, pilosity and skin pathology. A clinical scoring of erythema, scaling and burning/pruritus was performed by a trained dermatologist, at baseline and 1 h after removal of the occlusion dressings at the end of treatment. The intensity of each parameter was graded from 0 to 3 (0 = absent, 1 = slight, 2 = moderate, 3 = severe). The instrumental evaluations of barrier function and irritation were performed by the respective measurements of transepidermal water loss (TEWL, Tewameter TM 210; Courage & Khazaka, Köln, Germany) and perfusion unit (PU) by a laser Doppler PF 2 (Perimed, Jarfally, Sweden). TEWL and PU measurements were performed according to the standard guidelines [4, 5].

#### Clinical Study

Three hundred and fifty-five patients with photoaged skin were enrolled and treated in a double-blind manner for 44 weeks on the entire face, with 500–750 mg of the following test products: RAL, RA and RAL vehicle. A scoring was performed on local signs of erythema, scaling and burning/pruritus after 4, 18 and 44 weeks of treatment. The intensity was scaled from 0 to 3 (0 = absent, 1 = slight, 2 = moderate, 3 = severe). Patients were asked to apply the test creams in the evening and an emollient cream (Skin Recovery Cream<sup>®</sup>, Avène Laboratories) in the morning. They were also instructed to apply a sunscreen (Total Sun Block Cream<sup>®</sup>, Avène Laboratories; sun protection factor 20) on their face before outdoor activities.

For the maximization test, direct comparison of data at baseline and at the end of treatment (day 14) was performed using the signed sum rank test. The group comparison (ROL, RAL and RA) of the  $\Delta$  values (between end of treatment and baseline) was performed with a twoway analysis of variance, followed by MacNemar's test when significance was reached. In the clinical study, the parameters of tolerance were evaluated between treatment groups using Fisher's exact test.

# Results

#### Maximization Test

The results of the clinical scoring at the end of treatment are given in figure 1. Erythema was rather low with ROL and RAL and significantly higher with RA (p < 0.05 between treatment groups). The scaling (exfoliative power)

![](_page_54_Figure_11.jpeg)

**Fig. 1.** Sum of the clinical scores for each parameter (erythema, desquamation and burning/pruritus) with ROL, RAL and RA, in the study population of the maximization test (n = 6); \*p < 0.05, in the intergroup analysis.

![](_page_54_Figure_13.jpeg)

**Fig. 2.** TEWL values (means  $\pm$  SEM) for ROL, RAL and RA treatment groups, at baseline and at the end of treatment (day 14).

![](_page_54_Figure_15.jpeg)

**Fig. 3.** PU values (means  $\pm$  SEM) for ROL, RAL and RA treatment groups, at baseline and at the end of treatment (day 14); \*p = 0.001, in the intergroup analysis.

58

was comparable with RAL and RA, whereas ROL showed lower effects on this parameter (p < 0.05 in the intergroup analysis). RAL induced no burning/pruritus, whereas ROL and RA tended to induce this latter more frequently (nonsignificant). By evaporimetry, the TEWL values tended to be increased with RAL and RA (fig. 2). With ROL, little change was seen. By laser Doppler flowmetry, the increases in PU values were significantly higher with RA, and no significant increase was observed with ROL and RAL. In the intergroup analysis, the difference between RA on the one hand and ROL and RAL on the other hand was statistically significant (p = 0.001; fig. 3).

### Clinical Study

One hundred and nineteen patients in the RAL group, 117 patients in the RA group and 119 patients in the RAL vehicle group were enrolled in the study. In each group, the distributions of patients according to the clinical severity of the tolerance parameters at each visit are given in figure 4. Globally, signs of local intolerance developed more frequently with RA and occurred within the first 4 weeks in 44% of the patients for erythema, 35% for scaling and 29% for burning/pruritus. By contrast, signs of local irritation were rare in both the RAL and RAL vehicle groups (p < 0.0001) in the intergroup analysis). In a majority of patients, RA irritation necessitated modification in the treatment regimen. This resulted in fewer total days of treatment in the RA group  $(272 \pm 8 \text{ days})$  than in the RAL group (300  $\pm$  4 days) and the RAL vehicle group (309  $\pm$  2 days, p < 0.01).

# Discussion

Retinoids are widely used in the treatment of acne and photodamage [6–10]. However, the frequent irritating effects of RA may alter the compliance of the patients. Because the conversion of the precursors ROL and RAL into RA is controlled by rate-limiting enzymatic steps within the cells [3, 11], their pharmacological use may avoid an overload of RA that is putatively incriminated in the RA-induced irritation [12, 13]. Under occlusive conditions, we could demonstrate an equally rather low irritation potential with ROL and RAL, which was by contrast more pronounced with RA. Interestingly, the low irritation potential of RAL, as demonstrated by the clinical scoring and the laser Doppler measurement, was associated with an exfoliative activity comparable to RA, as shown by the clinical scoring of scaling and the TEWL. Since this exfoliative action is one of the hallmarks of a retinoid activity, RAL

![](_page_55_Figure_6.jpeg)

**Fig. 4.** Patient distribution (n = 355) according to the clinical severity of each irritation parameter (erythema, scaling, burning/pruritus) on the face with RA, RAL and RAL vehicle, after 4 weeks (**a**), 18 weeks (**b**) and 44 weeks (**c**) of treatment.

seems to combine both the low irritation potential of ROL and the activity of RA on barrier function.

Under normal clinical long-term conditions, RAL confirms its good tolerance profile compared to RA. This resulted in a better compliance of the patients with RAL than that with RA. Taken together, our findings further demonstrate the good tolerance of ROL and RAL, as well as

Dermatology 1999;199(suppl 1):57-60

the retinoid-type exfoliative activity of RAL and RA. Accordingly, RAL appears to display a favorable activity/tolerance ratio among natural topical retinoids.

### Acknowledgments

The authors wish to thank C. Masella, for his help in the organization of the manuscript.

#### References

- Lehmann L, Clemens M, Gloor M, Fluhr J: Über die Effektivität von Tretinoin in Lokaltherapeutika: Lösungs- versus Suspensionszubereitungen – Wechselwirkungen mit Erythromycin. Akt Dermatol 1998;24:51–55.
- 2 Kang S, Duell EA, Fisher GJ, Datta SC, Wang ZQ, Reddy AP, Tavakkol A, Yi JY, Griffiths CEM, Elder JT, Voorhees JJ: Application of retinol to human skin in vivo induces epidermal hyperplasia and cellular retinoid binding proteins characteristic of retinoic acid but without measurable retinoic acid levels or irritation. J Invest Dermatol 1995;105:549–556.
- 3 Saurat JH, Didierjean L, Masgrau E, Piletta PA, Jaconi S, Châtellard-Gruaz D, Masouyé I, Salomon D, Sigenthaler G: Topical retinaldehyde on human skin: Biologic effects and tolerance. J Invest Dermatol 1994;103:770–774.
- 4 Pinnagoda J, Tupker RA, Agner T, Serup J: Guidelines for transepidermal water loss (TEWL) measurement. Contact Dermatitis 1990;22:164–178.
- 5 Fullerton A, Fischer T, Lahti A, Wilhelm KP, Takiwaki H, Serup J: Guidelines for measurement of skin color and erythema. Contact Dermatitis 1996;35:1–10.
- 6 Kligman AM: Current status of topical tretinoin in the treatment of photoaged skin. Drugs Aging 1992;2:7–13.
- 7 Creaven NM, Voorhees JJ, Griffiths CEM: Topical retinoic acid for photoaged skin: Therapeutic effects and mechanisms. J Dermatol Treat 1996;7(suppl 2):23–27.
- 8 Olsen EA, Katz HI, Levine N, Nigra TP, Pochi PE, Savin RC, Shupack J, Weinstein GD, Lufrano L, Perry BH: Tretinoin emollient cream for photodamaged skin: Results of 48week, multicenter, double-blind studies. J Am Acad Dermatol 1997;37:217–226.

- 9 Gilchrest BA: Treatment of photodamage with topical tretinoin: An overview. J Am Acad Dermatol 1997;36(suppl):27–36.
- 10 Kligman AM, Fulton JE, Plewig G: Topical vitamin A acid in acne vulgaris. Arch Dermatol 1969;99:469–476.
- 11 Duell EA, Kang S, Voorhees JJ: Occluded retinol penetrates human skin in vivo more effectively than unoccluded retinyl palmitate or retinoic acid. J Invest Dermatol 1997;109: 301–305.
- 12 Siegenthaler G, Gumowki-Sunek D, Saurat JH: Metabolism of natural retinoids in psoriatic epidermis. J Invest Dermatol 1990;95:47–48.
- 13 Didierjean L, Carraux P, Grand D, Sass JO, Nau H, Saurat JH: Topical retinaldehyde increases skin content of retinoic acid and exerts biologic activity in mouse skin. J Invest Dermatol 1996; 107:714–719.

# **Tolerance of Topical Retinaldehyde in Humans**

# E.M. Sachsenberg-Studer

Department of Dermatology, J.-W. Goethe University Hospital, Frankfurt, Germany

#### **Key Words**

Retinaldehyde • Retinoic acid • Retinol • Tolerance • Safety

### Abstract

**Background:** Retinaldehyde (RAL) has been used as a topical agent in many countries since 1994. *Aim:* To review current data on the tolerance of retinaldehyde and to report the results of a long-term pilot study. *Methods:* Data from published and on-file studies have been compiled. Forty-five patients who had applied RAL on the face for 12–89 months were specifically examined for side-effects. *Results:* Studies in humans demonstrated an excellent tolerance of topical RAL on human skin. It was much better tolerated than retinoic acid and could be used even on sensitive facial skin. It does not have phototoxic or photo-allergic properties. No side-effects were associated with long-term use. *Conclusion:* Current data indicate a good topical tolerance of RAL in humans.

### Introduction

The efficacy of retinoic acid (RA) in the treatment of several skin diseases has largely been shown [1]. It is also well known that this molecule often causes irritation of the skin eventually explained by an 'overload' of the RA-dependent pathways with non-physiological amounts of exogenous RA in the skin [2]. However, it is not well established yet if this cutaneous irritation limiting the clinical use of RA is partly necessary for the therapeutic activity of this molecule or if it is only an undesirable side-effect.

KARGER

Fax +41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 1999 S. Karger AG, Basel 1018–8665/99/1997–0061\$17.50/0 Accessible online at:

Accessible online at: http://BioMedNet.com/karger It has been demonstrated that retinaldehyde (RAL), a natural metabolite of vitamin A and direct precursor of RA, has a similar biological activity to RA [3, 4] and postulated that it might have weaker side-effects on the skin as differentiating keratinocytes are capable of oxidizing RAL to RA at a higher rate than non-differentiating keratinocytes resulting in a targeted and controlled delivery of ligand [5].

To investigate the local tolerance of RAL numerous studies have been performed, first in animals, later in humans. We review current data upon the tolerance of RAL and report the results of a long-term pilot study.

#### **Open Clinical Studies of Tolerance**

In the first pilot study of biological effects and tolerance [3], 229 volunteers with various skin problems were treated with RAL 1.0, 0.5, 0.1 or 0.05% once daily for 1–3 months (mean 3.7 months). Tolerance was graded on a scale from 0 to 3. The 1% preparation was tolerated by up to 69% of the treated subjects, mostly psoriatics treated on the trunk and limbs; grade 2–3 irritation leading to cessation of treatment was observed in 31%. Tolerance of the 0.5% preparations, used mostly on facial skin, were much better tolerated and allowed prolonged use on facial skin in patients with inflammatory dermatoses.

In another study with 32 female healthy volunteers [6] applying RAL 0.05% on the face once daily during a 6-month period, 29% of the volunteers experienced some sensations of stinging and some slight scaling lasting for 1 or 2 days, mainly during the first months of treatment. These effects became less frequent with the continuation of the treatment, and no side-effects were reported at month 6 of treatment.

An open multicentric study including 130 cases [7] has been conducted in 10 dermatology clinics. These patients

E.M. Sachsenberg-Studer Alice-Platz 1 D–61231 Bad Nauheim (Germany)

presented with erythrosis (42 patients), rosacea (42 patients) or seborrhoeic dermatitis (46 patients). Assessment of topical tolerance indicated that RAL gel 0.05% was well tolerated by the irritated skin of the face. Only 3.8% of the patients had to stop the treatment after 4 months due to the occurrence of side-effects like erythema, scaling, burning and/or pruritus.

# **Phototoxicity and Photosensitivity**

A study investigating the phototoxic potential of RAL included 10 volunteers of phototypes 2 and 3. RAL was applied on the forearm under occlusion (Finn Chambers) for 24 h. The sites were then irradiated with either 0.75 minimal erythema dose (MED) of UVB or 0.75 MED of UVA and examined 24, 48 and 72 h after irradiation. No reaction as compared to control sites was observed, indicating lack of phototoxic potential of RAL in this vehicle and at this concentration [8].

Another study explored the possibility that RAL may influence UVB and UVA MED after either short- or long-term application [9]. A single application of 0.05% RAL in 20 volunteers did not result in any sun protection activity since the sun-protective factor for UVA-UVB (290–390 nm) was 1.02  $\pm$  0.1 with the RAL cream 0.05% and, as expected, 3.64  $\pm$  0.5 with the control sunscreen product. After 10 weeks of daily application of RAL cream 0.05%, the MED (J/cm<sup>2</sup>) was 2.92  $\pm$  0.4 in untreated skin and 3.00  $\pm$  0.5 in RAL-treated skin, again indicating lack of sun protection after long-term use of RAL. It is noteworthy however that there was no increase in photosensitivity after 10 weeks of RAL treatment.

# **Comparative Studies of Topical Tolerance**

# Tolerance of Repeated Application under Occlusion

Six healthy volunteers applied retinol (ROL), RAL and RA under occlusion (Finn Chambers) on the ventral side of the forearm every day for 14 days at a concentration of 0.05% (RAL and RA) and 0.075% (ROL) [10]. One additional site was left untreated (control site). Clinical signs of side-effects (erythema, scaling, infiltration, vesicles, burning, pruritus) were evaluated according to a scale ranging from 0 to 3 (0 = absent, 1 = slight, 2 = moderate, 3 = severe). Erythema was rather low with ROL and RAL and significantly higher with RA (p < 0.05 between treatment groups). The scaling (exfoliative power) was comparable with RAL and RA, whereas ROL showed lower effects on this parameter (p < 0.05 in the intergroup analysis). RAL induced no burning/pruritus in contrast to ROL and RA. Instrumental

evaluations of barrier function and irritation were performed by measurements of transepidermal water loss (TEWL) and perfusion unit laser Doppler flowmetry. The TEWL level tended to be significantly increased with RA (17.4) and RAL (15.6). With ROL, little change was seen (9.7). The increase in perfusion unit values was significant (p = 0.0313) with RA (43.3); no significant increase was observed with RAL (12.1) and ROL (8.3). In the intergroup analysis, the difference between RA on the one hand and ROL and RAL on the other hand was statistically significant (p = 0.001). These results demonstrated an equally rather low irritation potential with ROL and RAL, which was by contrast more pronounced with RA. Moreover, RAL combined the low irritation potential of ROL and the exfoliative activity of RA (one of the hallmarks of retinoid activity) on barrier function [10].

#### Tolerance of Repeated Application without Occlusion

Twelve volunteers applied RAL 0.05%, RA 0.05% or the vehicle on the inner side of the forearm on well-defined zones, once a day during 5 days running for 4 weeks. The tolerance was evaluated by measuring the cutaneous blood flow by laser Doppler velocimetry and the TEWL by evaporimetry. The results show that the cutaneous blood flow and the TEWL, parameters of irritation, are increased only by RA, while RAL is well tolerated [11].

### Comparative Study under Normal Conditions

A randomized open study included 357 female patients [12]. They applied RA, RAL or placebo on the face once a day during 12 months. The frequency of side-effects was evaluated after 1, 6 and 12 months. After 1 month, erythema was observed in 44%, scaling in 35% and burning in 29% of patients treated with RA, compared to 8, 1 and 3%, respectively, of patients treated with RAL. In the group treated with placebo, these side-effects were seen in 3% (erythema) and 1% (scaling, burning). After 12 months of treatment, the frequency of all 3 side-effects was decreased in all 3 groups, but still RAL (erythema 1%, scaling 0%, burning 1%) was much better tolerated than RA (erythema 9%, scaling 9%, burning 6%). The treatment of RA was interrupted during a total of 50 days on an average, the treatment of RAL during 10 and of placebo during 3 days. The overall tolerance of RA was 57%, of RAL 96% and of placebo 97%.

# **Topical Tolerance after Long-Term Use**

A consequence of the good tolerance of RAL, demonstrated by all clinical studies mentioned above, is the observation that some patients have been using RAL every day

Tab	le	1.	Topical	tolerance	e of RAL	after	long-term use
-----	----	----	---------	-----------	----------	-------	---------------

	45
Patients, n	45
Age, years	22-82 (median 52.4)
Male/female	12/33
Duration of RAL application, months	12-89 (median 46.6)
Patients still using RAL, n	22 (49%)
Follow-up of all patients, months	15-101 (median 68.3)
Follow-up after end of treatment, months	7-80 (median 48.6)
Side-effects	
Toxic/allergic reaction	0
Photosensitivity	0
(Pre)malignant skin lesions	0

for years. This fact raises the question if RAL in the longterm use causes any topical side-effects. To investigate this question we reviewed the folders of all patients treated with RAL between 1989 and 1997. Of 219 patients, 50 had applied RAL on the face for 1 or more years, the inclusion criterion for our study. Forty-five of these 50 patients could be examined (table 1). Twelve were male and 33 female with a median age of 52.4 years. Reasons for using RAL were photoaging (22 patients), seborrhoeic dermatitis (12 patients), acne (7 patients), rosacea (6 patients), actinic keratosis (3 patients), hyperpigmentation (1 patient) and folliculitis (1 patient). The duration of RAL application on the face and of the follow-up was between 12 and 89 months (median 46.6) and 15 and 101 months (median 68.3), respectively. Twenty-three patients were off treatment at the moment of our evaluation; the time of follow-up after treat-

#### References

- Weiss JS, Ellis CN, Headington JT, Tincoff T, Hamilton TA, Voorhees JJ: Topical tretinoin improves photoaged skin: A double-blind vehicle-controlled study. JAMA 1988;259:527– 532.
- 2 Duell EA, Aström A, Griffiths CEM, Chambon P, Voorhees JJ: Human skin levels of retinoic acid and cytochrome P 450 hydroxyretinoic acid after topical application of retinoic acid in vivo compared to concentrations required to stimulate retinoic acid receptor mediated transcription in vitro. J Clin Invest 1992;90:1269–1274.
- 3 Saurat J-H, Didierjean L, Masgrau E, Piletta PA, Jaconi S, Châtellard-Gruaz D, Gumowski D, Masouyé I, Salomon D, Siegenthaler G: Topical retinaldehyde on human skin: Biologic effects and tolerance. J Invest Dermatol 1994; 103:770–774.
- 4 Didierjean L, Carraux P, Grand D, Sass JO, Nau H, Saurat J-H: Topical retinaldehyde increases skin content of retinoic acid and exerts biologic activity in mouse skin. J Invest Dermatol 1996; 107:714–719.
- 5 Siegenthaler G, Saurat J-H, Ponec M: Retinol and retinal metabolism: Relationship to the state of differentiation of cultured human keratinocytes. Biochem J 1990;268:371–378.
- 6 Ochando N, LaGarde JN, Couval E, Black D, Ane MP, Gall Y: Clinical and instrumental evaluation of the effects of topical retinaldehyde on photoaged skin. Nouv Dermatol 1994; 13:525–535.
- 7 Guerrero D, Ane MP: Tolérance et intérêt du rétinaldéhyde topique sur des dermatoses irritatives du visage. Bull Est Dermatol Cosmétol 1996;4:83–87.
- 8 Aster Institute Data on files R 93 PF 330.01.
- 9 Institut d'expertise clinique Data on files R 40115D.

ment was between 7 and 80 months (median 48.6). In none of the 45 patients did we find any toxic/allergic reaction or any photosensitivity due to RAL. Three patients used RAL to treat actinic keratoses. These premalignant lesions disappeared during 44, 64 and 72 months of RAL application. In 3 patients, 1 respectively 2 actinic keratoses appeared during RAL treatment of 81, 84 and 87 months; regarding the age of these patients (57, 59 and 62 years) and the fact that actinic keratosis can respond to RAL, they do not seem to be due to the RAL treatment. None of the 45 patients presented with any malignant skin lesions like basal or squamous cell carcinoma. This retrospective pilot study demonstrated that RAL in humans does not have local long-term side-effects [13].

#### Cosmetovigilance

The cutaneous tolerance of RAL is confirmed by the data of cosmetovigilance. Products with RAL 0.05% have been on the market in France since 1994. Data on files at the manufacturer cosmetovigilance services indicate that for this period of time no significant clinical side-effect has been reported, and complaints of clients have been very rare so far. For cream and emulsion they were below 1 of 10,000 sold products. For gel, probably used especially for 'red faces', they were 2.6 for 10,000 sold products, similar to other cosmetic products for sensitive or inflamed skin. All of these complaints have been investigated and revealed local irritation without any significant consequence. No allergic reaction has been either recorded or published.

- 10 Fluhr JW, Vienne MP, Lauze Ch, Dupuy P, Gehring W, Gloor M: Tolerance profile of retinol, retinaldehyde and retinoic acid under maximized and long-term clinical conditions. Dermatology 1999;199(suppl 1):57–60.
- 11 Gall Y et al: Comparaison de la tolérance cutanée de deux rétinoïdes utilisés sans occlusion par une méthode instrumentale. Centre Jean-Louis Alibert. Data on files Institut de Recherche Pierre Fabre.
- 12 Creidi P, Vienne MP, Ochonisky S, Lauze Ch, Turlier V, Lagarde JM, Dupuy P: Profilometric evaluation of photodamage after topical retinaldehyde and retinoic acid treatment. J Am Acad Dermatol 1998;39:960–965.
- 13 Sachsenberg-Studer EM, Saurat J-H: Topical safety of retinaldehyde: Long-term use. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 1998;11(suppl 2): S98.

# Author Index Vol. 199, S1, 1999

# Dermatology

Alibert, M. 37 Fluhr, J.W. 57 Pechère, J.-C. 29 Aquilina, C. 37 Fort-Lacoste, L. 33 Pechère, M. 29 Boisnic, S. 43 Gall, Y. 25, 53 Sachsenberg-Studer, E.M. Bonafé, J.L. 25 Gehring, W. 57 61 Borrel, M.-T. 53 Germanier, L. 29 Saurat, J.-H. 1, 13, 19, 29 Branchet-Gumila, M.-C. 43 Gloor, M. 57 Segard, C. 43 Briant, A. 37 Siegenthaler, G. 29 Humbert, Ph. 49 Sorg, O. 1, 13, 19 Charvéron, M. 25 Tisne-Versailles, J. 33 Creidi, P. 49 Lachgar, S. 25 Launais, B. 37 Tran, C. 19 Dahan, S. 37 Lauze, C. 53, 57 Turlier, V. 37 Denis, P. 37 Le Charpentier, Y. 43 Didierjean, L. 13, 19 Vahlquist, A. 3 Diridollou, S. 37 Verscheure, Y. 33 Navarro, R. 33 Dupuy, P. 37, 53, 57 Vienne, M.-P. 37, 53, 57

Ochando, N. 53

# Subject Index Vol. 199, S1, 1999

Acne 33 Natural retinoids 3 Normal human skin 43 Biological activities 19 Organ culture 43 Citral 19 Collagen 43 Patch-testing 57 Photoaging 37, 43, 49 Echography 37 Propionibacterium acnes Elastic fibers 43 29 Elasticity 37 Epidermis 13 Retinaldehyde 3, 13, 25, 33, Ex vivo model 43 37, 43, 49, 53, 57, 61 Retinaldehyde, 9-cis 19 Irritation 57 - topical 19 Retinoic acid 57, 61 Local tolerance 57 Retinoid 49 Retinoid irritation 19 Metabolism 13 Retinoids 13 Retinol 57, 61 Mouse tail model 19 Myeloperoxidase 19 Rhino mouse 33 Rosacea 53

Safety 61 Skin thickness 37 Stiffness 37

Tolerance 61 Topical preparation 33 Topical retinaldehyde 29 – retinoids 53

Ultraviolet light 43

Vascular endothelial growth factor 25 Vitamin A 3

KARGER

Fax +41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 1999 S. Karger AG, Basel 1018–8665/99/1997–0064\$17.50/0

Accessible online at: http://BioMedNet.com/karger